
OVERTON PUBLIC SCHOOL DISTRICT 24-0004  
OVERTON BOARD OF EDUCATION 
BOARD MEETING: JUNE 12, 2023 
 
BOARD OF EDUCATION AGENDA: 
 
7:30  A. Call meeting to order 

7:35  B. Compliance Statement 

7:40  C. With consent of the Board, receive reports from School Personnel, Patrons, or 
   Community Groups. 
 
7:45  D. Read and consider communications 

7:50  E. Approve agenda 

7:55  F. Approve minutes 

8:00  G. Act on bills for payment 

  H. Matters pending before the Board 

8:05  1. Consider approving the 2024 graduation ceremony plan, date, and time 
8:10  2. Consider approving the teaching contract for Cydney Weiss 
8:15  3. Consider approving the 2023-2024 Network Services contract with ESU 10 
8:20   4. Consider approving board policy 6018 Grades 
   
  

I. Board Reports and Discussion 

8:25  Board Reports 

a. Meetings Attended:  
b. Upcoming Meetings:  
c. Transportation Committee Report: 
d. Interlocal Committee Report: 
e. Facilities Committee Report: 
f. Curriculum Committee Report:  
g. Negotiations:  

Discussion 

  J. Administrative Reports 

8:35   1.  Principal’s Report 

8:50   2. Superintendent’s Report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Next regularly scheduled meeting is July 10, 2023 



COMMENTS: 
E. 

1. The board will need to approve the 2024 graduation ceremony which is on Saturday, May 4, 2024. 
2. Administration recommends the board approve the teaching contract for Mrs. Weiss. 
3. Superintendent recommends the board approve the 2023-2024 Network Services Contract with 

ESU 10. 
4. The administration recommends the board approve board policy 6018 Grades so as to match the 

current practice. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
F.  

1.  Board Reports and Discussion: 
 a.     Meetings Attended:      

b. Upcoming Meetings:   
c. Transportation:  
d. Interlocal:  
e. Facilities:  
f. Curriculum:  
g. Negotiations:   2024-2025 Process will Begin in September 

 
2.         Discussion Topics:      a.  Summer Projects Update 
                 b. July Board Meeting is scheduled for July 10, 2023 
     c. Student Fee Hearing in July  
     d. Review KSB Board Policy Redline Policies 
 

5. Board Policies Review the following 6000 series. 
a. 6018  Grades 
b. 6020  Multicultural Education 
c. 6021 District Criteria for Selecting Evaluators to be Used for Special Education   

Evaluation and Verification and Independent Educational Evaluations 
d. 6025  Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices 
e. 6026 Emergency Dismissal 
f. 6027 Field Trips 
g. 6028 The Extracurricular Activities Program 
h. 6029 Activity Trips 
i. 6030 Public Appearance of School Groups 
j. 6031 Emergency Exclusion 
k. 6032 Constitution Day 
l. 6033 Restraint and Seclusion of Students 
m. 6034 Concussion Awareness 
n. 6035 Athletic Contest Participation by Sixth Graders 
o. 6036 Reading Instruction and Intervention Services 
p. 6037 Selection and Review of Library Media 

  
 
G.    Administrative Reports: 

 
Principal’s Report 

 
1. Class Schedule Update 
2. Enrollment Update 
3. Handbook Updates Will be Available at the July Board Meeting 

 
Superintendent’s Report 

 
1. Option Enrollment-  



 Out –     a.  
              b.  
 In -         a.   
               b.   

Change of status –        a.  
 

2. Board Meeting for July – Date and Time -- July 10, 2023 
3. Budget Review 
4. Financial Review 
5. Projects 
6. Food Program Review 
7. Other 

 



Overton Public School 24-0004 

P.O. Box 310 401 7th Street 

Overton, NE 68863-0310 

OVERTON EAGLES 

Mark A. Aten, Superintendent 

Brian Fleischman, Principal 

Jody Skallberg, Counselor 

Brian Fleischman, Activities Director 

Phone: (308) 987-2424 • Fax: (308) 987-2349 • www.overtoneagles.org 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

BOARD OF EDUCATION 

OF OVERTON, NEBRASKA 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, that a meeting of the Board of Education 

at School District 24-0004, of Overton, Nebraska will be held at 

7:30 p.m. on Monday, June 12, 2023 at the Overton Public School, 

which meeting is open to the public. An agenda for such meeting 

kept continuously current, is available for public inspection at 

the office of the Superintendent, in the Overton Public School 

Building, 401 7th Street, Overton, Nebraska. 

Jared Walahoski 

Secretary of the Board 

Board of Education 
Heather Brennan Clayton Jeffries Gordon Lassen Joel Meier Keith Rudeen Jared Walahoski 



Overton Public Schools 
Overton Board of Education  

 
Minutes of the Regular Board of Education Meeting 
Overton Public School District 24-0004 
 
Board President or Presiding Officer: Meeting to Order and Roll Call. 
The June 12, 2023 regular monthly meeting of the Overton Public School Board of Education is 
called to order and is now in session. Roll call. 
 
    Present  Absent 

Brennan  ____  ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    

 
Excuse the absence of board member __________________________ 
 
    Yes  No 

Brennan  ____  ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____       

         Vote _____________ 
 
Compliance Statement: To be in compliance with LB 898, the Nebraska Open Meetings Law, I 
would like to inform the public that a copy of the Open Meetings Law is posted near the LMC 
check-out counter. This meeting has been advertised in the June 8, 2023 edition of the The 
Beacon Observer, and also posted on the south doors of the school, Post Office, school’s web site 
and the Security First Bank. There is packet provided for the public. 
 
Comment Section: At this time, visitors may address the board. If it is regarding an agenda item, 
please state your name and refer to the agenda item. This is the only time you will be able to 
comment on the item. If it is regarding a topic not on the agenda, and not a personnel item, we 
will hear your comments but will not add the item to the action list, we may add it to the 
discussion list next month. If it is a personnel issue, you must follow steps outlined in Board 
Policy regarding personnel concerns. The total time allotted for the public comment will not 
exceed thirty minutes and each member of the public will be allotted not more than five minutes 
to address the Board. If a group wishes to speak, please designate one spokesperson for the group. 
 
Guests Present: See Attached Document A. 
 
The following presented reports to the Board: 
 
1.  ______________________     - Topic - _______________________ 
 
2.  ______________________   - Topic - _______________________ 



3.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
 
The following communications were read or presented to the Board: 
 
1.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
2.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
3.  _______________________________   - Topic - _______________________ 
 
 
 
A Motion made by __________________ and seconded by _____________________ 
 
to approve the agenda of the June 12, 2023 meeting. 
Discussion:  
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
 
       Vote_____________ 

 
A Motion made by __________________ and seconded by _____________________ 
 
to approve the minutes of the May 8, 2023 regular board minutes as presented. 
Discussion:  
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
  
       Vote_____________ 

 
 
A motion by ___________________ and seconded by __________________ to approve the 
June bill roster in the amount of $112,260.52. 
Discussion:  
 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____    



Jeffries   ____  ____    
Lassen   ____  ____    
Meier   ____  ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____   
Walahoski  ____  ____    
 
       Vote_____________ 
 
 



 

MINUTES OF THE OVERTON PUBLIC SCHOOL BOARD OF EDUCATION 

REGULAR MEETING 

May 8, 2023 

7:30 p.m.  

 

Board President called the meeting to order. Members Present: 

 

Brennan 

Jeffries 

Lassen 

Meier 

Rudeen 

Walahoski 

 

Notification:  The May 8, 2023 meeting of the Overton Public School Board of Education was posted at 

the Overton Public School, on the Overton Public School website, Beacon Observer, Overton Post Office, 

and the Security First Bank. 

 

Open Meetings Information: To be in compliance with LB 898, The Nebraska Open Meetings Act, Board 

President informed the public that a copy of the Open Meetings Law is posted near the LMC check-out 

counter. 

 

Administration Present: Mark Aten, Superintendent, Brian Fleischman, Principal. 

 

Guests Present: Angie Ehlers, Jada Araujo, Peyton Eby, and Jordan Araujo. 

 

Public Comments: No Public Comments. 

 

Reports: FCCLA sponsor Mrs. Ehlers and FCCLA members Peyton Eby, Jordan Araujo, and Jada Araujo 

provided a report on the state FCCLA convention in Lincoln and the national qualifiers. 

 

Communications: Certificate of Appreciation from the O.E.A. 

 

Other:  None. 

 

Action Items: 

 

1. Agenda: Moved by Lassen, seconded by Brennan to approve the agenda of the May 8, 2023 

regular monthly board meeting as presented. Discussion: Discussion was limited as there were 

no changes made to the agenda.  Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Brennan, Jeffries, 

Lassen, Meier, Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 

2. Minutes: Moved by Meier, seconded by Jeffries to approve the minutes of the April 10, 2023 

regular board minutes as presented. Discussion: Discussion was limited as there were no 

corrections made to the minutes.  Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Brennan, Jeffries, 

Lassen, Meier, Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 

3. Claims: Moved by Lassen, seconded by Walahoski to pay the May General Fund bill roster 

in the amount $71,253.29. Discussion: Superintendent provided additional information on 

several of the bills. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Brennan, Jeffries, Lassen, Meier, 

Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 

4. Moved by Rudeen, seconded by Jeffries to approve C&S Truck and Salvage and Shively 

Repair to complete Rule 92 Mechanics Inspections. Discussion: Discussion was limited as the 



board is pleased with both businesses. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Brennan, Jeffries, 

Lassen, Meier, Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 

5. Moved by Lassen, seconded by Walahoski to approve board policy 6014 School Attendance 

on Days of Scheduled Activities. Discussion: Superintendent provided history to the board 

regarding board policy 6014. The policy will now reflect current practice. Motion carried 6-0. 

Voting Yes (6): Brennan, Jeffries, Lassen, Meier, Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). 

Absent (0). 

 

6. Moved by Brennan, seconded by Jeffries to approve board policy 6015 Summer School. 

Discussion: Principal provided explanation of the summer school program. The policy will 

now reflect the current practice. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes (6): Brennan, Jeffries, 

Lassen, Meier, Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent (0). 

 

7. Moved by Brennan, seconded by Walahoski to adjourn the meeting at 8:58 p.m. Discussion: 

Limited discussion as the board agreed it was time to adjourn. Motion carried 6-0. Voting Yes 

(6): Brennan, Jeffries, Lassen, Meier, Rudeen, and Walahoski. Voting No: (0). Absent 

(0).Walahoski. 

 

 

Board Reports and Discussion Topics: 

 

1. Board Reports:  

a. Transportation: Plans to purchase new vehicles.    

    

2. Discussion Topics: 

a. June Board Meeting scheduled for Monday, June 12, 2023 beginning at 7:30 p.m. 

in the LMC. 

b. NASB Calendar of Events 

c. Staffing Discussion 

d. Board reviewed the following 6000 board policies: 

  6001 – School Organization 

  6002 – School Calendar 

  6003 – Instructional Program 

  6004 – Curriculum Development 

  6005 – Academic Credits and Graduation 

  6006 – Commencement Ceremony 

  6007 – Senior Recognition 

  6008 – Class Rank 

  6009 – Grade Placement and Academic Credits of Transfer Students 

  6010 – Special Education 

  6011 – Fire Instruction and Prevention 

  6012 – Flag Display and Patriotic Observances 

  6013 – Teaching Controversial Issues 

  6014 – School Attendance on Days of Scheduled Activities 

  6015 – Summer School 

  6016 – Homebound and Off-Campus Instruction 

  6017 - Homework 
 

Administrative Reports: 

 

Principal’s Report: 

a. Calendar Update 

b. Enrollment Update 

c. Facilities Report 



 

Superintendent’s Report: 

1. Enrollment Option Report 

 

2. Option Enrollment -   

   Out: 

    a.      

           

In      

a.  

      

                                           Change of Status a.    

  

3. Financial and Budget Update 

4. Staffing Update 

5. 2022-2023 School Hours Report 

6. Graduation Report 

7. ALICAP Risk Inspection Report 

8. Requisitions Process and Update 



 Overton Public School District

 Bill Roster

Month: June

Status: Official

6/12/2023 Total: 112,260.52$                                                                                            

Vendor Total Amount New Code Description

Airgas 1,095.34$                                                             Reg. Instruct. Ind. Tech. Supplies

ACCO Brands USA 27.58$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. K-4 Supplies

Amazon Business 32.66$                                                                  Administrative Office Supplies

Amazon Business 1,555.49$                                                             Reg. Instruct. Technology Supplies

Amazon Business 21.83$                                                                  SPED Supplies - Supplies

Amazon Business 105.90$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Math Supplies

Amazon Business 406.45$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Elementary  Supplies

Amazon Business 658.28$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Voc. Bus. Supplies

Amazon Business 192.15$                                                                Administrative Office Supplies

Amazon Business 399.02$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Elementary  Supplies

Amazon Business 1,834.53$                                                             Reg. Instruct. - Science Supplies

Amazon Business 658.91$                                                                SPED Supplies - Elementary - Requisitions

Amazon Business 111.40$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Elementary  Supplies

Amazon Business 177.53$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Prek Supplies

Amazon Business 2,955.95$                                                             Technology - ESSER II Technology

Amazon Business 125.19$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Vocal Music Supplies

Apple Inc 5,593.00$                                                             Technology Purchases - Computers

ATC Communications 156.02$                                                                Fiscal Services - Phone Service

Band Shoppe 112.40$                                                                Reg. Instruction - Instrumental Music - Supplies

Black Hills Energy 323.13$                                                                Operations of Buildings - Natural Gas 

Blick Art Materials 34.94$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Art Supplies

Bowie Fertilizer 1,208.46$                                                             Care & Upkeep of Grounds - Fertilizer

Carson Dellosa Education 52.89$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Elementary Supplies

Carson Dellosa Education 74.38$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Elementary Supplies

Cengage Learning 2,954.96$                                                             Reg. Instruct. Voc. Bus. Supplies

Lumen/Century Link 57.76$                                                                  Operation of Buildings Communications

Dan's Sanitation 316.25$                                                                Operation of Buildings Cleaning Services - Trash Removal

DAS State ACCTG - Central Finance 238.13$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Network Services

Dawson Public Power District - Prek 96.10$                                                                  Operation of Preschool - Electricity

Dawson Public Power District - School 3,593.76$                                                             Operation of Buildings Electricity

Dawson Public Power District - Trans. 120.69$                                                                Vehicle Servicing and Maintenance - Reg. Ed.- Bus Barn Energy

Demco 537.47$                                                                Regular Instruct. - LMC Supplies

Eagan Supply Co. 1,624.38$                                                             Operation of Buildings Supplies

Eakes Office Solutions 471.89$                                                                Reg. Instruction - Copier Suuplies

Ecolab 278.35$                                                                Operation of Buildings Pest Control

Engineered Controls 210.00$                                                                Building Repairs and Maintenance - Control Repairs

ESU 10 778.75$                                                                Technology Services 

ESU 10 20.00$                                                                  Principal Workshop

ESU 10 - SPED Services 769.92$                                                                SPED Speech Path. & Audiology Ages Birth-2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 6,540.49$                                                             SPED Speech Path. & Audiology - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 1,191.97$                                                             SPED Speech Path. & Audiology - Age 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 408.63$                                                                SPED P.T. Services - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 154.41$                                                                SPED Supervision - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 154.42$                                                                SPED Supervision - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 408.63$                                                                SPED P.T. Services - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 708.91$                                                                SPED O.T. Services - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 708.91$                                                                SPED O.T. Services - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 177.23$                                                                SPED O.T. Services - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 177.23$                                                                SPED O.T. Services - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 102.16$                                                                SPED P.T. Services - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 102.16$                                                                SPED P.T. Services - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 819.78$                                                                SPED Supervision - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 136.01$                                                                SPED Supervision - Vocational Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 984.43$                                                                SPED Psychological Services - Secondary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 984.43$                                                                SPED Psychological Services - Elementary

ESU 10 - SPED Services 246.11$                                                                SPED Psychological Services - Ages 3-4

ESU 10 - SPED Services 246.10$                                                                SPED Psychological Services - Birth - 2

ESU 10 - SPED Services 40.97$                                                                  SPED Speech Path. & Audiology - Secondary



ESU 10 - SPED Services 819.78$                                                                SPED Supervision - Elementary

ESU Coordinating Council 155.00$                                                                LMC Web Based Software

Flinn Scientific 624.86$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Science Supplies

Follett 1,115.87$                                                             LMC Web Based Software

Foster Lumber, LLC 222.96$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Custodial Supplies

Foster Lumber, LLC 48.65$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Vo. Ag. Supplies

Foster Lumber, LLC 10.94$                                                                  Reg. Instruction - Industrial Tech. Supplies

Frontline Technologies 4,002.25$                                                             Principal Web Based Software - AESOP Substitute System

Gallopade International 19.99$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Elementary Supplies - Grade 4

Generation Genius 1,436.00$                                                             Reg. Instruct. - K-4 Science Curriculum

Mystery Science 895.00$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - K-4 Science Curriculum
Great Plains Communication 101.95$                                                                Internet Connection - Family Center
HireRight Solutions 38.55$                                                                  Vehicle Servicing and Maintenance - Reg. Ed.- DOT Fees
Hobby Lobby 58.49$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Art Supplies
Hobby Lobby 22.63$                                                                  Regular Instruction - Supplies
Houghton-Mifflin Harcourt 6,946.99$                                                             Reg. Instruct. -- Math Resources
Houghton-Mifflin Harcourt 2,016.00$                                                             Reg. Instruct. -- Voc. Business Resources
IXL Learning 4,250.00$                                                             Reg. Instruct. Math and ELA Licenses
IXL Learning 525.00$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Foreign Langauge Web Base Software
Jones Plumbing & Heating 24.00$                                                                  Building Repairs and Maintenance - Plumbing Supplies
Jostens 25.79$                                                                  Executive Administration Supplies
JW Pepper 688.20$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Instrumental Music Supplies
KSB School Law 1,250.00$                                                             District Legal Services - Legal Servcies
Lakeshore Learning Materials 57.49$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. Kindergarten Supplies
Lakeview Books 255.88$                                                                LMC Books & Periodicals
Loup Valley Lighting, Inc 1,315.60$                                                             Operation of Buildings Supplies - Lighting Supplies
Mead Lumber Co. 235.96$                                                                Operation of Buildings Supplies 
Menards 3,215.02$                                                             Regular Instruction - Custodial Supplies
Midamerica Books 263.60$                                                                LMC Books & Periodicals
Midwest Technology Products 138.20$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Custodial Supplies 
NCS Pearson 1,225.00$                                                             SPED Supplies - AIMS Web
NCSA 895.00$                                                                Principal Association Dues
Nebraska Central Equipment Co 264.56$                                                                Vehicle Servicing and Maintenance - Mirror for Bus 2021
NewzBrain Education 299.00$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Social Science Supplies
O'Hanlan Seed, Inc 750.00$                                                                Grounds Expenses - Grass Seed
Oncourse Systems for Education 1,373.15$                                                             Principal Supplies - Network Hosting Fees
OnToCollege with John Baylor 1,980.00$                                                             Reg. Instruct. Supplies - John Baylor Test Prep
Oriental Trading 49.05$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. Fourth Grade Supplies
Plum Creek Market Place 343.46$                                                                Reg. Instruction - Family Consumer Science Supplies
Plum Creek Market Place 13.68$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. Vo Ag. Supplies
PowerSchool Group LLC 5,718.44$                                                             Administrative Technology Services - PowerSchool Fees
Really Good Stuff 92.56$                                                                  SPED Supplies - Elementary
Really Good Stuff 36.89$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. Kindergarten Supplies
Realy Good Stuff 307.24$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Elementary Supplies - Grade 1
Renaissance eduCLIMBER 3,101.28$                                                             Reg. Instrct. - Products and Services
Renaissance Learning 3,079.50$                                                             LMC Web Based Software - Products and Services
Rocherster 100 Inc 150.80$                                                                Reg. Instruct. K-4 Supplies
S&S Worldwide 144.75$                                                                Reg. Instruct.- K-4 Supplies
School Health 318.12$                                                                Reg. Instruction - K-4 Supplies
School Specialty 111.69$                                                                Reg. Instruct. First Grade Supplies
Sightreadingfactory 35.00$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. - Vocal Music Supplies
Southeastern Performance Apparel 1,203.75$                                                             Reg. Instruction - Vocal Music Supplies
Staples 3,402.90$                                                             Reg. Instruct. - Paper
Staples 459.33$                                                                Reg. Instruct. - Principal Office Supplies
Supreme School Supply 132.94$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Principal Supplies
Teacher Created Resources 72.85$                                                                  SPED Supplies
Teambuildr 1,200.00$                                                             Reg. Instruct. P.E. Supplies - Weight Lifting Program
The Library Store 313.17$                                                                Library Media - LMC Books
TK Elevator Corporation 384.24$                                                                Building Repairs and Maintenance Services - Elevator Maint.
Trend Enterprises 59.92$                                                                  Reg. Instruct. Grade K Supplies
US Foods - The Thompson Co. 1,578.60$                                                             Reg. Instruction - Custodial Supplies
Village of Overton 335.00$                                                                Operation of Buildings - Utility Services
Village of Overton -  Prek 3 48.00$                                                                  Early Childhood Utility Services
Village Uniform 417.01$                                                                Operation of Building - Uniform Cleaning
West Music 49.57$                                                                  Regu. Instruct. - Vocal Music Supplies
Zaner-Bloser Educational Publishers 386.38$                                                                Reg. Instruct. First Grade Supplies
Zaner-Bloser Educational Publishers 278.19$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Second Grade Resources
Zaner-Bloser Educational Publishers 463.65$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Grade K Resources
Zaner-Bloser Educational Publishers 386.38$                                                                Reg. Instruct. Third Grade Resources
Zaner-Bloser Educational Publishers 188.98$                                                                Reg. Instruct. PreK Supplies
Clearing Account 5,555.02$                                                             Supplies



1 
 

 
Matters Pending Before the Board: 

 
 
A motion by __________________________ and seconded by __________________________ 
 

 
1. Action Item: Consider approving the 2024 graduation ceremony, date, and time. 
 
Motion: To approve the 2024 graduation ceremony, date, and time. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____      ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____      ____    
Lassen   ____  ____      ____    
Meier   ____  ____      ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____      ____     
Walahoski  ____  ____      ____    
  
 
       Vote_____________ 
 

A motion by __________________________ and seconded by __________________________ 
 

 
2. Action Item: Consider approving the teaching contract for Cydney Weiss. 
 
Motion: To approve the teaching contract for Cydney Weiss. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____      ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____      ____    
Lassen   ____  ____      ____    
Meier   ____  ____      ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____      ____     
Walahoski  ____  ____      ____    
  
 
       Vote_____________ 

 
A motion by __________________________ and seconded by __________________________ 
 

 
3. Action Item: Consider approving the 2023-2024 Network Services contract with ESU 10. 
 
Motion: To approve the 2023-2024 Network Services contract with ESU 10. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 



2 
 

Brennan  ____  ____      ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____      ____    
Lassen   ____  ____      ____    
Meier   ____  ____      ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____      ____     
Walahoski  ____  ____      ____    
  
 
       Vote_____________ 
 

A motion by __________________________ and seconded by __________________________ 
 

 
4. Action Item: Consider approving board policy 6018 Grades. 
 
Motion: To approve board policy 6018 Grades. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____      ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____      ____    
Lassen   ____  ____      ____    
Meier   ____  ____      ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____      ____     
Walahoski  ____  ____      ____    
  
 
       Vote_____________ 
 

 
A motion by __________________________ and seconded by __________________________ 
 
 
5. Action Item: Consider adjourning the meeting. 
 
 
Motion: To adjourn the meeting at ____________p.m. 
Discussion: 
 
Votes:    YES  NO    ABSENT 

Brennan  ____  ____      ____    
Jeffries   ____  ____      ____    
Lassen   ____  ____      ____    
Meier   ____  ____      ____    
Rudeen   ____  ____      ____     
Walahoski  ____  ____      ____    
  
       Vote____________ 



6018 
Grades 

 
The school will report student grades and/or academic progress to 
parents at least four times per year.  Parents will have access to 
student grades, or academic progress through the student information 
system. The superintendent or his/her designee shall develop and 
implement student grading guidelines to be used by teachers.  The 
objective of grading guidelines shall be to quantify and report the 
academic achievement of each student.  
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 
 
 



 

 

6020 
Multicultural Education 

 
In every curriculum area and at all grades, the school district will provide 
programs which foster and develop an appreciation and understanding of the 
racial, ethnic, and cultural heritage of all students.  These programs will allow 
students to explore the history and contributions made by various ethnic 
groups and will emphasize human relations, sensitivity toward all races, and 
the rich diversity of the population of the United States.  The district’s 
multicultural education curriculum will be consistent with the district’s 
responsibility under state law to ensure that youth are given the opportunity 
to become competent, responsible, patriotic, and civil citizens.  The district’s 
civics curriculum and multicultural curriculum will work together to make 
students fully aware of the liberties, opportunities, and advantages we possess 
and the sacrifices and struggles through whose efforts these benefits were 
gained. 
 
Philosophy, Mission, and Program Goals.  The school district respects and 
appreciates cultural diversity and seeks to promote the understanding of 
unique cultural and ethnic heritage.  The district will promote the development 
of a culturally responsible and responsive curriculum.  The school district’s 
program will explore the attitudes, skills, and knowledge necessary to function 
in various cultures. 
 
District Guides, Frameworks, or Standards.  Appropriate district staff 
and/or committee(s) will review the school district curriculum guides, 
frameworks, or standards to determine that they appropriately incorporate 
multicultural education. 
 
Selecting Appropriate Instructional Materials.  Appropriate school 
district staff and/or committee(s) will review instructional materials and make 
a recommendation regarding those that are appropriate for the school 
district’s multicultural education program.   
 
Providing Staff Development.  Appropriate school district staff and/or 
committee(s) will review the staff development provided for administrators, 
teachers, and support staff to determine that it includes appropriate 
multicultural education that is consistent with school district and program 
goals.   
 
Periodic Assessment.  Appropriate school district staff and/or committee(s) 
will periodically review the school district’s multicultural education program by 



 

 

reviewing the criteria in this policy to assess whether the school district is 
adequately and appropriately incorporating multicultural education in all 
curriculum areas in all grades. 
 
Annual Status Report.  The superintendent will provide the board with a 
report on the status of the school district’s multicultural education program 
annually.  
      
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 



6021 
District Criteria for Selecting Evaluators to be Used for Special 

Education Evaluation and Verification and Independent Educational 
Evaluations 

  
 The following criteria shall be used for selecting evaluators according to 
92 Nebraska Administrative Code 51-006.07B: 
 
1. Those in-state service agencies that have approved rates for the current 

year established by the Nebraska Department of Education.  A list of 
service agencies with approved rates, including state agencies, 
individual providers, and in-state providers may be found at 
https://www.education.ne.gov/sped/service-agencies/. 

 
2. Those Nebraska providers located within 200 miles of the building of the 

district where the child attends when driving by ordinary public 
roadways. 
 

3. Evaluations must consider the educational, health, or other student 
records of the student provided by the district.  The parents, guardians, 
or age-appropriate student must provide any required consent to the 
disclosure of these records unless disclosure is already authorized by 
state and federal law. 

 
4. Evaluations must be provided to the district, including all educational, 

health, student, or other records created as part of or relied upon to 
complete the evaluation.  The parents, guardians, or age-appropriate 
student must provide any required consent to the disclosure of these 
records unless disclosure is already authorized by state and federal law. 
 

5. Evaluations must be conducted by a provider that is authorized, 
available, and willing to discuss, confer, or otherwise cooperate with the 
district regarding the evaluation, its results, or any other information 
related to the evaluation.  Such cooperation may include reasonable 
participation in, or the submission of additional reports or information 
to, an IEP, MDT, or SAT team.  Evaluators must make available to the 
district any documents or records created in relation to the evaluation, 
including evaluation and assessment protocols and responses, when the 
district determines in its sole discretion that such documentation is 
necessary in order to permit meaningful parental participation. The 
parents, guardians, or age-appropriate student must provide any 
required consent to the disclosure of these records or information unless 
disclosure is already authorized by state and federal law. 
 



6. Evaluations must be sufficiently comprehensive for the evaluator to 
submit to the district a report that specifically details whether the 
student should be considered eligible for special education and related 
services, the nature of special education and related services 
recommended to accommodate the student’s suspected disability, and 
the particular facts or findings underlying the evaluator’s conclusions.  
This report must be submitted to the district within 45 days after the 
conclusion of the evaluation. 

 
7. Evaluations must meet the then-current state standards for reliability, 

research-based processes, and educational or professional best 
practices. 
 

8. Reimbursement to any evaluator chosen in conformance with this policy 
shall not exceed the cost that would be charged by the school district’s 
contracted providers for the same or substantially similar evaluation.     

 
 All special education evaluations, including those independently 
obtained at the district’s expense, must be obtained in a manner consistent 
with the criteria set forth above, unless state or federal law requires waiver of 
one or more criteria in order to accommodate unique circumstances. 
 

 
 

Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 

 
  



6025 
Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices  

 
Students may use cellular phones or other electronic devices while at school, 
so long as they do so safely, responsibly and respectfully and comply with all 
other school rules while using these devices.   
 
By bringing their cell phones and other electronic communication devices to 
school, students consent to the search of said devices by school staff when 
permitted by law. 
 
Students may not have cell phones or electronic devices on while they are in 
locker rooms, restrooms, or any other area in which others may have a 
reasonable expectation of privacy.   
 
The taking, disseminating, transferring, or sharing of obscene, pornographic, 
lewd, or otherwise illegal images or photographs, whether by electronic data 
transfer or otherwise (including things like texting, sexting, e-mailing, etc.) 
may constitute a crime under state and/or federal law.  Any person engaged 
in these activities while on school grounds, in a school vehicle or at a school 
activity will be subject to the disciplinary procedures of the student code of 
conduct.   
While on school property, at a school activity, or in a school vehicle, 
students may not use their cell phones or electronic devices to bully, harass, 
or intimidate any other person as governed by the student code of conduct.   
 
Students shall be personally and solely responsible for the security of their 
electronic devices.  The district is not responsible for theft, loss or damage of 
any electronic device, including or any calls or downloads.   
 
Students who violate this policy may have their cell phones or electronic 
devices confiscated immediately.  The administration will return confiscated 
devices to the parent or guardian of the offending student, after meeting 
with the parent or guardian to discuss the rule violation.  Students who 
violate this policy may, at the discretion of the school’s administration, be 
subject to additional discipline, up to and including suspension or expulsion.  
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: _______________________ 



6026 
Emergency Dismissal   

 
The superintendent or his/her designee is responsible for determining when 
school and/or extracurricular activities should be cancelled or dismissed due 
to severe weather or other emergency conditions.  Coaches and/or sponsors 
may not conduct practices on days that school is cancelled without first 
securing the superintendent’s specific permission. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 
 
 



6027 
Field Trips 

 
The board encourages instructional staff to incorporate field trips into 
the curriculum.  These trips should normally be conducted during the 
school day. 
 
1. General Conditions 
 
All trips must be pre-approved by the teacher’s building principal.  
Out-of-state and overnight trips require pre-approval by the board.  
The superintendent and principals will develop guidelines for approval 
of trips and communicate those guidelines to teaching staff. 
 
2. Parental Permission 
 
Each student must submit a signed parental permission slip prior to 
being allowed to attend a field trip.  A new permission slip must be 
submitted for each trip. Caregivers, as that term is defined in the 
Nebraska Strengthening Families Act, shall be permitted to sign 
parental permission slips. 
 
3. Supervision 
 
Sponsoring teachers must ensure that students are adequately 
supervised and chaperoned by a responsible adult at all times during 
field trips.  Whether paid staff or volunteers, chaperones are prohibited 
from drinking alcoholic beverages of any kind at any time during any 
field trip.  All chaperones must be at least 21 years of age.  Any 
chaperone who drives students must possess a valid driver’s license.  
Chaperones who drive students in private vehicles must possess 
adequate insurance coverage. 
 
4. Student Conduct 
 
Students must comply with the student code of conduct, any 
applicable extracurricular conduct codes, and all directives by trip 
chaperones. 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



Page 1 of 3  

6028 
The Extracurricular Activities Program 

 
1. General Purpose 

 
a. The extracurricular program includes noncurricular activities 

which are sponsored by the school district.  These actives include 
sports, speech, plays, Future Farmers of America, Future 
Business Leaders of America, music performance groups and 
other activities which are sponsored by the school.   

 
b. Extracurricular activities are an important part of the total school 

experience, but are secondary to the academic program and 
must be kept in that perspective. 

 
c. Extracurricular activities do not include: 

 
i. co-curricular activities such as band and choir, in which 

students must participate as part of the requirements for 
enrollment in and receiving a grade for a particular course. 

 
ii. student-initiated, non-curriculum related student groups 

which are permitted to hold meetings and events on school 
premises.  These groups are not school-sponsored and are 
not governed by this policy or other policies and rules 
governing extracurricular groups.   

 
2. Governance 

 
a. All extracurricular activities shall be under the exclusive 

governance and control of the school district.  This control 
includes, but is not be limited to, the formation, naming, 
structure, operation, financing, and discontinuance of all 
extracurricular activities.  Extracurricular activities shall not have 
any separate or individual existence, status, rights, or authority. 

 
b. Students and sponsors will be governed by all board’s policies 

and administrative rules including the policy on field trips when 
traveling for extracurricular activities. 

 
3. Student Eligibility 
 

a. Students are encouraged to participate in extracurricular 



Page 2 of 3  

activities.  Participation shall be open to and limited to all 
students who are currently enrolled in the school district on a 
voluntary basis.   

 
b. Extracurricular activities may establish academic or course 

enrollment qualifications for participation if such qualifications 
are necessarily related to the purposes of the activity. 

 
c. Standards for scholastic eligibility for students wishing to 

participate in extracurricular activities shall be set by the 
administration and shall be consistent with at least the minimum 
standards provided by the NSAA. 

 
d. All students in grades 7-12 who participate in athletics must 

have a physical examination by a qualified health care provider 
at the student’s expense. 

 
e. Students who wish to participate in extracurricular activities 

must abide by the student code of conduct, the extracurricular 
code of conduct and any additional rules set by the activity 
sponsor.  

 
f. Students are not eligible to participate in any extracurricular 

activity until they and their parents/guardians have signed the 
student handbook and extracurricular handbook receipt and 
acknowledgement.   

 
4. Sponsors 
 

a. Each extracurricular activity must have a sponsor who is a 
member of the district’s certificated staff or a selected 
community member who is qualified by virtue of education, 
training, experience, or special interest to serve as the sponsor. 

 
b. The superintendent or his/her designee will assign activity 

sponsors.  Payment to sponsors will be negotiated with the 
sponsor based on the terms of any applicable collective 
bargaining agreement, the sponsor’s training and experience and 
any other lawful criteria.  Sponsors serve in their capacity as a 
sponsor at the will of the superintendent, who is specifically 
empowered to remove an activity sponsor in the 
superintendent’s sole discretion.     

 



Page 3 of 3  

c. Sponsors shall be required to: develop materials, activities, and 
a budget; promote membership and participation; communicate 
with the principal or designee, staff, students, and parents; 
schedule meeting dates and locations; plan meaningful 
experiences; supervise students during activities; evaluate and 
make recommendations; and submit a year-end report to the 
principal or designee.  

 
5. Fundraising Activities 
 

All fundraising activities shall require authorization by a member of the 
school district administration and shall be subject to all other school 
policies.  All money raised by these activities shall be governed by 
Policy 3005. 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  

 



6029 
Activity Trips 

 
Students must travel to and from all activities in the transportation provided 
by the school.  A student may travel home from an activity with his/her 
parent or guardian if the activity sponsor has personally released the student 
to the parents’ custody.  Students who misbehave while on an activity trip 
may be subject to disciplinary consequences set forth in the board’s student 
discipline policy. In addition to any other disciplinary consequences imposed, 
students who misbehave while on school-sponsored trips may be prohibited 
from attending future trips. 
 
Students must comply with the board’s policies on field trips as well as the 
student code of conduct, the extracurricular code, and all directives of a 
sponsor or chaperone while on activity trip. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 
 



6030 
Public Appearances of School Groups 

  
The reputation of the school district is enhanced when student groups 
appear at public non-school functions.  Therefore, the board encourages 
student groups to appear at public events, subject to the following 
requirements: 
 
1. Activity sponsors must secure the permission of their building principal 

before booking a student group at a public event. 
 
2. Sponsors are discouraged from booking student groups to perform on 

more than one school night (Sunday-Thursday) per week. 
 
3. Student groups may not perform at a political rally without permission 

from the superintendent and prior notice to parents. 
 
4. The policies and rules that apply to field trips also apply to student 

group appearances in public. 
 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 

 
  



 

Page 1 of 3  

 6031 
 Emergency Exclusion  
 
Grounds for Emergency Exclusion 
 
Any student may be excluded from school in the following circumstances 
subject to the procedural provisions governing short term suspension found 
elsewhere in these policies or state law: 
 
(a) If the student has a dangerous communicable disease transmissible 
through normal school contacts and poses an imminent threat to the health 
or safety of the school community; or 
 
(b) If the student's conduct presents a clear threat to the physical safety of 
himself, herself, or others, or is so extremely disruptive as to make 
temporary removal necessary to preserve the rights of other students to 
pursue an education. 
 
Any emergency exclusion shall be based upon a clear factual situation 
warranting it and shall last no longer than is necessary to avoid the dangers 
that prompted the exclusion.   
 
Extension of Exclusion 
 
In the event it is appropriate to consider the extension of an emergency 
exclusion (exclusion) of a student for more than five school days.  Pursuant 
to the Student Discipline Act, the principal has the authority to exclude a 
student from school for five school days on an emergency basis.  If the 
superintendent or superintendent’s designee determines that it is 
appropriate to consider the extension of an exclusion beyond five days, such 
consideration shall be considered according to the procedures set forth 
below. 
 
 Notification of Student’s Parent(s) or Guardian(s).  The 
superintendent or the superintendent’s designee shall notify the student’s 
parent(s) or guardian(s) that the principal has proposed the extension of the 
exclusion.  If the initial notice is oral, the superintendent shall confirm it in 
writing. 
 
 Opportunity to Request a Hearing.  The student’s parent(s) or 
guardian(s) may submit an oral request for a hearing on the proposed 



 

Page 2 of 3  

extension of the exclusion within two school days of receiving the initial 
notice.  If the initial request for a hearing is oral, they shall confirm the 
request in writing. 
 
 Failure to Request a Hearing.  If the parent(s) or guardian(s) do 
not request a hearing within two school days of receiving oral or written 
notice, the proposed extension of the exclusion shall automatically go into 
effect. 
 
 Appointment and Qualifications of a Hearing Examiner.  If the 
parent(s) or guardian(s) request a hearing, the superintendent shall appoint 
a hearing examiner upon receiving a request for a hearing.  The hearing 
examiner may be any person who did not bring charges against the student, 
is not to be a witness at the hearing, and has no involvement in the charge. 
 
 Hearing Examiner’s Notice to Parent(s) or Guardian(s).  The 
hearing examiner shall promptly give written notice of the time, date and 
place of the hearing.  The hearing will be held within five school days after 
the school district receives the initial oral or written request; provided, the 
hearing may be held more than five school days after receipt of the request 
upon a showing of good cause.  No hearing will be held on less than two (2) 
school days’ notice unless otherwise agreed to by the student's parent(s) or 
guardian(s) and school officials. 
 
 
 Continued Exclusion.  If a hearing is requested, the principal may 
determine in his or her sole discretion that the student shall remain excluded 
from school until the hearing officer makes a recommendation to the 
superintendent. 
 
 Examination of Student’s Records and Affidavits.  Prior to the 
hearing, the student and his/her parent(s) or guardian(s) shall have the 
right to examine and have school officials explain the student's records and 
any affidavits that will be used by school officials at the hearing. 
 
 Attendance at Hearing.  The hearing may be attended by the 
hearing examiner, the principal (or designee), the student, and the student's 
parents or guardian(s).  The student may be represented at this hearing by 
a representative of the family’s choice. 
 
 Student’s Witness(es).  The student and his/her parent(s) or 



 

Page 3 of 3  

guardian(s) may ask any person with knowledge of the events leading up to 
the sanction or with general knowledge of the student's character to testify 
on behalf of the student.  If school personnel or other students are 
requested to testify by the student’s parent(s) or guardian(s), the hearing 
officer shall endeavor to help obtain the presence of such witnesses at the 
hearing. 
 
 Right to Know Issues and Nature of Testimony.  The student and 
his/her parent(s) or guardian(s) have the right to request in advance of the 
hearing the issues which the administration will propose in support of the 
extension, and the general nature of  the testimony of any administrative or 
expert witnesses. 
 
 Presence of Student and Witnesses at the Hearing.  The student 
and witnesses may be excluded at the discretion of the hearing examiner in 
accordance with state statutes.  The student may speak in his/her own 
defense and may be questioned on such testimony, but may choose not to 
testify. 
 
 Sworn or Affirmed Testimony.  The principal or his or her designee 
shall present evidence supporting the recommended extension of the 
exclusion.  Witnesses will give testimony under oath of affirmation, and may 
be questioned. 
 
 Hearing Examiner’s Report and Recommendations.  The hearing 
examiner shall prepare a report of his or her findings and recommendations, 
and forward the report to the superintendent. 
 
 Superintendent’s Decision.  The superintendent will review the 
hearing examiner's report and determine whether to extend the exclusion.  
He or she shall have the decision delivered or sent by registered or certified 
mail to the student, student's parent(s), or guardian(s).  If the 
superintendent decides to extend the exclusion, the extension will take 
effect immediately. 
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



6032 
Constitution Day Education 

 
Each year on September 17, designated as Constitution Day, the school 
district will conduct a program designed to highlight the historic and 
continuing importance of the United States Constitution.  When September 
17 falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or holiday, the district will provide this 
program during the preceding or following week. 
 
The program shall be implemented within the guidelines of the U.S. 
Department of Education and in accordance with any other applicable laws 
and/or regulations. 
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 



6033 
Restraint and Seclusion of Students 

 
Restraint and seclusion, as defined below, are behavioral interventions.  The 
use of such behavioral interventions must be in accordance with this policy.  
The following interventions do not constitute seclusion and restraint, and are 
not governed by this policy: voice control, limited to loud, firm commands; 
time-limited ignoring of specific behaviors; brief physical prompts to 
interrupt or prevent a specific behavior; physical interventions which a 
student’s health care provider has indicated are medically necessary for the 
treatment or protection of the individual; or other similar interventions.   
 
Definitions 
 
Physical restraint refers to a personal restriction that immobilizes or reduces 
the ability of a student to move his or her torso, arms, legs, or head freely.  
The term physical restraint does not include a physical escort.  Physical 
escort means a temporary touching or holding of the hand, wrist, arm, 
shoulder or back for the purpose of inducing a student who is acting out to 
walk to a safe location. Physical restraint does not include incidental 
touching that comes along with movement inside a classroom, lunch line, or 
other areas of the school building where maintaining order is required. 
 
Mechanical restraint refers to the use of any device or equipment to restrict 
a student’s freedom of movement.  The term does not include devices 
implemented by trained school personnel, or utilized by a student that have 
been prescribed by an appropriate medical or related services professional 
and are used for the specific and approved purposes for which such devices 
were designed, such as: 
 

• Adaptive devices or mechanical supports used to achieve proper body 
position, balance, or alignment to allow greater freedom of mobility 
than would be possible without the use of such devices or mechanical 
supports; 

• Vehicle safety restraints when used as intended during the transport of 
a student in a moving vehicle; 

• Restraints for medical immobilization; or 
• Orthopedically prescribed devices that permit a student to participate 

in activities without risk of harm. 
 
Chemical restraint refers to the administration of medication for the purpose 
of restraint, but does not include the administration of medication in 
accordance with the directions and prescription of a physician with the 
consent of the student’s parent or guardian. 



 
Seclusion refers to the involuntary confinement of a student alone in a room 
or area from which the student is physically prevented from leaving.  It does 
not include a timeout, which is a behavior management technique that is 
part of an approved program, involves the monitored separation of the 
student in a non-locked setting, and is implemented for the purpose of 
calming. 
 
Use of Restraint and Seclusion 
 
The use of chemical restraint is strictly prohibited.  The use of any seclusion 
or restraint intervention for punitive or disciplinary purposes is strictly 
prohibited.  Similarly, the use of any technique that constitutes corporal 
punishment, which is the infliction of bodily pain as a penalty for 
disapproved behavior, is strictly prohibited.  Seclusion and/or restraint shall 
not be used for the convenience of staff or as a substitute for an educational 
program.  When restraint or seclusion is used to respond to the danger of 
harm posed by a student’s behavior, the intervention shall be discontinued 
as soon as the danger of harm has dissipated.  
 
The use of physical restraint, mechanical restraint, and seclusion is 
permitted in a manner consistent with this policy: 
 

• as reasonably necessary where the student’s behavior risks causing 
physical harm to self, others, and property;  

• in accordance with the student’s IEP, Section 504, or behavior 
intervention plan; or 

• as otherwise prescribed, recommended, or suggested by a medical or 
related services provider.   

 
 
Procedures  
 
No technique shall restrict a student’s breathing, deprive a student of basic 
needs, or unnecessarily expose a student to physical pain or discomfort. 
 
Seclusion shall not be used for students who are severely self-injurious or 
suicidal.  When seclusion is utilized as permitted by this policy, the following 
procedures shall be followed: 
 

• The student shall be monitored by an adult in close proximity who is 
able to regularly observe the student; 

• The confining space shall be approved for such use, unless the use of 
such a space is impossible or impracticable under the circumstances; 



• The confining space shall be appropriately lighted, ventilated, and 
heated or cooled; and 

• The confining space shall be free from objects that unreasonably 
expose the student or others to harm. 

 
If a pattern of behavior emerges that requires or is anticipated to require the 
use of restraint and/or seclusion for the student, the appropriate educators 
and/or team members shall review what assessments, evaluations, 
supports, services, programs, or placements are appropriate in light of the 
student’s needs and circumstances.  
 
Recording and Reporting 
 
Each incident of restraint or seclusion must be recorded and reported as 
required by the building administrators. 
 
Training 
 
All staff members shall be provided notice of this policy and will be trained 
on its contents.  The Superintendent or his or her designee will identify 
school staff members likely to implement the restraint or seclusion 
interventions authorized by this policy and arrange for those individuals to 
receive appropriate training on the appropriate implementation of such 
interventions and the use of other behavioral supports and interventions. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 



6034 
Concussion Awareness  

 
The Nebraska Unicameral has found that concussions are one of the “most 
commonly reported injuries in children and adolescents who participate in 
sports and recreational activities and that the risk of catastrophic injury or 
death is significant when a concussion or brain injury is not properly 
evaluated and managed.”  
 
The School District will:  
 

a. Require all coaches and trainers to complete one of the following on-
line courses on how to recognize the symptoms of a concussion or 
brain injury and how to seek proper medical treatment for a 
concussion or brain injury: 
 

• Heads UP Concussions in Youth Sports 
• Concussion in Sports—What You Need to Know 
• Sports Safety International 
• ConcussionWise  
• ACTive™Athletic Concussion Training for Coaches; and  
  

b. On an annual basis provide concussion and brain injury information to 
students and their parents or guardians prior to such students 
initiating practice or competition.  This information will include: 

1 The signs and symptoms of a concussion; 
2 The risks posed by sustaining a concussion; and 
3 The actions a student should take in response to sustaining a 

concussion, including the notification of his or her coaches. 
 

A student who participates on a school athletic team must be removed from 
a practice or game when he/she is reasonably suspected of having sustained 
a concussion or brain injury in such practice or game after observation by a 
coach or a licensed health care professional who is professionally affiliated 
with or contracted by the school. The student will not be permitted to 
participate in any school supervised team athletic activities involving 
physical exertion, including practices or games, until the student: 
 

a. has been evaluated by a licensed health care professional; 
 

b. has received written and signed clearance to resume participation in 
athletic activities from the licensed health care professional; and 
 



c. has submitted the written and signed clearance to resume 
participation in athletic activities to the school accompanied by 
written permission to resume participation from the student’s 
parent or guardian. 

 
If a student is reasonably suspected after observation of having sustained a 
concussion or brain injury and is removed from an athletic activity, the 
parent or guardian of the student will be notified by the school of: 
 

a. the date and approximate time of the injury suffered by the 
student, 

 
b. the signs and symptoms of a concussion or brain injury that were 

observed, and 
 

c. any actions taken to treat the student. 
 
The school district will not provide for the presence of a licensed health care 
professional at any practice or game. 
 
School officials shall deem the signature of an individual who represents that 
he/she is a licensed health care professional on a written clearance to 
resume participation that is provided to the school to be conclusive and 
reliable evidence that the individual who signed the clearance is a licensed 
health care professional. The school will not take any additional or 
independent steps to verify the individual’s qualifications. 
 
Students who have sustained a concussion and returned to school may need 
informal or formal accommodations, modifications of curriculum, and 
monitoring by medical or academic staff until the student is fully recovered.  
The school's "return to learn protocol" shall be the guidance provided by the 
Nebraska Department of Education entitled “Bridging the Gap from 
Concussion to the Classroom,” and accompanying materials and future 
supplements.  Nothing in this policy or the referenced protocol shall entitle a 
student who has sustained a concussion to an individualized plan under 
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, although staff will refer students who 
have sustained a concussion for evaluation under Section 504 as 
appropriate.   
 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



6035 
Athletic Contest Participation by Sixth Graders 

 
If there are fewer than 12 boys or 12 girls in the combined enrollment of the 
seventh and eighth grades when those grades are part of the elementary 
school system, sixth grade students may participate in athletic contests 
between schools, within a school system, or between school systems if the 
school administration judges that it is appropriate after taking into 
consideration the competition’s nature and value to the students, its physical 
requirements and dangers, and the sixth grade students’ ages, physical and 
mental abilities, maturity, skills, and preparation for the competition.  
Otherwise, pupils in kindergarten through the sixth grade may not 
participate in any kinds of athletic contests between schools, within a school 
system, or between school systems except as provided in this policy or as 
otherwise allowed by law.  This prohibition does not apply to annual field or 
play days.   
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 



Page 1 of 3 
 

6036 
Reading Instruction and Intervention Services 

 
The purpose of this policy is to facilitate reading instruction and intervention 
services to address student reading needs, including, but not limited to, 
dyslexia.  It is the school district’s goal that each student be able to read at 
or above grade level by third grade. 
 
Effective Reading Teachers.  It is the intent of the school district to employ 
teachers for kindergarten through third grade who are effective reading 
teachers as evidenced by (a) evaluations based on classroom observations 
and student improvement on reading assessments or (b) specialized training 
in reading improvement.  
 
Reading Assessment.  The school district will administer a reading 
assessment approved by the Nebraska Department of Education three times 
during the school year to all students in kindergarten through third grade.  
Exceptions to this requirement include:  

• Any student receiving specialized instruction for limited English 
proficiency who has been receiving such instruction for less than two 
years; 

• Any student receiving special education services for whom such 
assessment would conflict with the individualized education plan; and  

• Any student receiving services under a plan pursuant to the 
requirements of section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 
29 U.S.C. 794, or Title II of the federal Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990, 42 U.S.C. 12131 to 12165, as such acts and sections existed 
on January 1, 2018, for whom such assessment would conflict with such 
section 504 or Title II plan.   

The first assessment for kindergarten students must occur within the first 45 
calendar days that school is in session of each school year.  For all other 
grades, the first assessment must occur within the first 30 calendar days that 
school in in session of each school year.  

Diagnostic assessments used within a supplemental reading intervention 
program do not require Nebraska Department of Education approval.  
  
Deficiency Identification.  Any student in kindergarten through third grade 
performing below the threshold level as determined by the Nebraska 
Department of Education shall be identified as having a reading deficiency for 
purposes of the Nebraska Reading Improvement Act and this policy.  A student 
who is identified as having a reading deficiency shall remain identified as 
having a reading deficiency until the student performs at or above the 



Page 2 of 3 
 

threshold level on an approved reading assessment.  Nothing in the Nebraska 
Reading Improvement Act or this policy shall prohibit a school district from 
identifying any other student as having a reading deficiency.  
 
Supplemental Reading Intervention Program. The school district will 
provide a supplemental reading intervention program to ensure that students 
can read at or above grade level at the end of third grade.  The school district 
may work collaboratively with a reading specialist at the Nebraska Department 
of Education, with educational service units, with learning communities, or 
through interlocal agreements to develop and provide such supplemental 
reading intervention programs. Each supplemental reading intervention 
program must be:  

• Provided to any student identified as having a reading deficiency;  
• Implemented during regular school hours in addition to regularly 

scheduled reading instruction unless otherwise agreed to by a parent or 
guardian; and  

• Made available as a summer reading program between each summer 
for any student who has been enrolled in grade one, grade two, or grade 
three or in a higher grade and is identified as continuing to have a 
reading deficiency at the conclusion of the school year preceding such 
summer reading program.  The summer reading program may be held 
in conjunction with existing summer programs in the school district or 
in a community reading program not affiliated with the school district or 
offered online.  

The supplemental reading intervention program may also include:  

• Reading intervention practices that are evidence-based;  
• Diagnostic assessments to identify specific skill-based strengths and 

weaknesses a student may have; 
• Frequent monitoring of student progress throughout the school year 

with instruction adjusted accordingly;  
• Intensive intervention using strategies selected from the following list 

to match the weaknesses identified in the diagnostic assessment:  
o Development in phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, 

vocabulary, and reading comprehension;  
o Explicit and systematic instruction with detailed explanations, 

extensive opportunities for guided practice, and opportunities for 
error corrections and feedback; or  

o Daily targeted individual or small-group reading intervention 
based on student needs as determined by diagnostic assessment 
data subject to planned extracurricular school activities;  



Page 3 of 3 
 

• Strategies and resources to assist with reading skills at home, including 
parent-training workshops and suggestions for parent-guided home 
reading; or  

• Access to before-school or after-school supplemental reading 
intervention with a teacher or tutor who has specialized training in 
reading intervention.  

 
Parent/Guardian Notification.  The school will give notice in writing or by 
electronic communication to the parent(s) or guardian(s) of any student 
identified as having a reading deficiency within 15 working days of such 
identification that the student has been identified as having a reading 
deficiency and that an individual reading improvement plan will be established 
and shared with the parents or guardians.  
 
Reading Improvement Plan.  Any student who is identified as having a 
reading deficiency will receive an individualized reading improvement plan, 
that shall include a supplemental reading intervention program, no later than 
30 days after the identification of the reading deficiency.  The reading 
improvement plan may be created by the teacher, the principal, other 
pertinent school personnel, and the parents or guardians of the student and 
shall describe the reading intervention services the student will receive 
through the supplemental reading intervention program to remedy the reading 
deficiency.  The student must receive reading intervention services through 
the supplemental reading intervention program until the student is no longer 
identified as having a reading deficiency.  
 
Reading Progress.  Each student in kindergarten through third grade and 
his or her parent(s) or guardian(s) will be informed of the student's reading 
progress within a reasonable time after the school district receives the results 
from the student’s approved reading assessment. 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 
 

 



Page 1 of 3 
 

6037 
Selection and Review of Library Media 

 
The board approves curriculum and curriculum-related materials for the 
district with input from administrators and staff.  Those processes are covered 
in other board policies.  Staff members seeking to procure materials for use 
during instruction must follow board policy, practices, and directives.  Those 
items are not covered by this policy. 
 
The district procures library books and other media available to students that 
are not part of a specific class or curriculum.  For purposes of this policy, those 
will be called library materials.   This policy addresses the selection and review 
of library materials, regardless of their source.  This policy applies regardless 
of whether library materials are purchased using district funds, donated, or 
shared at no cost to the district. 
 
No Right to Materials.  The board supports having excellent educational 
opportunities for students, including availability of library materials used to 
enrich the educational experience.  However, the board and administration 
are responsible for considering materials based on a variety of factors and 
legal obligations.  There is no right to force any material to be included or 
excluded.  Staff requesting library materials do so only within the course and 
scope of their employment with the district. 
 
Selection Process.  The selection and approval of new library materials must 
comply with the district’s general requisition, donation, and budgeting 
requirements.  To ensure materials selected are appropriate for the district’s 
students and consistent with the district’s legal obligations, the following 
process applies to selection of library materials. 
 
The school librarian, media specialist, or any individual requesting library 
materials is responsible for submitting the request in writing to the building 
principal or to superintendent if there is no principal assigned to the building.  
The request must include the following 

1. Name of the book, material, or resource; 
2. The author, publisher, and supplier of the material; 
3. The physical medium (i.e., book, magazine, video, game, digital 

subscription, etc.); 
4. The cost of the material; 
5. A summary of the content of the material, including how it supports age-

appropriate learning objectives, enriches the curriculum, and/or 
supports student development and learning; 



Page 2 of 3 
 

6. The material’s accolades, such as presence on best seller lists, awards 
won, and recommendations from professional library journals and 
organizations with a focus on K-12 school library materials; and 

7. Whether any of the content in the material represents a perspective that 
may not be universal, such as a political, religious, or social perspective 
for which disagreement or differences of opinion exist.  The summary 
should include a description of these items. 

The building principal or superintendent will review the library material 
request and inform the requester whether the material will be accepted or 
denied.  Materials which require expenditure of district funds will be processed 
consistently with the district’s purchasing and procurement policies and 
practices.  There is no appeal from this determination. 
 
Requested Review of Library Materials.  A concerned parent of a current 
student or patron living within the school district boundaries may request the 
review of a specific library material (i.e., a specific book, magazine, etc.) or 
portion of a specific library material.  The parent or patron must first discuss 
their concern with the building principal and explain their concern regarding 
the library material.  If there is no principal assigned to that building, the 
parent or patron should discuss their concern with the superintendent.  The 
board believes most concerns will be resolved in this manner. 
 
If the parent or patron is dissatisfied after the informal review and discussion 
with the relevant administrator, they may request a review in writing.  To 
request a review, the individual must complete the Library Material Review 
Request form and submit it to the superintendent.   
 
The superintendent will review the request within a reasonable time after 
receiving it.  The superintendent may consult with the school’s librarian or 
media specialist, staff, and legal counsel at his or her discretion.  The 
superintendent may decide to remove the material, keep the material, restrict 
access to the material to students based on age or grade level, or make any 
other determination the superintendent deems appropriate.  The 
superintendent’s decision regarding the review will be communicated to the 
requester in writing.   
 
The decision of the superintendent is final, and the board will not hear any 
appeal regarding the review of library material. 
 
The superintendent will review the request with the board curriculum 
committee within a reasonable time after receiving it.  The committee may 
consult with or seek input from the school’s librarian or media specialist, staff, 
and legal counsel at its discretion.  The committee will make a 



Page 3 of 3 
 

recommendation to the board to remove the material, keep the material, 
restrict access to the material to students based on age or grade level, or 
make any other determination or recommendation the committee deems 
appropriate.  The board will review the request, consider the committee’s 
recommendation, and make a determination regarding the requested review.  
The decision regarding the review will be communicated to the requester in 
writing by the superintendent.   
 
The decision of the board is final, and there is no appeal regarding the review 
of library material. 
 
Additional Rules for Library Media Review.  Unless the superintendent 
decides otherwise, the library material will remain in circulation while a review 
is pending.  Unless otherwise required by law, no library material will be 
reviewed again within 4 years after a requested review is completed.  Any 
parent or patron requesting review of multiple library materials may only 
request a maximum of 5 materials to be reviewed at one time, and a new 
request cannot be submitted until the prior review is completed and notice of 
the determination is provided to the requesting party.  Nothing in this policy 
prohibits the superintendent or their designee from reviewing library material 
outside of the review process contained in this policy and taking any action 
the superintendent or their designee deems appropriate. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 



2023 Board Policy Changes 

Policy Changes REVISION OF POLICY 3001: BUDGET AND PROPERTY TAX REQUEST We have revised this 

policy to provide a link to the website at which information on statewide receipts and expenditures and 

comparisons of cost per pupil and performance to other school districts is available. We also updated a 

statutory reference. Finally, we amended the policy to follow the changes in LB 243 that make clear that 

a school may only increase its property tax request by more than the allowable growth percentage “to 

the extent allowed by law.” This change is required. 

_____________________________________________________________  

REVISION OF POLICY 3003.1: BIDDING FOR CONSTRUCTION, REMODELING, REPAIR, OR RELATED 

PROJECTS FINANCED WITH FEDERAL FUNDS AND POLICY 3004.1: FISCAL MANAGEMENT FOR 

PURCHASING AND PROCUREMENT USING FEDERAL FUNDS Entities auditing school districts looked for 

an explicit “Buy American” provision in these policies. Although federal law only requires that the Buy 

American provision be included in any contract and not in the policy, we have added or revised this 

provision in these policies to appease the policy auditors. This change is technically not required but is 

highly recommended.  

_____________________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 3033: LENDING TEXTBOOKS TO CHILDREN ENROLLED IN PRIVATE SCHOOLS Section 

79-734 requires public schools to purchase and loan textbooks, upon individual request, to children who 

are enrolled in kindergarten to grade 2 twelve of a private school which is approved for continued legal 

operation under rules and regulations established by NDE. LB 705 transfers this obligation to NDE 

effective July 1, 2024. We have amended this policy to end the public school’s obligation to provide 

textbooks to private schools effective July 1, 2024. This change is effective three months after 

adjournment of the Unicameral, approximately September 2, 2023. This change is required. 

_____________________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 3036: PURCHASING (CREDIT) CARD PROGRAM The Nebraska Secretary of State’s 

Schedule 10 governs how long school districts must maintain certain records. Schedule 10 has been 

changed and now states that schools must maintain all financial records created or received by the 

school district for 7 years. We have changed our policy from a 10-year retention requirement to a 7-year 

requirement. This change is not required but is highly recommended. 

_____________________________________________________________  

POLICY 3059: AUDIO AND VIDEO RECORDING (RELOCATION OF POLICY 5063) Now that most middle-

high school students, staff members, parents, and patrons have smartphones and other devices, it was 

time to revisit this policy. While this certainly does not address all technology-based conduct, we have 

made a few changes that apply to more than just students. This is why it will be relocated into the 3000 

series. For example, previously the policy did not prohibit staff from making secret recordings. We made 

that change. We also updated the security camera footage section and made a few other tweaks to 

better align the policy to school practices. These changes are not required but are highly recommended. 

Relocation is required even if you don’t amend the policy for ease of tracking future changes. 

_____________________________________________________________  



REVISION TO POLICY 4003: DRUG POLICY REGARDING DRIVERS We made a minor revision to fix a clerical 

error regarding the term Medical Review Officer. This change is required. 

____________________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 4045: MILK EXPRESSION President Biden signed into law the Providing Urgent 

Maternal Protections for Nursing Mothers Act (“PUMP for Nursing Mothers Act”) at the end of 2022. 

The Act expands protections for salaried employees such as teachers and also requires the break to be 

paid if the employee is also working while expressing breast milk. We changed our policy to include 

language regarding the frequency at which an employee can request to pump. This change is required. 

_____________________________________________________________  

REVISION OF POLICY 4059: BEHAVIORAL AND MENTAL HEALTH TRAINING (FORMERLY SUICIDE 

PREVENTION TRAINING) Section 79-2,146 currently requires nurses, teachers, counselors, school 

psychologists, administrators, school social workers, and any other appropriate personnel to receive at 

least one hour of suicide awareness and prevention training each year. LB 705 amends this section to 

require “all public-school employees who interact with students and any other appropriate personnel” 

as determined by the superintendent to receive at least one hour of behavioral and mental health 

training with a focus on suicide awareness and prevention training each year. NDE will develop a list of 

approved training materials. Please note, we left the proposed October 31 or within 30 days of initial 

employment wording in the policy. This is not required by law, so you can adjust the completion 

deadlines as you see fit. These changes are effective three months after adjournment of the Unicameral, 

approximately September 2, 2023. This change is required. 

_____________________________________________________________  

REVISION OF POLICY 5003: ADMISSION OF PART-TIME STUDENTS LB 705 (Sec. 75) will amend Nebraska’s 

part-time enrollment statute, section 79-2,136. Prior to the amendments, the statute contained only 

one section and generally deferred to school board policy for most part-time enrollment considerations. 

LB 705 contains some new requirements for the admission of part-time students. First, the statute 

creates an ambiguity regarding which classes a part-time student can take. LB 705 added a clause into 

the original statute, which now reads: “Each school board shall allow the part-time enrollment of 

students, for all courses selected by the students….” We know many schools limit the classes available 

to part-time students, in addition to limitations based on class sizes and things like that. It is unclear 

whether the Unicameral intended the new clause to mean students can select any courses they want, or 

if they intended that to mean any courses offered to part-time students but not necessarily all courses 

they might be eligible to take if they were full-time students. We left the general restrictions based on 

class sizes and resources intact but remained silent on strict class availability for part-time students (e.g., 

only essential courses or only specials) giving each school the opportunity to decide whether they want 

to make all courses available or continue to limit courses a part-time student can take even if you have 

capacity. Second, LB 705 requires school boards to establish policies and procedures relating to 

participation in extracurricular activities. It requires schools to permit part-time students to participate 

in extracurriculars “subject to the same requirements, conditions, and procedures” as your full-time 

students. This means they must comply with all academic, behavioral, and other eligibility rules 

established by the school, including your student code of conduct. We’ve also specified that this 

includes being eligible for NSAA participation, or eligible based on the governing body of any activity not 

subject to NSAA rules. The statute has two specific limitations. Current NSAA rules require students to 

be enrolled in at least 20 credit hours, 10 of which must come from the public school. The statute 



changes now state that part-time students must be allowed to participate if they are enrolled in 5 credit 

hours in the public school. This change will reduce the public-school enrollment requirement from 10 to 

5 hours, and we anticipate the NSAA will make any changes necessary on its end to allow schools to 

comply with this statute. 5 The statute also prohibits schools from giving a preference in team selection 

to full-time students over part-time students. As for transportation, the statute does not require schools 

to provide transportation for school attendance purposes, but it does require schools to provide 

extracurricular transportation or mileage to a part-time student on the same terms as you provide 

extracurricular transportation to your full-time students. For example, if you drive a bus from the school 

parking lot to away contests or off-site practices, the part-time student gets to ride the bus to those 

events. The part-time student would be responsible for getting himself or herself to the designated pick-

up point. Finally, this change also raises a timing issue. Schools will have their policies and handbooks 

updated to start the year, but these requirements do not go into effect until approximately September 

10, 2023. This begs the question of whether a student is subject to the various credit hour and other 

requirements at the beginning of the fall season, or only after the law becomes effective. To avoid 

having to do mid-year changes to enrollment, handbooks, and policies, our recommendation is to begin 

applying the new requirements with the start of fall seasons, assuming the NSAA will provide flexibility 

for the flex time between the start of fall seasons and the effective date of the new requirements. These 

changes are effective three months after adjournment of the Unicameral, approximately September 2, 

2023. This change is required. 

_____________________________________________________________  

REVISION OF POLICY 5004: OPTION ENROLLMENT LB 705 made three substantive changes to the option 

enrollment laws. 1. Special education capacity determinations must and may only be determined on a 

case-by-case basis. If an option application indicates that a student has an individualized education plan 

(IEP) or has been diagnosed with a disability, the application must be evaluated by the director of special 

education services or the director's designee who shall determine if the school district and the 

appropriate class, grade level, or school building has the capacity to provide the applicant the 

appropriate services and accommodations. 2. If the school board wishes to declare a program, class, or 

school unavailable for the following school year, the board must pass a 6 resolution with such a 

declaration prior to October 15th of the previous school year. 3. Schools must annually establish, 

publish, and report the capacity for each school building under the district's control according to 

procedures, criteria, and deadlines established by the Nebraska Department of Education These changes 

are effective three months after adjournment of the Unicameral, approximately September 2, 2023. This 

change is required. _____________________________________________________________  

REVISION OF POLICY 5035: STUDENT DISCIPLINE PK-2nd Grade Students. LB 705 provides that schools 

will no longer be able to suspend a student in pre-kindergarten through second grade unless the student 

brings a deadly weapon as defined in section 28-109 on school grounds, in a school vehicle, or to a 

school-sponsored activity or athletic event. Schools must develop a policy to implement this new 

limitation and must include disciplinary measures inside the school as an alternative to suspension. 

Completing Missed Work. Any student who is suspended must be given an opportunity to complete any 

classwork, homework, examinations, or other work missed during the period of suspension. “Must” 

used to say “may.” Schools must develop and adopt guidelines that provide any suspended student with 

the opportunity to complete classwork and homework. The guidelines may not require the student to 

attend the school district's alternative programs for expelled students in order to complete classwork 



and homework. The guidelines must be provided to the student and a parent or guardian at the time of 

suspension. Short-Term Suspensions. When a principal suspends a student for up to five school days, he 

or she must give a written notice of the suspension to the parent or guardian within 24 hours “or such 

additional time as is reasonably necessary.” LB 705 has revised this requirement to state that the 

principal only has an additional 48 hours (a total of 72 hours) to send the written notice of the 

suspension. The principal has always been required to make a “reasonable effort” to hold a conference 

with the parent or guardian when the student returns to school. Now there is an additional requirement 

that the principal document such effort in writing. 7 Post-Expulsion Requirements. LB 705 includes a 

new requirement. At the conclusion of an expulsion, a school district must reinstate the student and 

accept nonduplicative, grade-appropriate credits earned by the student during the term of expulsion 

from any Nebraska-accredited institution or institution accredited by one of the six regional accrediting 

bodies in the United States. Long-Term Suspension, Expulsion, or Mandatory Reassignment. The 

decision to recommend long-term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment did not have a 

timeline associated with it. Now, the decision must be made within two school days after learning of the 

alleged student misconduct. Also, if a student is suspended pending the outcome of a hearing for a long-

term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, the student must be allowed to complete 

classwork, homework, examinations, and other work during the period of suspension. Hearing 

Examiner. When a hearing is requested under the Student Discipline Act, the superintendent now 

“recommends” the appointment of a hearing examiner within two school days after receiving the 

hearing request. Parents have two days to request the designation of a different hearing examiner. 

Upon receiving the request, the superintendent: ● Must provide one alternative hearing examiner who 

is not an employee of the school district or otherwise currently under contract with the school district 

and whose impartiality may not otherwise be reasonably questioned; and ● May also provide an 

additional list of hearing examiners that may include hearing examiners employed by or under contract 

with the school district. The student or the student's parent or guardian must, within five school days, 

select a hearing examiner to conduct the hearing who was recommended, provided as an alternative 

hearing examiner, or included on an additional list, if any, and must notify the superintendent in writing 

of the selection. The superintendent must appoint the selected hearing examiner upon receipt of the 

notice. The Hearing. Previously, the hearing had to be “scheduled” within five school days after it was 

requested. Now, the hearing must be “held” within five school days after the appointment of the 

hearing examiner. Previously, students and their parents had the right to examine records and written 

statements “at a reasonable time” before the hearing. Now, the 8 school must provide copies of 

records, written statements, and required affidavits no later than 48 hours before the hearing. The 

school must make available those witnesses who have knowledge of or were involved in the alleged 

misconduct and subsequent discipline of the student if such witnesses are requested by the student or 

the student's parent, guardian, or representative and if such witnesses are employees or under contract 

with the school district. With changes from LB 705, the hearing examiner now has ten calendar days to 

provide the findings and recommendations to the superintendent, and the superintendent has five 

school days after receiving the report to make his or her determination. Previously, there was no time 

limit for either action. Appeal. If the student or parent appeals the superintendent’s decision, the 

superintendent’s determination will no longer take immediate effect. School Board Decision. In the 

event of an appeal, the school board now must take final actions within three calendar days after the 

hearing. Previously, there was no time limit on the board’s ability to make a final decision. The changes 

are effective three months after adjournment of the Unicameral, approximately September 2, 2023. 



However, Policy 5035 has been revised to reflect these new requirements so that you do not have to 

change policies and handbooks in September. These changes are required. 

______________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 5045: STUDENT FEES The Nebraska Public Elementary and Secondary Student Fee 

Authorization Act permits schools to charge fees for “postsecondary education costs.” However, just like 

fees charged to participate in extracurriculars or for student meals, the board must designate the 

“maximum” fee that may be charged. Our policy has always contained a section for postsecondary 

education costs, but it did not list the maximum for those costs. This change will now require you to list 

the maximum fee that might be assessed to a student for postsecondary education costs. Unless you 

designate the maximum fee (even if the student ends up paying less), it’s technically not lawful. If you 

collaborate with local colleges, universities, or 9 community colleges to offer postsecondary classes or 

dual credit classes, you should list the maximum fee a student may be required to pay. Keep in mind 

that schools cannot charge a fee for earning high school credits. However, you can require families to 

pay any postsecondary costs if they also want college credit. We recommend listing the max amount per 

course, to include all fees for tuition, materials, etc. You should set the number high enough to account 

for the most a student may be required to pay, especially if you work with multiple institutions. This 

change is required. ______________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 5052: SCHOOL WELLNESS The link to the website at the bottom of the policy that 

contains the evidence-based strategies used in the policy has been updated. This change is required. 

______________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 5062: LICE AND NITS For the past several years, we have been asked by numerous 

clients about the rules governing the exclusion of students who have contracted active cases of lice, 

louse eggs, and nits. Our policy previously offered two options, one that excluded for nits and one that 

did not. Several schools have received significant pushback (and even threats of litigation) for banning 

students with nits alone until they were treated. Many state and national organizations have strong 

opinions on this issue, with entities like the CDC and various medical organizations now recommending 

against any school exclusion even if a student has an active case of headlice. A small handful of schools 

have even asked us for a policy that would not exclude students from school at all. While that may 

technically violate the Nebraska DHHS isolation regulation, we know some schools have nurses, 

administrators, and others who agree with this position. If you would like that type of policy, please 

contact one of us. In revisiting the actual Nebraska DHHS regulation on this point, it states as follows for 

school exclusion/isolation periods for pediculosis: Nits are not a cause for school exclusion. Parents of 

students with live lice are to be notified and the child treated prior to 10 return to school. Only persons 

with active infestation need be treated. Avoid head-to-head contact. No exclusion of contacts. In light of 

the current regulation, we have removed the policy option permitting exclusion for nits, alone (the 

former “Option A”). The policy now has only one option that tracks the regulation. It states that the 

school will contact the student’s parent/guardian(s) immediately to pick up the child. Because the 

regulation still says that the child needs to be treated “prior to return to school,” we left that in the 

policy. This change is required if you previously selected “Option A” which included nits. If you 

previously selected “Option B,” these changes are recommended. 

______________________________________________________  



POLICY 5063: [INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] (RELOCATED TO POLICY 3059) This policy is relocated. 

______________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 5064: SUPPLEMENT, NOT SUPPLANT We have updated this policy to reflect the 

provision that requires federal grant funds supplement local effort for all Title funds which expands 

beyond Title I to include Title II and Title IV grant funds. This change is technically not required but is 

highly recommended. ______________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 6003: INSTRUCTIONAL PROGRAM We have updated the policy to reflect the 

minimum number of instructional hours for each corresponding grade as required by Nebraska law and 

NDE regulations. You may adjust these hours upward if desired. This change is required. 

______________________________________________________  

REVISION TO POLICY 6004: CURRICULUM DEVELOPMENT We have updated the policy to reflect the new 

requirement that goes into effect for the 2023-24 school year that all students take at least one course 

in financial literacy. This required coursework may not be embedded in 11 other curricula throughout a 

high school student’s secondary education. Rather the course must be a standalone class equaling five 

(5) high school credits or an equivalent one-semester course. The Nebraska Department of Education 

has curricular resources for the financial literacy course here. The Financial Literacy Act requires the 

district to submit a report to the board of education about your compliance with the Act no later than 

December 31, 2024. You do not need to worry about reporting for the 2023-24 school year. We will 

provide you with the necessary information for that report in the years they will be required and will 

add them to our running list of annual notices, hearings, and reports at that time. The Financial Literacy 

Act was passed as a companion statute to the Computer Science and Technology Act. LB 705 pushed 

back the effective date of the Computer Science and Technology Act to the 2027-28 school year. As a 

side note, Policy 6004 has a table that sets out a schedule for curriculum review and textbook adoption. 

This table will need to be edited to reflect your district’s practices. For example, if your district staff 

reviews the curriculum in one year and then actually adopts a textbook in the following year, you would 

adjust the content of the “textbook adoption” cell down a level. This year is also a good time to check 

the dates that your district has filled in under the “school year” column and to update them as 

necessary. The financial literacy curriculum is required for 23-24, but we have added both financial 

literacy and computer science to the curriculum review chart. 

______________________________________________________  

ADDITIONAL OPTIONS ADDED TO POLICY 6025: STUDENT CELL PHONE AND OTHER ELECTRONIC DEVICES 

We have added some additional options to policy 6025. The current policy is most permissive, allowing 

students to use cell phones and other devices so long as they don’t violate other school rules. As more 

schools start to go back to restrictive policies or consider storage plans like classroom turn-in boxes or 

Yondr bags, we want to provide some additional options. Those are included in the redline of this policy. 

However, the substance of the current policy did not change. 12 If you are happy with your current 

student cell phone and electronic devices policy, you do not need to make any changes. 

______________________________________________________  

NEW POLICY 6038: Artificial Intelligence This is an optional policy. We have received questions from 

several clients about a board policy on the extent to which students may permissibly use artificial 

intelligence tools “AI Tools” (such as ChaptGPT and other chatbots) in connection with school 

assignments. This policy lays out (1) the board’s approval of using AI Tools in connection with academic 



assignments, and (2) details the minimum requirements and expectations for such use. Under this 

policy, teachers are responsible for determining the extent to which a student may permissibly use AI 

Tools in connection with any specific assignment and the policy imposes certain minimum requirements 

that students using such tools must meet (including disclosure and proper attribution). Please note that 

the criteria laid out in this policy is not in response to legal requirements. Rather, this policy provides a 

practical framework for your teaching staff to consider whether and how AI Tools can and should be 

used in connection with school assignments. The policy also clarifies that student use of AI Tools should 

be consistent with expectations of academic honesty when using other sources of information. If the 

board is inclined to adopt this policy (or a version of it), we strongly encourage the board to consult with 

the administration (who may work with the teaching staff) to ensure that the framework and 

expectations are consistent with the teaching practices. This new policy is optional. 

______________________________________________________  

Form Changes NOTICE OF NON-DISCRIMINATION Some of our school districts have asked for an all-

encompassing, one-and-done nondiscrimination statement. We have not drafted one yet, mainly for 

two reasons. One, drafting such a single non-discrimination statement that effectively addresses all 

requirements from a variety of entities has proven difficult to do in a straightforward and streamlined 

manner. Two, we have decided to wait until the new Title IX and Section 504 regulations have been 

approved and finalized. But once those changes are made, we will tackle and produce a new notice of 

non-discrimination. There is no change to make - yet. 

_______________________________________________  

Other Issues To Consider LB 77: Carrying Concealed Weapons without a Permit LB 77 authorizes anyone, 

other than a minor or prohibited person, to carry a concealed handgun anywhere in Nebraska, with or 

without a concealed handgun permit. However, the law still prohibits people from carrying a concealed 

or unconcealed handgun into a public school or on public school property. This prohibition does not 

apply to a qualified law enforcement officer or qualified retired law enforcement officer carrying a 

concealed handgun pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 926B or 926C. LB 298: Dyslexia On or before July 1 of each 

year, the school district must provide the required information relating to dyslexia to NDE. LB 298: 

Written Dress Code and Grooming Policy On or before July 1, 2025, the school board must adopt a 

written dress code and grooming policy to be implemented at the start of the 2025-26 school year that 

is consistent with the model policy developed by NDE and “may include any other procedures and 

provisions the school board deems appropriate.” NDE must develop and distribute its model dress code 

and grooming policy on or before December 1, 2024. LB 705: Behavioral Intervention Training and 

Teacher Support Act Sections 2 through 5 of LB 705 create the Behavioral Intervention Training and 

Teacher Support Act. This Act is effective July 1, 2023. Training. Beginning in school year 2024-25, the 

Educational Service Unit Coordinating Council shall (i) ensure annual behavioral awareness training is 

available statewide and (ii) develop, implement, and administer an ongoing statewide teacher support 

system. Beginning in school year 2026-27, each school district must ensure that each administrator, 

teacher, paraprofessional, school nurse, and counselor receives behavioral awareness training. Each 

administrator, teacher, paraprofessional, school nurse, and counselor who has received such training 15 

must receive a behavioral awareness training review at least once every three years. Each school district 

may offer such training, or similar training, to any other school employees at the discretion of the school 

district. In addition, all school employees must have a basic awareness of the goals, strategies, and 

schoolwide plans included in such training. The Act defines what behavioral awareness training must 



include. Report. On or before July 1, 2025, and on or before July 1 of each year thereafter, each school 

district must submit a behavioral awareness training report to the Educational Service Unit Coordinating 

Council. The report must include the school district behavioral awareness training plan and summarize 

how the plan fulfills the requirements of the Act. Point of Contact. Each school district must designate 

one or more school employees as a behavioral awareness point of contact for each school building or 

other division as determined by such school district. Each behavioral awareness point of contact must 

be trained in behavioral awareness and shall have knowledge of community service providers and other 

resources that are available for the students and families in the school district. Mental Health and 

Counseling Resources. Each school district must maintain or have access to a registry of local mental 

health and counseling resources. The registry must include resource services that can be accessed by 

families and individuals outside of school. Each behavioral awareness point of contact must coordinate 

access to support services for students whenever possible. Except as provided in section 43-2101, if 

information for an external support service is provided to an individual student, school personnel must 

notify a parent or guardian of such student in writing unless the recommendation involves law 

enforcement or child protective services. Each school district shall indicate each behavioral awareness 

point of contact for the school district on the school district’s website and in any school directory for the 

school that the behavioral awareness point of contact serves. LB 705: Nebraska Teacher Recruitment 

and Retention Act The purpose of the Nebraska Teacher Recruitment and Retention Act is to provide 

financial incentives to recruit and retain teachers in Nebraska classrooms. A teacher may apply to NDE 

for multiple retention grants of $2,500 if the teacher has signed a contract to complete the teacher’s 

second, fourth, and sixth complete school years of full-time employment in 16 the 2023-24 through 

2026-27 school years. A teacher may apply for a high-need retention grant of $5,000 if the teacher (1) 

obtains an endorsement in special education, mathematics, science, technology, or dual credit; and (2) 

signs a contract to complete a school year of full-time employment as a teacher at a Nebraska school in 

2024-25, 2025-26, or 2026-27. The Act terminates on January 1, 2028. The Unicameral encourages 

“individual schools and school districts to adopt policies incentivizing teacher recruitment and retention 

through policies similar to the Nebraska Teacher Recruitment and Retention Act.” KSB has not drafted 

such a policy for its service because such a “policy” would actually need to be negotiated with the 

teacher’s association and included in the negotiated agreement. This provision was subject to an e-

clause. LB 705: Student Discipline Act NDE Policy. NDE must develop and adopt a model policy relating 

to behavioral intervention, behavioral management, classroom management, and removal of a student 

from a classroom in school on or before July 1, 2025. The model policy shall include appropriate training 

for school employees on behavioral intervention, behavioral management, classroom management, and 

removal of a student from a classroom in schools and how frequently such training shall be required. 

School Policy. On or before August 1, 2025, each school district must develop and adopt a policy 

consistent with or comparable to the model policy developed by NDE. The school must file the policy 

with the Commissioner of Education. The policy must be included with any notifications required under 

the Student Discipline Act. Behavioral Awareness and Intervention Training. Beginning in school year 

2026-27, each school district must ensure that any school employee who has behavioral management 

responsibilities participates in behavioral awareness and intervention training consistent with the school 

district’s revised student discipline policy developed and adopted on or before August 1, 2025. The 

training must be provided by the school district or the school district's ESU. The training must be 

consistent with the model policy relating to behavioral intervention, behavioral management, classroom 

management, and removal of a student from a classroom in school developed by NDE (on or before July 



1, 2025). 17 LB 705: Computer Science and Technology Education The requirement that public-school 

students attend at least five credit hours of computer science and technology education has been 

extended from the 2026-27 school year to the 2027-28 school year. The deadline to include computer 

science and technology education aligned to the academic content standards has been extended from 

2024-25 to 2025-26. This change is effective three months after adjournment of the Unicameral, 

approximately September 2, 2023. LB 705: FAFSA Beginning in 2024-25, each public high school student 

must complete and submit to the United States Department of Education a Free Application for Federal 

Student Aid prior to graduating from high school unless a parent or legal guardian, the principal or 

designee, or a student who is 19 or older or emancipated submits an NDE-created declination form. The 

principal or designee must submit compliance information to the school board and to NDE. This change 

is effective three months after adjournment of the Unicameral, approximately September 2, 2023. LB 

705: Youth Organizations Each school district must, upon request, allow a representative of any youth 

organization (a corporation chartered by Congress and 29 listed in 36 U.S.C. Subtitle II, Part B, as of 

January 1, 2023) to provide: (i) oral or written information to the students of the school district 

regarding the youth organization and how the youth organization furthers the educational interests and 

civic involvement of students in a manner consistent with good citizenship and (ii) services and activities 

to any student of the school district who is a member of the youth organization. Frequency and Timing. 

Each requesting youth organization must be allowed to provide its information, services, and activities in 

a school building or on the school grounds of a school in each school district at least once during each 

school year. Schools must make a good faith effort to select a date, time, and location for each 

requesting youth organization to provide its information, services, or activities that is mutually 

agreeable to the school district and to the youth organization. Oral information may only be provided 

during noninstructional time. 18 Background Checks. Prior to allowing a representative of a youth 

organization to provide information, services, or activities at a school, the representative must be 

subject to a background check. Except as otherwise provided by the new law or by the rules and 

regulations of the Nebraska State Patrol, the parameters of the background check shall be determined 

by the relevant school district. A school district may prohibit any representative of a youth organization 

that has been convicted of a felony from providing information, services, or activities at any school in 

the school district. Each representative of a youth organization is responsible for all costs associated 

with obtaining the background checks. This change is effective three months after adjournment of the 

Unicameral, approximately September 2, 2023. Other Bills of Interest LB 243: Adopt the School District 

Property Tax Limitation Act LB 583: Change Provisions of the Special Education Act and the Tax Equity 

and Educational Opportunities Support Act LB 727: Change Provisions Relating to Revenue and Taxation 

LB 753: The Opportunity Scholarships Act 

______________________________________________________  

CONCLUSION It is all too easy to adopt policies that look good but that do not actually reflect how the 

school operates or assist the school in accomplishing its goals. Every year we stress that it is very 

important to us to give you a working, useful set of policies and a continuing policy service. For our 

Complete Service subscribers, there is no additional charge for revisions to our policies or consultation 

about them. Please don't hesitate to contact any one of us with questions about the updates or other 

policies. Our group e-mail address is ksb@ksbschoollaw.com.  



Page 1 of 5 
 

3001 
Budget and Property Tax Request 

 
The board of education shall adopt a budget each year to support the school 
district’s programs and services for the ensuing fiscal year.   The 
superintendent of schools shall be responsible for developing the budget 
subject to the direction and decisions of the board.  The budget document 
shall be under continuous development, based upon the requirements of the 
adopted educational program.  
 

BUDGET PROCEDURES 
 
Proposed Budget.  The superintendent shall prepare the proposed budget in 
accordance with board policies and goals, state statutes, and regulations.  As 
the district’s spending plan, the budget will be based on up-to-date revenue 
estimates, and will reflect the assessed needs and programs approved by the 
board. 
 
Budget Hearing Notice.  Notice of place and time of the hearing, together 
with a summary of the proposed budget statement, must be published at least 
four calendar days prior to the date set for hearing in a newspaper of general 
circulation within the school district.  The four calendar days shall include the 
day of publication but not the day of hearing.  The notice shall include the 
following statement: 
 

For more information on statewide receipts and expenditures, and 
to compare cost per pupil and performance to other school 
districts, go to: [Insert Internet address for the web site 
established pursuant to Laws 2021, LB528, section 5]. 
https://nep.education.ne.gov/ 

 
In addition, the district must electronically publish this statement on the 
school district web site. Such electronic publication must be prominently 
displayed with an active link to the Internet address for the web site 
established by the Nebraska Budget Act to allow the public access to the 
information. 
 
Budget Hearing.  The board must conduct a hearing prior to adopting the 
budget.  The hearing must be held separately from any regularly scheduled 
meeting and may not be limited by time.  The board must make a presentation 
outlining key provisions of the proposed budget statement, including, but not 
limited to, a comparison with the prior year's budget.  Any member of the 
public desiring to speak on the proposed budget statement shall be allowed to 
address the board at the hearing and must be given a reasonable amount of 



Page 2 of 5 
 

time to do so.  Five minutes shall generally be considered a reasonable amount 
of time.   
 
Budget Hearing Documents.  The board must make at least three copies of 
the proposed budget statement and at least one copy of all other reproducible 
written material to be discussed at the hearing available to the public at the 
hearing.   
 
Budget Adoption.  After the budget hearing, the proposed budget statement 
shall be adopted or amended and adopted as amended.  If the adopted budget 
statement reflects a change from that shown in the published proposed budget 
statement, a summary of the changes (including the items changed and the 
reasons for such changes) must be published in a newspaper of general 
circulation within the school district within twenty calendar days after its 
adoption without further hearing.   
 
Certification and Filing.  The amount to be received from personal and real 
property taxation shall be certified to the appropriate levying board as 
provided by law.  The budget shall also be filed with the state auditor. 
 
Purchase Authorization.  Except for bids required under the section "Bid 
Letting and Contracts,” the board’s adoption of the budget shall authorize the 
purchases without further board action. 
 
Monthly Report.  At each monthly board meeting, the superintendent will 
provide a report on the current status of the major sections of the budget. 
 
PROPERTY TAX REQUEST PROCEDURES – PROPERTY TAX REQUEST IS EQUAL TO OR 

LOWER THAN THE ALLOWABLE GROWTH PERCENTAGE 
 
Property Tax Request Hearing.  The board must hold a special public 
hearing called for the purpose of passing a property tax request resolution. 
 
Property Tax Request Hearing Notice.   The district must publish a hearing 
notice in a newspaper of general circulation in the school district at least four 
calendar days prior to the hearing.  The four calendar days shall include the 
day of publication but not the day of hearing.  The hearing notice must contain 
the following information: The certified taxable valuation under section 13-
509 for the prior year, the certified taxable valuation under section 13-509 for 
the current year, and the percentage increase or decrease in such valuations 
from the prior year to the current year; the dollar amount of the prior year’s 
tax request and the property tax rate that was necessary to fund that tax 
request; the property tax rate that would be necessary to fund last year's tax 
request if applied to the current year's valuation; the proposed dollar amount 



Page 3 of 5 
 

of the tax request for the current year and the property tax rate that will be 
necessary to fund that tax request; the percentage increase or decrease in 
the property tax rate from the prior year to the current year; and the 
percentage increase or decrease in the total operating budget from the prior 
year to the current year. 
 
Increase in Total Property Taxes Levied.  If the annual assessment of 
property would result in an increase in the total property taxes levied as 
determined using the previous year’s rate of levy, the district’s property tax 
request for the current year shall be no more than its property tax request in 
the prior year, and the district’s rate of levy for the current year shall be 
decreased accordingly when such rate is set by the county board of 
equalization.   
 
Decrease or No Change in Total Property Taxes Levied.  If the annual 
assessment of property would result in no change or a decrease in the total 
property taxes levied as determined using the previous year’s rate of levy, the 
district’s property tax request for the current year shall be no more than its 
property tax request in the prior year, and the district’s rate of levy for the 
current year shall be adjusted accordingly when such rate is set by the county 
board of equalization.  
 
Resolution.  The board shall pass a resolution to set the amount of its 
property tax request only after holding the public hearing.  The resolution 
setting the district’s property tax request at an amount that exceeds the prior 
year’s property tax request shall include, but not be limited to, the information 
required by section 77-1601.02(4) 77-1632(4). 
 
Certification.  The resolution setting the property tax request shall be 
certified and forwarded to the county clerk on or before October 15th of the 
year for which the tax request is to apply. 
 

PROPERTY TAX REQUEST PROCEDURES – PROPERTY TAX REQUEST IS GREATER 

THAN THE ALLOWABLE GROWTH PERCENTAGE 
 
Property Tax Request Hearing.  The board must hold a public hearing 
called for the purpose of passing a property tax request resolution.  If another 
political subdivision within the county also seeks to exceed the allowable 
growth percentage, the hearing will be a joint hearing.  In the event of a joint 
hearing, each political subdivision must designate one representative to 
attend the joint public hearing on behalf of the political subdivision.  If a 
political subdivision includes area in more than one county, the political 
subdivision shall be deemed to be within the county in which the political 
subdivision's principal headquarters are located.  The hearing agenda will only 

Formatted: Not Highlight



Page 4 of 5 
 

include discussion on each political subdivision’s intent to increase its property 
tax request by more than the allowable growth percentage to the extent 
allowed by law. 
 
The hearing must be held after 6 p.m. on or after September 17th and before 
September 28th and before the district files its adopted budget statement.  
Any member of the public must be allowed a reasonable amount of time to 
speak at the hearing. 
 
At the joint public hearing, the representative of each political subdivision 
must give a brief presentation on the political subdivision’s intent to increase 
its property tax request by more than the allowable growth percentage to the 
extent allowed by law and the effect of such request on the political 
subdivision's budget.  The presentation must include, at a minimum, all 
information and statements required by law.   
 
Property Tax Request Hearing Notice.   Notice of the joint public hearing 
must be provided by: 
 

● The County Assessor sending a postcard with all required information to 
all affected property taxpayers.  The postcard shall be sent to the name 
and address to which the property tax statement is mailed; 

● Posting notice of the hearing with all required information on the home 
page of the relevant county's web site, except that this requirement 
shall only apply if the county has a population of more than twenty-five 
thousand inhabitants; and 

● Publishing notice of the hearing with all required information in a legal 
newspaper in or of general circulation in the relevant county. 

 
Provide Information to County Clerk.  Each political subdivision that 
participates in the joint public hearing shall provide the following information 
to the county clerk by September 5th:  the date, time, and location for the 
joint public hearing; a listing of and telephone number for each political 
subdivision that will be participating in the joint public hearing; and the 
amount of each participating political subdivision's property tax request. 
 
Resolution.  The board shall pass a resolution to set the amount of its 
property tax request only after holding the public hearing.  The resolution 
setting the district’s property tax request at an amount that exceeds the prior 
year’s property tax request, including any increase in excess of the allowable 
growth percentage shall include, but not be limited to, the information 
required by law. 
 
Certification.  The resolution setting the property tax request shall be 



Page 5 of 5 
 

certified and forwarded to the county clerk on or before October 15th of the 
year for which the tax request is to apply. 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 



Page 1 of 13 

 3003.1 
Bidding for Construction, Remodeling, Repair, or Related Projects 

Financed with Federal Funds 

I. Applicability of the Policy 
 

This policy applies only to construction and contracts undertaken with federal 
funds which are subject to the federal Uniform Grant Guidance (UGG) and 
other applicable federal law, including but not limited to the Education 
Department and General Administration Regulations (EDGAR) and the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) regulations governing school food 
service programs.  In the event this policy conflicts or is otherwise inconsistent 
with mandatory provisions of the UGG, EDGAR or other applicable federal law, 
the mandatory provisions of the laws shall control. 
 
The District will also comply with the requirements of the public lettings laws 
(NEB. REV. STAT. §§ 73-101 through 73-106) when the contemplated 
expenditure for the complete project exceeds $109,000, the Political 
Subdivisions Construction Alternatives Act (NEB. REV. STAT. §§ 13-2901 
through 13-2914), energy financing contracts (NEB. REV. STAT. §§ 66-1062 
through 66-1066), other applicable state laws, and the board’s general policy 
on Bidding for Construction and Related Projects.  In addition, all procurement 
and construction shall comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR part 
200.317 through 200.326 and 34 CFR sections 75.601 through 75.615.  In 
the event of a conflict between state and federal law, the more stringent 
requirement shall apply. 

II. All projects undertaken pursuant to this policy will be subject to 
the following bond requirements 

A. A bid guarantee from each bidder equivalent to five percent of the 
bid price.  The “bid guarantee” must consist of a firm commitment 
such as a bid bond, certified check, or other negotiable instrument 
accompanying a bid as assurance that the bidder will, upon 
acceptance of the bid, execute such contractual documents as may 
be required within the time specified. 

B. A performance bond on the part of the contractor for 100 percent of 
the contract price.  A “performance bond” is one executed in 
connection with a contract to secure fulfillment of all the contractor's 
obligations under such contract. 

C. A payment bond on the part of the contractor for 100 percent of the 
contract price.  A “payment bond” is one executed in connection with 



Page 2 of 13 

a contract to assure payment as required by law of all persons 
supplying labor and material in the execution of the work provided 
for in the contract. 

III. Construction Projects with an Anticipated Cost of Under 
$250,000 

A. Methods of Bidding/Soliciting Quotations or Estimates 
 
The type of procedures required depends on the anticipated cost of the 
project.   

1. Construction with an Anticipated Cost of up to $10,000 (Micro-
Purchases)  

 
Micro-purchase means a purchase of supplies or services using 
simplified acquisition procedures, the annual aggregate amount of which 
does not exceed $10,000.  Micro-purchases may be made or awarded 
without soliciting competitive quotations, to the extent district staff 
determine that the cost of the purchase is reasonable.  For purposes of 
this policy “reasonable” means the purchase is comparable to market 
prices for the geographic area.  
 
To the extent practicable, the District distributes micro-purchases 
equitably among qualified suppliers. The District will follow its standard 
policy on purchasing.   
 

2. Construction with an Anticipated Cost of between $10,000 and 
$250,000 (Small Purchase Procedures)  

 
For construction projects subject to this policy, small purchases are 
purchases that, in the aggregate amount, is more than $10,000 and less 
than $250,000 annually.  For small purchases, price or rate quotes shall 
be obtained in advance from a reasonable number of qualified sources 
as detailed in the district’s standard policies on purchasing and on bid 
letting and contracts.  
 

B. Construction Projects with an estimated cost of between $109,000 
and $249,999 will be made pursuant to the District’s Policy on Bid 
Letting and Contracts.  

 



Page 3 of 13 

Pursuant to Nebraska law, construction projects which have an 
anticipated aggregate cost of $109,000 or more are subject to state 
public lettings laws (NEB. REV. STAT. §§ 73-101 through 73-106).  The 
board will follow its standard policy on bid letting and contracts for 
construction projects financed with federal funds which have an 
anticipated aggregate cost of between $109,000 and $250,000.   

 

IV. Construction Projects with an Anticipated Cost Over $250,000  

A. Sealed Bids: All constructions projects subject to this policy with an 
anticipated cost of $250,000 or more will be publicly solicited using 
the sealed bid method 

1. Bids must be solicited from an adequate number of known 
suppliers, providing them sufficient response time prior to the 
date set for opening the bids, for state, local, and tribal 
governments, the invitation for bids must be publicly advertised; 

2. The invitation for bids, which will include any specifications 
and pertinent attachments, must define the items or services in 
order for the bidder to properly respond; 

3. Sealed bids will be publicly opened in a place and at the 
specific time stated in the bid solicitation.  Bidders shall be notified 
of the opening and invited to be present.   

4. The contract will be awarded to the lowest responsive and 
responsible bidder.  

a) Where specified in bidding documents, factors such as 
discounts, transportation cost, and life cycle costs must be 
considered in determining which bid is lowest.   
b) Payment discounts will only be used to determine the 
low bid when prior experience indicates that such discounts 
are usually taken advantage of.   
c) Any or all bids may be rejected if there is a sound 
documented reason. 

5. The board shall have discretion in determining which bidders 
are responsible and responsive and shall award the contract to the 
lowest, responsible, and responsive bidder whose bid meets the 
bid specifications.  This means that the board will select the bid 
that offers the best value and award a contract based upon the 
amount of the bid and the bidder’s ability and capacity to carry on 



Page 4 of 13 

the work, its equipment and facilities, honesty, integrity, skills, 
business judgment, experience, equipment, facilities, financial 
stability, past performance, and other relevant factors.   

6. The board will generally complete its review of bids and 
select a vendor within 30 days of bid submission.   

B. Advertising for Bids.   

1. The superintendent or designee will arrange to advertise for 
bids by publishing notice in any newspaper of general circulation 
within the school district at least 7 calendar days prior to the date 
on which bids are due.   

2. Nothing shall prevent the superintendent or designee from 
advertising in additional media outlets or for a longer period of 
time. 

C. Bid Documents 

1. The bid documents shall identify the day upon which the 
bids shall be returned, received, or opened and shall identify the 
hour at which the bids will close or be received or opened.   

2. The bid documents shall also provide that such bids shall be 
opened simultaneously in the presence of the bidders or their 
representatives.   

3. Bids received after the date and time specified in the bid 
documents shall be returned to the bidder unopened. 

4. If bids are being opened on more than one contract, the 
board, in its discretion, may award each contract as the bids are 
opened. 

5. Sealed bids will be opened in a place and at the specific time 
stated in the bid solicitation.  Bidders shall be notified of the 
opening and invited to be present.   

6. Bids will be reviewed by the Superintendent and/or designee 
and submitted to the board for approval. 

7. The board shall have discretion in determining which bidders 
are responsible and responsive and shall award the contract to the 
lowest, responsible, and responsive bidder whose bid meets the 



Page 5 of 13 

bid specifications.  This means that the board will select the bid 
that offers the best value and award a contract based upon the 
amount of the bid and the bidder’s ability and capacity to carry on 
the work, its equipment and facilities, honesty, integrity, skills, 
business judgment, experience, equipment, facilities, financial 
stability, past performance, and other relevant factors.   

8. The board will generally complete its review of bids and 
select a vendor within 30 days of bid submission.   

D. The terms of any construction project undertaken pursuant to this 
policy will be memorialized in a written contract which has been 
reviewed by the district’s legal counsel and approved by the board.   

V. Other Contract Matters. 

A. Required Terms 
 
The non-Federal entity's contracts must contain the applicable provisions 
required by section 200.326 and described in Appendix II to Part 200—
Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards.  
This includes a “Buy American” provision that provides that as appropriate and 
to the extent consistent with law, the District and contractor should, to the 
greatest extent practicable under a Federal award, provide a preference for 
the purchase, acquisition, or use of goods, products, or materials produced in 
the United States (including but not limited to iron, aluminum, steel, cement, 
and other manufactured products). The requirements of the Buy American 
provision must be included in all subawards including all contracts and 
purchase orders for work or products under this award. 

B. Contracting with Certain Vendors 
 
Pursuant to the standards contained in 2 C.F.R. § 200.321, the District will 
take all necessary affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, 
women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when 
possible and consistent with state law. 
 
To the maximum extent practicable, the school food program shall purchase 
domestic commodities or products produced in the U.S. or processed in the 
U.S. substantially using agricultural commodities produced in the U.S. 

C. Full and Open Competition  
 

The district’s procurement transactions will be conducted in a manner 



Page 6 of 13 

providing full and open competition consistent with 2 C.F.R §200.319. 

D. Debarment and Suspension   
 

The District awards contracts only to responsible contractors possessing the 
ability to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of a proposed 
procurement.  Consideration will be given to such matters as contractor 
integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance, and 
financial and technical resources.  
 
The District may not subcontract with or award subgrants to any person or 
company who is debarred or suspended.  For all contracts over $25,000 the 
District verifies that the vendor with whom the District intends to do business 
with is not excluded or disqualified.  2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II(1) and 2 
C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 180.300. 
   
The District will verify debarment or suspension by revising the excluded 
parties list on SAM.gov, collecting a certification through the bidding process, 
and/or by including a debarment and suspension provision in the bid and 
contract documents. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be 
responsible for such verification. 

E. Settlements of Issues Arising Out of Contract 
 

The District alone is responsible, in accordance with good administrative 
practice and sound business judgment, for the settlement of all contractual 
and administrative issues arising out of procurements.  These issues include, 
but are not limited to, source evaluation, protests, disputes, and claims.  
These standards do not relieve the District of any contractual responsibilities 
under its contracts.  Violations of law will be referred to the local, state, or 
federal authority having proper jurisdiction. 

F. Record Keeping  

1. Record Retention 
 

a) The District maintains all records that fully show (1) the 
amount of funds under the grant or subgrant; (2) how the 
subgrantee uses those funds; (3) the total cost of each 
project; (4) the share of the total cost of each project 
provided from other sources; (5) other records to facilitate an 
effective audit; and (6) other records to show compliance with 
federal program requirements. 34 C.F.R. §§ 76.730-.731 and 
§§ 75.730-.731.  The District also maintains records of 



Page 7 of 13 

significant project experiences and results.  34 C.F.R. § 
75.732.  These records and accounts must be retained and 
made available for programmatic or financial audit.   
 

b) The U.S. Department of Education is authorized to recover 
any federal funds misspent within 5 years before the receipt 
of a program determination letter.  34 C.F.R. § 81.31(c).  
Schedule 10 (Local School Districts) and Schedule 24 (Local 
Agencies General Records) of the Nebraska Records 
Management Division as approved by the Nebraska Secretary 
of State/State Records Administrator requires the District to 
maintain records regarding construction projects for a 
minimum of five (5) years after the sale or demolition of the 
building. However, if any litigation, claim, or audit is started 
before the expiration of the record retention period, the 
records will be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit 
findings involving the records have been resolved and final 
action taken.  2 C.F.R. § 200.333. 
 

c) Records will be destroyed in compliance with Schedule 10, 
Schedule 24, and State law.  This includes the completion of 
a Records Disposition Report. 

2. Maintenance of Construction Records for Projects Financed with 
Federal Funds   

 

a) The District must maintain records sufficient to detail the 
history of all construction projects financed with federal 
funds.  These records will include, but are not necessarily 
limited to the following: rationale for the method of 
construction, selection of contract type, contractor selection 
or rejection, the basis for the contract price (including a cost 
or price analysis), and verification that the contractor is not 
suspended or debarred.   
 

b) Retention of construction records shall be in accordance with 
applicable law and Board policy. 



Page 8 of 13 

VI. Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct  

A. Board and staff member conflicts of interest are governed by the 
district’s conflict of interest policies.   

B. Contracts covered by this policy are subject to the following 
additional provisions. 

1. Employees, officers, and agents engaged in the selection, award, 
and/or administration of district contracts which are prohibited 
from engaging in such actions if a real or apparent conflict of 
interest is present.  

2. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employee, officer, 
or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, his or her 
partner, or an organization which employs or is about to employ 
any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or other interest 
in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm considered for a 
contract.  

3. The board may determine at its discretion that a financial interest 
is not substantial enough to give rise to a conflict of interest. 

C. Favors and Gifts 
 
The officers, employees, and agents of the District may neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value from contractors or 
parties to subcontracts, with the limited exception of unsolicited items of 
nominal value. 

D. Enforcement 
 
Disciplinary Actions will be applied for violations of such standards by officers, 
employees, or agents of the District at the board’s discretion. 

VII. Financial Management 

A. Identification.   

The District will identify, in its accounts, all federal awards received and 
expended and the federal programs under which they were received.  Federal 
program and award identification include, as applicable, the CFDA title and 



Page 9 of 13 

number, federal award identification number and year, name of the federal 
agency, and, if applicable, name of the pass-through entity. 

B. Financial Reporting  

The District will make an accurate, current, and complete disclosure of the 
financial results of each federal award or program in accordance with the 
financial reporting requirements set forth in the Education Department 
General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR). 

C.  Accounting Records   

The District maintains records which adequately identify the source and 
application of funds provided for federally-assisted activities.  These records 
must contain information pertaining to grant or subgrant awards, 
authorizations, obligations, unobligated balances, assets, expenditures, 
income and interest and be supported by source documentation. 

D. Internal Controls   

The Superintendent or his/her designee must maintain effective control and 
accountability for all funds, real and personal property, and other assets 
through board review and approval of claims, an annual audit of the district’s 
finances pursuant to the applicable Nebraska Department of Education and 
federal rules and regulations, and comparison of expenditures and outlays to 
budgeted amounts.  The District adequately safeguards all such property and 
assures that it is used solely for authorized purposes.  

E. Budget Control   

Actual expenditures or outlays will be compared with budgeted amounts for 
each federal award at least annually and more often as required by law or 
deemed prudent by the board or administrative staff. 

F. Payment Methods 
 
The District will comply with applicable methods and procedures for payment 
that minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds and 
disbursement by the District, in accordance with the Cash Management 
Improvement Act at 31 CFR Part 205.  Generally, the District receives 
payment from the Nebraska Department of Education on a reimbursement 
basis.  2 CFR § 200.305. However, if the District receives an advance in federal 
grant funds, the District will remit interest earned on the advanced payment 
quarterly to the federal agency.  The District may retain interest amounts up 



Page 10 of 13 

to $500 per year for administrative expenses.  2 CFR § 200.305(b)(9). 
 
Consistent with state and federal requirements, the District will maintain 
source documentation supporting the federal expenditures (invoices, time 
sheets, payroll stubs, etc.) and will make such documentation available for 
the Nebraska Department of Education to review upon request.  

G. Allowability of Costs 
 

Expenditures must be aligned with approved budgeted items.  Any changes or 
variations from the state-approved budget and grant application need prior 
approval.   
 
When determining how the District will spend its grant funds, the 
Superintendent or his/her designee will review the proposed cost to determine 
whether it is an allowable use of federal grant funds before obligating and 
spending those funds on the proposed good or service.  All costs supported by 
federal education funds must meet the standards outlined in EDGAR, 2 CFR 
Part 3474 and 2 CFR Part.  The Superintendent or his/her designee must 
consider these factors when making an allowability determination. 

 
The Superintendent or his/her designee will consider Part 200’s cost guidelines 
when federal grant funds are expended.  The Superintendent or his/her 
designee will also consider whether all state - and District-level requirements 
and policies regarding expenditures have been followed. 

H. Use of Program Income – Deduction, Addition, or Cost Sharing or 
Matching 

The default method for the use of program income for the District is the 
deduction method.  2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e).  Under the deduction method, 
program income is deducted from total allowable costs to determine the net 
allowable costs.  Program income will only be used for current costs unless 
the District is otherwise directed by the federal awarding agency or pass-
through entity.  2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e)(1).  The District may also request prior 
approval from the federal awarding agency to use the addition method.  Under 
the addition method, program income may be added to the Federal award by 
the Federal agency and the non-Federal entity.  The program income must 
then be used for the purposes and under the conditions of the Federal award.  
2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e)(2). The District may also request prior approval from 
the federal awarding agency to use the cost sharing or matching method.         

While the deduction method is the default method, the District always refers 
to the grant award notice prior to determining the appropriate use of program 



Page 11 of 13 

income.     

I. Cost Sharing or Matching 
 

For all Federal awards, any shared costs or matching funds and all 
contributions, including cash and third-party in-kind contributions, must be 
accepted as part of the non-Federal entity's cost sharing or matching when 
such contributions meet all of the following criteria:  
 
 

(1)  Are verifiable from the non-Federal entity's records;  
(2)  Are not included as contributions for any other Federal award;  
(3)  Are necessary and reasonable for accomplishment of project or 

program objectives;  
(4)  Are allowable under subpart E (Cost Principles) of this part;  
(5)  Are not paid by the Federal Government under another Federal 

award, except where the Federal statute authorizing a program 
specifically provides that Federal funds made available for such 
program can be applied to matching or cost sharing requirements 
of other Federal programs;  

(6)  Are provided for in the approved budget when required by the 
Federal awarding agency; and  

(7)  Conform to other provisions of this part, as applicable. 
 

J. Documentation of Personnel Expenses 
 

Records that reflect charges to federal awards for salaries and wages will 
comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 200.430. 

VIII. Other Contract Matters. 

A. Required Terms 
 
The non-Federal entity's contracts must contain the applicable provisions 
required by section 200.326 and described in Appendix II to Part 200—
Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards. 

B. Contracting with Certain Vendors 
 
Pursuant to the standards contained in 2 C.F.R.  § 200.321, the District will 
take all necessary affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, 
women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when 
possible consistent with state law. 



Page 12 of 13 

 
To the maximum extent practicable, the school food program shall purchase 
domestic commodities or products produced in US or processed in US 
substantially using agricultural commodities produced in US. 

C. Record Keeping  

1. Record Retention 
 

a) The District maintains all records that fully show (1) 
the amount of funds under the grant or subgrant; (2) how 
the subgrantee uses those funds; (3) the total cost of each 
project; (4) the share of the total cost of each project 
provided from other sources; (5) other records to facilitate 
an effective audit; and (6) other records to show compliance 
with federal program requirements. 34 C.F.R. §§ 76.730-
.731 and §§ 75.730-.731.  The District also maintains 
records of significant project experiences and results.  34 
C.F.R. § 75.732.  These records and accounts must be 
retained and made available for programmatic or financial 
audit.   

 
b) The U.S. Department of Education is authorized to 
recover any federal funds misspent within 5 years before 
the receipt of a program determination letter.  34 C.F.R. § 
81.31(c).  Schedule 10 (Local School Districts) and Schedule 
24 (Local Agencies General Records) of the Nebraska 
Records Management Division as approved by the Nebraska 
Secretary of State/State Records Administrator requires the 
District to maintain records regarding federal awards for a 
minimum of six (6) years.  Consequently, the District shall 
retain records for a minimum of six (6) years from the date 
on which the final Financial Status Report is submitted, 
unless otherwise notified in writing to extend the retention 
period by the awarding agency, cognizant agency for audit, 
oversight agency for audit, or cognizant agency for indirect 
costs.  However, if any litigation, claim, or audit is started 
before the expiration of the record retention period, the 
records will be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit 
findings involving the records have been resolved and final 
action taken.  2 C.F.R. § 200.333. 

 
c) Records will be destroyed in compliance with Schedule 



Page 13 of 13 

10, Schedule 24, and State law.  This includes the 
completion of a Records Disposition Report. 

2. Maintenance of Procurement Records  
 

a) The District must maintain records sufficient to detail 
the history of all procurements.  These records will include, 
but are not necessarily limited to the following: rationale for 
the method of procurement, selection of contract type, 
contractor selection or rejection, the basis for the contract 
price (including a cost or price analysis), and verification 
that the contractor is not suspended or debarred.   

 
b) Retention of procurement records shall be in 
accordance with applicable law and Board policy. 

D. Privacy 
 
The District has protections in place to ensure that the personal information 
of both students and employees is protected.  These include the use of 
passwords that are changed on a regular basis; staff training on the 
requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and 
State confidentiality requirements; and training on identifying whether an 
individual requesting access to records has the right to the documentation. 
  
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 



Page 1 of 16 

3004.1 
Fiscal Management for Purchasing and Procurement Using Federal 

Funds 
 

I. Applicability of Policy 
 
This policy applies only to non-construction related purchases undertaken with 
federal funds which are subject to the federal Uniform Grant Guidance (UGG) 
and other applicable federal law, including but not limited to the Education 
Department and General Administration Regulations (EDGAR) and the United 
States Department of Agriculture (USDA) regulations governing school food 
service programs.  In the event this policy conflicts or is otherwise inconsistent 
with mandatory provisions of the UGG, EDGAR or other applicable federal law, 
the mandatory provisions of the laws shall control. 
 
All other non-construction purchases will be governed by the Board’s general 
purchasing policy, which can be found earlier in this subsection.  In the event 
of a conflict between state and federal law, the more stringent requirement 
shall apply. 
 
This procurement policy shall govern all purchasing activities that relate to 
any aspect of the National School Lunch and Breakfast Programs.  The 
district’s goal is to fully implement all required procurement rules, regulations 
and policies set forth in 2 CFR 200, 7 CFR parts 210, 3016 and 3019, and by 
the Nebraska Department of Education. 
 
II.   Procurement System  
 
The District maintains the following purchasing procedures. 
 

A. Responsibility for Purchasing 
 
The authority to make purchases shall be governed by the District’s 
purchasing policy, which can be found elsewhere in this section. Except as 
otherwise provided in the District’s purchasing policy, the acquisition of 
services, equipment, and supplies shall be centralized in the administration 
office under the supervision of the superintendent of schools, who shall be 
responsible for developing and administering the purchasing program of the 
school district.  Purchases or commitments of district funds that are not 
authorized by this policy will be the responsibility of the person making the 
commitment. 

 
 
 



Page 2 of 16 

B. Methods of Purchasing 
 

The type of purchase procedures required depends on the cost of the item(s) 
being purchased.   
 

1. Purchases up to $10,000 (Micro-Purchases)  
 

Micro-purchase means a purchase of supplies or services using simplified 
acquisition procedures, the annual aggregate amount of which does not 
exceed $10,000.  Micro-purchases may be made or awarded without soliciting 
competitive quotations, to the extent district staff determine that the cost of 
the purchase is reasonable.  For purposes of this policy “reasonable” means 
the purchase is comparable to market prices for the geographic area.  

 
To the extent practicable, the District distributes micro-purchases equitably 
among qualified suppliers. The District will follow its standard policy on 
purchasing, which can be found earlier in this subsection.   
 

2. Purchases between $10,000 and $250,000 (Small 
Purchase Procedures)  

 
Small purchases are purchases that, in the aggregate amount, is more than 
$10,000 and less than $250,000 annually.  For small purchases, price or rate 
quotes shall be obtained in advance from a reasonable number of qualified 
sources as detailed in the district’s standard policies on purchasing and on bid 
letting and contracts, which can be found earlier in this subsection.  
 

3. Purchases Over $250,000 
 

a) Sealed Bids (Formal Advertising)         
 

For purchases over $250,000, the district will generally follow the bidding 
process outlined in the board’s policy on Bidding for Construction, Remodeling, 
Repair or Site Improvement.  
 

b) Contract/Price Analysis  
 

The District performs a cost or price analysis in connection with every 
procurement action in excess of $250,000, including contract modifications. 
The district will make an independent estimate of costs prior to receiving bids 
or proposals.    
 



Page 3 of 16 

4. Noncompetitive Proposals (Sole Sourcing) 
 

a) Procurement by noncompetitive proposals is 
procurement through solicitation of a proposal from 
only one source and may be used only when one or 
more of the following circumstances apply: 

 
1) The item is available only from a single source; 

 
2) The public exigency or emergency for the 

requirement will not permit a delay resulting from 
competitive solicitation; 

 
3) The federal awarding agency or pass-through 

entity expressly authorizes noncompetitive 
proposals in response to a written request from the 
District; or 

 
4) After solicitation of a number of sources, 

competition is determined inadequate. 
 

b) Noncompetitive proposals may only be solicited with the 
approval of the superintendent or the board.  Sufficient 
and appropriate documentation that justifies the sole 
sourcing decision must be maintained by the 
superintendent or designee.  

 
c) A cost or price analysis will be performed for 

noncompetitive proposals when the price exceeds 
$250,000. 

  
5. Competitive Proposals.   

 
a) The technique of competitive proposals is normally 

conducted with more than one source submitting an 
offer, and either a fixed price or cost-reimbursement type 
contract is awarded. It is generally used when conditions 
are not appropriate for the use of sealed bids. If this 
method is used, the following requirements apply: 



Page 4 of 16 

1) Requests for proposals must be publicized and 
identify all evaluation factors and their relative 
importance. Any response to publicized requests 
for proposals must be considered to the maximum 
extent practical; 

 
2) Proposals must be solicited from an adequate 

number of qualified sources; and 
 

3) Contracts must be awarded to the responsible firm 
whose proposal is most advantageous to the 
program, with price and other factors considered. 

 
b) The District may use competitive proposal procedures for 

qualifications-based procurement of 
architectural/engineering (A/E) professional services 
whereby competitors' qualifications are evaluated and 
the most qualified competitor is selected, subject to 
negotiation of fair and reasonable compensation. The 
method, where price is not used as a selection factor, can 
only be used in procurement of A/E professional services. 
It cannot be used to purchase other types of services 
though A/E firms are a potential source to perform the 
proposed effort. 

 
c) The District may select a proposal that offers the best 

value and that is based upon the proposer’s 
responsiveness to the proposal, experience, reputation, 
staff qualifications, ability and capacity to carry on the 
work, price, honesty, integrity, skills, business judgment, 
financial stability, past performance, and other relevant 
factors.  The evaluation may be conducted by the school 
board, a designated committee, or another designee of 
the school board. 

 
C. Use of Purchase (Debit & Credit) Cards 
 

District use of purchase cards is subject to the policy on purchase cards which 
can be found elsewhere in this subsection.  
 
 
 
 



Page 5 of 16 

D. Federal Procurement System Standards 
 

The district’s procurement transactions will be conducted in a manner 
providing full and open competition consistent with 2 C.F.R §200.319. 

 
The District will maintain and follow general procurement standards consistent 
with 2 C.F.R.  §200.318.  
 

E. Debarment and Suspension   
 

The District awards contracts only to responsible contractors possessing the 
ability to perform successfully under the terms and conditions of a proposed 
procurement.  Consideration will be given to such matters as contractor 
integrity, compliance with public policy, record of past performance, and 
financial and technical resources.  

 
The District may not subcontract with or award subgrants to any person or 
company who is debarred or suspended.  For all contracts over $25,000 the 
District verifies that the vendor with whom the District intends to do business 
with is not excluded or disqualified.  2 C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II(1) and 2 
C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 180.300. 
   
The District will verify debarment or suspension by revising the excluded 
parties list on SAM.gov, collecting a certification through the bidding process, 
and/or by including a debarment and suspension provision in the bid and 
contract documents. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall be 
responsible for such verification. 
 

F. Settlements of Issues Arising Out of Procurements 
 
The District alone is responsible, in accordance with good administrative 
practice and sound business judgment, for the settlement of all contractual 
and administrative issues arising out of procurements.  These issues include, 
but are not limited to, source evaluation, protests, disputes, and claims.  
These standards do not relieve the District of any contractual responsibilities 
under its contracts.  Violations of law will be referred to the local, state, or 
federal authority having proper jurisdiction. 
 
III. Conflict of Interest and Code of Conduct  
 

A. Board and staff member conflicts of interest are governed by 
the district’s conflict of interest policies.   

 



Page 6 of 16 

B. Purchases covered by this policy are subject to the following 
additional provisions. 

 
1. Employees, officers, and agents engaged in the selection, 

award, and/or administration of district contracts which are 
prohibited from engaging in such actions if a real or apparent 
conflict of interest is present.  

 
2. Such a conflict of interest would arise when the employee, 

officer, or agent, any member of his or her immediate family, 
his or her partner, or an organization which employs or is about 
to employ any of the parties indicated herein, has a financial or 
other interest in or a tangible personal benefit from a firm 
considered for a contract.  

 
3. The board may determine at its discretion that a financial 

interest is not substantial enough to give rise to a conflict of 
interest. 

 
C. Favors and Gifts 

 
The officers, employees, and agents of the District may neither solicit nor 
accept gratuities, favors, or anything of monetary value from contractors or 
parties to subcontracts, except that this provision does not prohibit the receipt 
of unsolicited items of nominal value.  For purposes of this policy, “nominal 
value” means a fair market value of $25 or less. 
 

D. Enforcement 
 
Disciplinary Actions including, but not limited to, counseling, oral reprimand, 
written reprimand, suspensions without pay, or termination of employment, 
will be applied for violations of such standards by officers, employees, or 
agents of the District. 
 
IV. Property Management Systems 
 

A. Property Classifications 
 

1. Equipment means tangible personal property (including 
information technology systems) having a useful life of more 
than one year and a per-unit acquisition cost which equals or 
exceeds the lesser of the capitalization level established by the 
District for financial statement purposes, or $5,000.  

 



Page 7 of 16 

2. Supplies means all tangible personal property other than those 
described in §200.33 Equipment.  A computing device is a 
supply if the acquisition cost is less than the lesser of the 
capitalization level established by the District for financial 
statement purposes or $5,000, regardless of the length of its 
useful life.  2 C.F.R. §200.94.  

 
3. Computing Devices means machines used to acquire, store, 

analyze, process, and publish data and other information 
electronically, including accessories (or “peripherals”) for 
printing, transmitting and receiving, or storing electronic 
information.  2 C.F.R. §200.20.  

 
4. Capital Assets means tangible or intangible assets used in 

operations having a useful life of more than one year which are 
capitalized in accordance with GAAP.  Capital assets include:  

 
a) Land, buildings (facilities), equipment, and intellectual 

property (including software) whether acquired by 
purchase, construction, manufacture, lease-purchase, 
exchange, or through capital leases; and  

 
b) Additions, improvements, modifications, replacements, 

rearrangements, reinstallations, renovations or 
alterations to capital assets that materially increase their 
value or useful life (not ordinary repairs and 
maintenance).  2 C.F.R. §200.12.  

 
B. Inventory Procedure 
 

Newly purchased property shall be received and inspected by the staff 
member who ordered it to ensure that that it matches the purchase order, 
invoice, or contract and that it is in acceptable condition. 

 
Equipment, Computing Devices, and Capital Assets must be tagged with an 
identification number, manufacturer, model, name of individual who tagged 
the item, and date tagged). 
 

C. Inventory Records 
 

For equipment, computing devices, and capital assets purchased with federal 
funds, the following information is maintained in the property management 
system: 
 



Page 8 of 16 

1. Serial number; 
2. District identification number; 
3. Manufacturer; 
4. Model; 
5. Date tagged and individual who tagged it; 
6. Source of funding for the property; 
7. Who holds title; 
8. Acquisition date and cost of the property;  
9. Percentage of federal participation in the project costs for the 

federal award under which the property was acquired;  
10. Location, use and condition of the property; and 
11. Any ultimate disposition data including the date of disposal and 

sale price of the property.   
 
The inventory list shall be adjusted by the superintendent of schools or his/her 
designee for property that is sold, lost, stolen, cannot be repaired, or that 
cannot be located. 
 

D. Physical Inventory 
 

1. A physical inventory of the property must be taken and the 
results reconciled with the property records at least once every 
two years.   

 
2. The Superintendent or his/her designee will ensure that the 

physical inventory is performed.  The physical inventory will 
generally occur during the months of June or July, but may be 
conducted during other time periods with the approval of the 
superintendent.  

 
E. Maintenance  

 
In accordance with 2 C.F.R. 313(d)(4), the District maintains adequate 
maintenance procedures to ensure that property is kept in good condition.  
 

F. Lost or Stolen Items 
 
The District maintains a control system that ensures adequate safeguards are 
in place to prevent loss, damage, or theft of the property.   
 

G. Use of Equipment 
 
Equipment must be used in the program or project for which it was acquired 
as long as needed, whether or not the project or program continues to be 



Page 9 of 16 

supported by the federal award, and the District will not encumber the 
property for any non-federal program use without prior approval of the federal 
awarding agency and the pass-through entity.   
 

H. Disposal of Equipment 
 
When it is determined that original or replacement equipment acquired under 
a federal award is no longer needed for the original project or program or for 
other activities currently or previously supported by a federal awarding 
agency, the Superintendent or his/her designee will contact the awarding 
agency (or pass-through for a state-administered grant) for disposition 
instructions.   

 
If the item has a current FMV of $5,000 or less, it may be retained, sold, or 
otherwise disposed of with no further obligation to the federal awarding 
agency.  
 

I. Equipment and Capital Expenditures 
 
All equipment and capital expenditures shall comply with the rules and 
requirements of 2 CFR 200.439. 
 

J. Depreciation 
 
All depreciation shall comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 
200.436. 
 
V. Financial Management 

 
A. Identification   

 
The District will identify, in its accounts, all federal awards received and 
expended and the federal programs under which they were received.  Federal 
program and award identification include, as applicable, the CFDA title and 
number, federal award identification number and year, name of the federal 
agency, and, if applicable, name of the pass-through entity. 
 

B. Financial Reporting  
 

The District will make an accurate, current, and complete disclosure of the 
financial results of each federal award or program in accordance with the 
financial reporting requirements set forth in the Education Department 
General Administrative Regulations (EDGAR).    

 



Page 10 of 16 

C.  Accounting Records   
 

The District maintains records which adequately identify the source and 
application of funds provided for federally-assisted activities.  These records 
must contain information pertaining to grant or subgrant awards, 
authorizations, obligations, unobligated balances, assets, expenditures, 
income and interest and be supported by source documentation. 

 
D. Internal Controls   

 
The Superintendent or his/her designee must maintain effective control and 
accountability for all funds, real and personal property, and other assets 
through board review and approval of claims, an annual audit of the district’s 
finances pursuant to the applicable Nebraska Department of Education and 
federal rules and regulations, and comparison of expenditures and outlays to 
budgeted amounts.  The District adequately safeguards all such property and 
assures that it is used solely for authorized purposes.  
 

E. Budget Control   
 

Actual expenditures or outlays will be compared with budgeted amounts for 
each federal award at least annually and more often as required by law or 
deemed prudent by the board or administrative staff.   
 

F. Payment Methods 
 
The District will comply with applicable methods and procedures for payment 
that minimize the time elapsing between the transfer of funds and 
disbursement by the District, in accordance with the Cash Management 
Improvement Act at 31 CFR Part 205.  Generally, the District receives 
payment from the Nebraska Department of Education on a reimbursement 
basis.  2 CFR § 200.305. However, if the District receives an advance in federal 
grant funds, the District will remit interest earned on the advanced payment 
quarterly to the federal agency.  The District may retain interest amounts up 
to $500 per year for administrative expenses.  2 CFR § 200.305(b)(9). 
 
Consistent with state and federal requirements, the District will maintain 
source documentation supporting the federal expenditures (invoices, time 
sheets, payroll stubs, etc.) and will make such documentation available for 
the Nebraska Department of Education to review upon request.  
 
 
 
 



Page 11 of 16 

G. Allowability of Costs 
 

Expenditures must be aligned with approved budgeted items.  Any changes or 
variations from the state-approved budget and grant application need prior 
approval.   
 
When determining how the District will spend its grant funds, the 
Superintendent or his/her designee will review the proposed cost to determine 
whether it is an allowable use of federal grant funds before obligating and 
spending those funds on the proposed good or service.  All costs supported by 
federal education funds must meet the standards outlined in EDGAR, 2 CFR 
Part 3474 and 2 CFR Part.  The Superintendent or his/her designee must 
consider these factors when making an allowability determination. 

 
The Superintendent or his/her designee will consider Part 200’s cost guidelines 
when federal grant funds are expended.  The Superintendent or his/her 
designee will also consider whether all state - and District-level requirements 
and policies regarding expenditures have been followed. 
 

H. Use of Program Income – Deduction, Addition, or Cost Sharing 
or Matching 

 
The default method for the use of program income for the District is the 
deduction method.  2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e).  Under the deduction method, 
program income is deducted from total allowable costs to determine the net 
allowable costs.  Program income will only be used for current costs unless 
the District is otherwise directed by the federal awarding agency or pass-
through entity.  2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e)(1).  The District may also request prior 
approval from the federal awarding agency to use the addition method.  Under 
the addition method, program income may be added to the Federal award by 
the Federal agency and the non-Federal entity.  The program income must 
then be used for the purposes and under the conditions of the Federal award.  
2 C.F.R. § 200.307(e)(2). The District may also request prior approval from 
the federal awarding agency to use the cost sharing or matching method.         
 
While the deduction method is the default method, the District always refers 
to the grant award notice prior to determining the appropriate use of program 
income.     
   

I. Cost Sharing or Matching 
 
For all Federal awards, any shared costs or matching funds and all 
contributions, including cash and third-party in-kind contributions, must be 



Page 12 of 16 

accepted as part of the non-Federal entity's cost sharing or matching when 
such contributions meet all of the following criteria:  
 

(1)  Are verifiable from the non-Federal entity's records;  
(2)  Are not included as contributions for any other Federal award;  
(3)  Are necessary and reasonable for accomplishment of project or 

program objectives;  
(4)  Are allowable under subpart E (Cost Principles) of this part;  
(5)  Are not paid by the Federal Government under another Federal 

award, except where the Federal statute authorizing a program 
specifically provides that Federal funds made available for such 
program can be applied to matching or cost sharing requirements 
of other Federal programs;  

(6)  Are provided for in the approved budget when required by the 
Federal awarding agency; and  

(7)  Conform to other provisions of this part, as applicable. 
 

J. Documentation of Personnel Expenses 
 
Records that reflect charges to federal awards for salaries and wages will 
comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 200.430. 
 
VI. Written Compensation Policies 
 

A. Time and Effort Standards 
 
All employees who are paid in full or in part with federal funds must keep 
specific documents to demonstrate the amount of time they spent on grant 
activities.  This includes an employee whose salary is paid with state or local 
funds but is used to meet a required “match” in a federal program.  These 
documents, known as time and effort records, are maintained in order to 
charge the costs of personnel compensation to federal grants.  Charges to 
federal awards for salaries and wages must be based on records that 
accurately reflect the work performed.  These records must:  
 

(1) Be supported by a system of internal controls which provides 
reasonable assurance that the charges are accurate, allowable, 
and properly allocated;  

(2) Be incorporated into official records;  
(3) Reasonably reflect total activity for which the employee is 

compensated, not exceeding 100% of compensated activities;  
(4) Encompass both federally assisted and all other activities 

compensated by the District on an integrated basis;  



Page 13 of 16 

(5) Comply with the established accounting policies and practices of 
the District and  

(6) Support the distribution of the employee’s salary or wages among 
specific activities or costs objectives. 

 
B. Time and Effort Procedures 

 
Time and effort procedures will follow and comply with 2 CFR 200.430(i). 
 

C. Fringe Benefits 
 
Except as provided otherwise by federal law, the costs of fringe benefits will 
be allowable provided that the benefits are reasonable and required by law, a 
district-employee agreement, or another policy of the District. 
 

D. Leave   
 
The cost of fringe benefits in the form of regular compensation paid to 
employees during periods of authorized absences from the job, such as for 
annual leave, family-related leave, sick leave, holidays, court leave, military 
leave, administrative leave, and other similar benefits, are allowable if they 
are provided under established written District leave policies. 
 

E. Unexpected or Extraordinary Circumstances 
 
In the event of a pandemic or other unexpected or extraordinary 
circumstance, the District may close school or individual buildings.  In such 
case, the District may compensate federally funded or other employees during 
such closure to ensure the return of staff to employment after the closure as 
allowed by state or federal law.  
 

F. Documentation for Personnel Expenses 
 
Records that reflect charges to federal awards for salaries and wages will 
comply with the rules and requirements of 2 CFR 200.430. 

 
VII. Other Contract Matters. 
 

A. Required Terms 
 
The non-Federal entity's contracts must contain the applicable provisions 
required by section 200.326 and described in Appendix II to Part 200—
Contract Provisions for non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards. 
 



Page 14 of 16 

B. Contracting with Certain Vendors 
 
Pursuant to the standards contained in 2 C.F.R.  § 200.321, the District will 
take all necessary affirmative steps to assure that minority businesses, 
women's business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms are used when 
possible consistent with state law. 
 
To the maximum extent practicable, the school food program shall purchase 
domestic commodities or products produced in US or processed in US 
substantially using agricultural commodities produced in US. 
Buy American.  The District participates in the National School Lunch 
Program and School Breakfast Program and is required to use the nonprofit 
food service funds, to the maximum extent practicable, to buy domestic 
commodities or products for Program meals.  A “domestic commodity or 
product” is defined as one that is either produced in the U.S. or is processed 
in the U.S. substantially using agricultural commodities that are produced in 
the U.S. as provided in 7 CFR 210.21(d). 
The District may deviate from this general requirement only if: 

 The product is not produced or manufactured in the U.S. in sufficient 
and reasonably available quantities of a satisfactory quality; or 

 Competitive bids reveal the costs of a U.S. product are significantly 
higher than the non-domestic product. 

 
 
 

C. Record Keeping  
 

1. Record Retention 
 

a) The District maintains all records that fully show (1) the 
amount of funds under the grant or subgrant; (2) how 
the subgrantee uses those funds; (3) the total cost of 
each project; (4) the share of the total cost of each 
project provided from other sources; (5) other records to 
facilitate an effective audit; and (6) other records to show 
compliance with federal program requirements. 34 C.F.R. 
§§ 76.730-.731 and §§ 75.730-.731.  The District also 
maintains records of significant project experiences and 
results.  34 C.F.R. § 75.732.  These records and accounts 
must be retained and made available for programmatic 
or financial audit.   

 
b) The U.S. Department of Education is authorized to 

recover any federal funds misspent within 5 years before 



Page 15 of 16 

the receipt of a program determination letter.  34 C.F.R. 
§ 81.31(c).  Schedule 10 (Local School Districts) and 
Schedule 24 (Local Agencies General Records) of the 
Nebraska Records Management Division as approved by 
the Nebraska Secretary of State/State Records 
Administrator requires the District to maintain records 
regarding federal awards for a minimum of six (6) years.  
Consequently, the District shall retain records for a 
minimum of six (6) years from the date on which the final 
Financial Status Report is submitted, unless otherwise 
notified in writing to extend the retention period by the 
awarding agency, cognizant agency for audit, oversight 
agency for audit, or cognizant agency for indirect costs.  
However, if any litigation, claim, or audit is started before 
the expiration of the record retention period, the records 
will be retained until all litigation, claims, or audit findings 
involving the records have been resolved and final action 
taken.  2 C.F.R. § 200.333. 

 
c) Records will be destroyed in compliance with Schedule 

10, Schedule 24, and State law.  This includes the 
completion of a Records Disposition Report. 

 
2. Maintenance of Procurement Records  

 
a) The District must maintain records sufficient to detail the 

history of all procurements.  These records will include, 
but are not necessarily limited to the following: rationale 
for the method of procurement, selection of contract 
type, contractor selection or rejection, the basis for the 
contract price (including a cost or price analysis), and 
verification that the contractor is not suspended or 
debarred.   

 
b) Retention of procurement records shall be in accordance 

with applicable law and Board policy. 
 

D. Privacy 
 
The District has protections in place to ensure that the personal information 
of both students and employees is protected.  These include the use of 
passwords that are changed on a regular basis; staff training on the 
requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and 



Page 16 of 16 

State confidentiality requirements; and training on identifying whether an 
individual requesting access to records has the right to the documentation. 
  
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 



Page 1 of 2 
 

3033 
Lending Textbooks to Children Enrolled in Private Schools 

 
Through June 30, 2024, the school district shall make textbooks available to 
private school children who reside within the district or are otherwise entitled 
to borrow them pursuant to statute and 92 Nebraska Administrative Code, 
section 4.  The district is obligated to purchase and lend textbooks only to the 
extent that the Legislature appropriates funds to the Nebraska Department of 
Education to be distributed for this purpose.  As used in this policy, “textbooks” 
shall have the definition adopted by the Nebraska State Board of Education in 
Rule 4.   
 
The district shall make a request for funds by filing an application on the form 
prescribed by the Department of Education no later than February 15th prior 
to the school year for which the application is made. The application shall 
include: the number of applications received; the number of textbooks 
requested; the number of textbooks needed to be purchased to fill the 
requests; the purchase price of the textbooks needed to be purchased which 
may include up to 5% of the cost to defray administrative expense; the title, 
purchase price, and number requested of each textbook including any shipping 
or handling charges; and if applicable the amount of carryover funds 
remaining from the previous year, amount of funds on hand from sale of 
unused textbooks, and amount of funds on hand from reimbursements for 
damaged textbook.  
 
Textbooks which have not been requested for three consecutive years may be 
classified as unused and disposed of by sale or otherwise.  
 
On or before November 15th, the district shall prepare a list of textbooks that 
are designated for use in the district during the current year and a list of new 
textbooks designated for use the following school year.  The lists shall be kept 
current and in a place where they may be viewed during regular business 
hours. The district shall maintain a separate inventory of textbooks purchased 
for the use of private school children residing in the district.  
 
Any parent or legal guardian who wishes to borrow textbooks shall submit an 
application on the form prescribed by the Department of Education to the 
district’s administration offices on or before January 15th prior to the school 
year for which the application is made. The district shall maintain a supply of 
blank application forms and receipt forms.  It shall keep the forms that have 
been signed by parents and guardians in a separate file for at least 5 years. 
It shall notify the parents and guardians at least 10 days prior to the start of 



Page 2 of 2 
 

school when and where the textbooks will be available.  It shall make 
textbooks available to parents or guardians on or before August 15th.  If the 
number of textbooks for a particular subject or grade level is insufficient to fill 
all of the requests, the textbooks shall be distributed to parents and guardians 
based on a random drawing. 
 
Parents and guardians shall sign a receipt on the form prescribed by the 
Department of Education when they pick up the textbooks and shall return 
the textbooks that can be returned no later than 15 days after the district’s 
last day of class.  The district shall assess the returned textbooks for damage 
beyond normal wear and tear.  The parent or guardian who signed the receipt 
is responsible for paying the reasonable cost of the repair or replacement of 
any book that is damaged, lost, stolen, or not returned. 
 
The school district shall limit the loan each year to ten textbooks per student 
for students in grades K-6 and to eight textbooks per student for students in 
grades 7-12. 
 
This policy shall terminate July 1, 2024. 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



3036 
Purchasing (Credit) Card Program 

 
The board approves the use of a purchasing card (credit card) program for the 
purchase of goods and services for and on behalf of the school district.  The 
board shall will determine the type of purchasing card or cards to be used in 
the program and shall may contract with a third-party provider as provided 
by law.   
 
Authorized Purchases.  Authorized users have standing authority to use the 
purchasing card to charge actual, necessary, and reasonable travel expenses 
and [insert other standing authorized expenditures].  Otherwise, the 
purchasing card may only be used to purchase goods and services approved 
by the board or the superintendent or designee.  The maximum amount that 
may be charged in a single day is $[insert amount]. 
 
Unauthorized Purchases.  In no event shall the purchasing card be used for 
personal purchases, purchases that are not school related, alcohol purchases, 
or purchases that are not allowed by law.  Such unauthorized use shall result 
in discipline, up to and including the end of employment.  Individuals who 
make unauthorized purchases shall reimburse the district for the expense 
within ten days of the purchase or the discovery of the unauthorized purchase, 
whichever occurs first. 
 
Authorized Users.  Individuals holding the following titles may be assigned 
an individual purchasing card:  ___________________________________.  
The board may take action at any meeting to authorize additional users or to 
revoke or suspend user privileges.  Such action shall be recorded in the 
minutes.  The school shall may also maintain a purchasing card in the name 
of the school district.  School district employees may purchase school related 
goods and services with the school district credit card only with authorization 
from the superintendent.   
 
Documentation.  Employees seeking reimbursement for a purchasing card 
purchase shall must submit an itemized receipt and a purchasing card receipt 
to the school district.  The itemized receipt shall must include the name of the 
business, contact information, the date, a description of each item sufficient 
to give the board reasonable notice of the item purchased, and the price.  A 
non-itemized credit card receipt alone is not sufficient.  Designated 
school personnel shall maintain the documentation for at least 10 7 years or 
as otherwise required by Schedule 10 – Local School Districts or Schedule 24 
– Local Agencies (General Records) maintained by the Nebraska Records 
Management Division.  Employees shall must maintain copies of any 
documentation submitted to the school district. 



 
Suspension or Termination of Privileges.  The board or the superintendent 
(or his or her designee) (1) shall temporarily or permanently suspend the 
purchasing card privileges of any individual that does not submit an itemized 
receipt for each purchasing card purchase, and (2) may temporarily or 
permanently suspend the purchasing card privileges of any individual for any 
other reason.  The individual’s purchasing card account shall must be 
immediately closed and he or she shall must return the purchasing card to the 
superintendent or board.  Purchases that are not accompanied by the required 
documentation shall be considered unauthorized, and the individual making 
the purchase shall must reimburse the district within 10 days of the purchase 
or the discovery of the non-itemized purchase, whichever occurs first.   
 
Reward Points or Rebates.  Any reward points, rebates, or other benefits 
received from the third-party purchasing card company are and shall remain 
the property of the school district.   
 
Purchase Review Procedures.  The superintendent, or his or her designee, 
and _________ shall will conduct independent reviews of credit card 
expenses, or a sample thereof, on a monthly basis.  Any unlawful or 
unauthorized expenditure or other discrepancy shall will be brought to the 
attention of the offending employee, if any, and the board.  The 
superintendent or his or her designee shall will provide the board at each 
regular meeting with the documentation submitted pursuant to this policy or 
a summary of that documentation with a description of each item sufficient to 
give the board reasonable notice of the items purchased.  Any unlawful or 
unauthorized purchase shall must be addressed as provided in this policy or 
as otherwise allowed by law.   
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 

 



 

Page 1 of 2 

50633059 
Audio and Video Recording  

 
Students, staff, and their parents/ or guardians, and patrons should assume 
that any class in which students are enrolledor activitiesy in the school may 
be recorded by the school district or other students for legitimate educational 
purposes.  There is no reasonable expectation of privacy within classrooms, 
common areas of the school building or on school grounds outside of the 
building.  Recordings permitted pursuant to this policy may only be used for 
authorized purposes and may not be republished without additional, written 
consent from a school administrator.  For purposes of this policy “recording” 
includes still photographs, video, audio, and other similar data captured in any 
medium. 
 
Secret Recordings.  No person is permitted to make surreptitious recordings 
on school grounds unless authorized by the superintendent. 
 
Recordings Made by The District.  The district may use cameras or other 
devices for purposes of making security, safety, or other recordings without a 
specific purpose or for a specific purpose when such recordings are deemed 
necessary or appropriate by the administrationan authorized representative 
of the district.  The district will not maintain the recordings unless the 
recording is purposefully copied and saved.  Any recording not copied and 
maintained separately , and the recordings will may only be available 
accessible by the administrationauthorized representative for review for a 
limited time. based on the district’s then-current recording capacity.  The 
district administrators estimate that this is approximately 10 days but may 
change at any time. Recordings made by the district may be destroyed by an 
authorized representative at any time unless retention is required by law. 
 
Recordings Made by Parents/Guardians and Patrons.    
Parents/guardians and patrons may make recordings of school activities in a 
non-disruptive manner including things like athletic contests and school board 
meetings to the extent permitted by law, unless otherwise lawfully restricted 
by the administration.  Parents/guardians or patrons may not make recordings 
if they are volunteering or visiting school during the school day without 
permission of the administration or supervising staff member and subject to 
this policy, such as recording their child’s classroom activities or recess.  
Violation of this policy may be grounds for exclusion from school 
propertyproperty, loss of volunteer privileges, or other restrictions deemed 
appropriate by the administration. 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold



 

Page 2 of 2 

Classroom Recordings Made by Staff.  Staff members may make audio 
and video recordings of classroom instruction, student behavior or 
performance, and school activities only upon authorization of without prior 
administrative approval only for legitimate educational purposes the 
superintendent or supervising administratoradministration or to comply with 
a student’s education plan, as described below.  Staff members may not make 
secret recordings while on duty, even if those recordings do not violate state 
or federal criminal or privacy laws.  Staff members who violate this provision 
may be subject to consequences up to termination for classified staff and 
cancellation of contract for certificated staff. 
 
Prohibited Recordings Made by Students.  This policy applies to students 
Unless otherwise authorized by this policy or law, students are prohibited from 
making audio or video recordings during the school day on school grounds; 
when being transported to and from school activities or programs in a vehicle 
owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for a school purpose by 
a school employee or by his or her designee; or at a school-sponsored activity 
or athletic event.  Students may make recordings of school activities in a non-
disruptive manner including things like athletic contests and other 
extracurricular performances to the extent permitted by law.  Students 
generally are not permitted to record classroom instruction or members of the 
school community during the school day without the express consent of a staff 
member or as required by the student’s education plan.  Student use of 
assistive technology that has the capacity to record and/or transmit recordings 
(e.g. AngelSense) must be approved by the student’s education team or 
administration. , unless the recording is made in a manner permitted by the 
schoolthis policy for other members of the public.  In such an instance, the 
sStudents remain subject to the district’s appropriate use and student 
disciplineall other district policies and rules.  For example, this policy does not 
prohibit students from making recordings of an athletic event for their 
personal use similar to a parent or other patron, subject to other applicable 
board policy.  In no event shall photographs or video recordings be taken or 
made in restrooms, locker rooms, or other areas where there is a reasonable 
expectation of privacy. 
 
However, this policy generally prohibits students from using smart-speakers 
or other devices which actively or passively create or transmit audio or video 
recordings, including Google Home, Amazon Alexa, Apple HomePod, and 
AngelSense devices. 
 
Permitted Classroom Recordings Made by Students.  Students may 
make audio or video recordings of classroom lectures or discussions: 



 

Page 3 of 2 

 
(1) For their convenience after providing notice to the classroom teacher 

and receiving the teacher’s permission; 
(2) For the benefit of another student who is absent after providing 

notice to the classroom teacher and receiving the teacher’s 
permission; 

(3) If recording is necessary to accommodate the student’s disability and 
is required by the student’s Individualized Education Plan (IEP) or 
Section 504 Plan. 

 
Staff may revoke permission to record if the recording distracts from or 
disrupts the classroom environment, unless the recording is necessary to 
accommodate a student’s disability.   
 
Permitted Non-classroom Recordings.  Students may make audio or video 
recordings otherwise prohibited by this policy outside the classroom only with 
the permission of a teacher or school administrator, provided that such 
recordings otherwise comply with any applicable state and federal laws and 
district policy.  In no event shall photographs or video recordings be taken or 
made in restrooms, locker rooms, or other areas where there is a reasonable 
expectation of privacy.   
 
Use of Smart Devices.  This policy generally prohibits anyone (including staff 
orand students) from using smart speakers or other devices which actively or 
passively create or transmit audio or video recordings, including Google Home, 
Amazon Alexa, Apple HomePod, and AngelSense devices, without the 
permission of the administration or as permitted by law. 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 
 

Formatted: Font: Bold



4003 
Drug Policy Regarding Drivers 

 
Policy Statement.  Drivers for the school district must be free from drug and 
alcohol abuse, and the use of illegal drugs or improper use of alcohol is 
prohibited.  The overall goal of drug and alcohol testing is to insure a drug-
free and alcohol-free transportation environment, and to reduce accidents, 
injuries and fatalities. 
 
Designated Contact.  The school district has designated [insert designated 
individual] as the individual any driver may contact with questions about this 
policy or the school district’s drug testing program and procedures for drivers.  
This individual further maintains and will provide drivers informational 
materials concerning the effects of alcohol and controlled substances use on 
an individual’s health, work, and personal life; signs and symptoms of an 
alcohol or a controlled substances problem (the driver’s or a co-worker’s); and 
available methods of intervening when an alcohol or controlled substances 
problem is suspected, including confrontation, referral to any employee 
assistance program and/or referral to management.   
 
[Insert designated individual] may be contacted at [insert contact 
information.] 
 
Covered Drivers.  Any person who operates a commercial motor vehicle on 
behalf of the school district is covered by this policy and the school district’s 
drug testing program and procedures for drivers.  All covered drivers must 
provide the school district a signed statement certifying that he or she has 
received a copy of this policy and related materials. 
 
Covered Workday.  A driver is required to comply with this policy and the 
terms of the school district’s drug testing program and procedures for drivers 
at all times they are assigned, or may be assigned, to perform safety-sensitive 
functions.  This includes all time from the time a driver begins to work or is 
required to be in readiness to work until the time he/she is relieved from work 
and all responsibility for performing work.  Safety-sensitive functions include: 
(1) all time at a school district facility or property, contractor facility or 
property, or on any public property, waiting to be dispatched, unless the driver 
has been relieved from duty by the school district; (2) all time inspecting 
equipment as required by state or federal law or regulation and any and all 
other time inspecting, servicing, or conditioning any commercial motor 
vehicle; (3) all time spent at the driving controls of a commercial motor vehicle 
in operation; (4) all time, other than driving time, in or upon any commercial 
motor vehicle; (5) all time loading or unloading a vehicle, supervising, or 
assisting in the loading or unloading, attending a vehicle being loaded or 



unloaded, remaining in readiness to operate the vehicle, or in giving or 
receiving receipts for shipments loaded or unloaded; and (6) all time repairing, 
obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance upon a disabled vehicle. 
 
Prohibited Conduct.  No driver shall: (1) report for duty or remain on duty 
requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions while having an alcohol 
concentration of 0.04 or greater; (2) use alcohol while performing safety-
sensitive functions; (3) perform safety-sensitive functions within four hours 
after using alcohol; or (4) refuse to submit to a pre-employment controlled 
substance, a post-accident alcohol or controlled substance test, a random 
alcohol or controlled substances test, a reasonable suspicion alcohol or 
controlled substance test, a return-to-duty alcohol or controlled substances 
test, or a follow-up alcohol or controlled substance test required under state 
or federal law or this policy.  No driver required to take a post-accident alcohol 
test shall use alcohol for eight hours following the accident, or until he/she 
undergoes a post-accident alcohol test, whichever occurs first.   
 
No driver shall: (1) report for duty or remain on duty requiring the 
performance of safety sensitive functions when the driver uses any drug or 
substance identified in 31 CFR 1308.11 Schedule 1; (2) report for duty or 
remain on duty requiring the performance of safety-sensitive functions when 
the driver uses any non-Schedule I drug or substance that is identified in the 
other Schedules in 21 CFR part 1308 except when the use is pursuant to the 
instructions of a licensed medical practitioner who is familiar with the driver's 
medical history and has advised the driver that the substance will not 
adversely affect the driver's ability to safely operate a commercial motor 
vehicle; or (3) report for duty, remain on duty or perform a safety-sensitive 
function, if the driver tests positive or has adulterated or substituted a test 
specimen for controlled substances. 
 
Types of Testing.  Pursuant to regulations promulgated by the Department 
of Transportation (DOT), the district has implemented four types of testing: 
(1) pre-employment testing, (2) reasonable cause testing, (3) post-accident 
testing and (4) random testing. 
 
Refusal to Submit to Testing.  A driver shall not refuse to submit to testing.  
A driver will be considered to have refused to submit to testing if the driver 
fails to provide a sample or specimen necessary for testing upon a lawful 
request, consistent with the required testing protocols.  The refusal to submit 
to the testing used by the district will be grounds for refusal to hire driver 
applicants and to terminate the employment of existing drivers.   
 
Consequences for Violations.  Any driver who becomes unqualified on the 
basis of violation of the terms of this policy will be subject to disciplinary action 



which may include termination of the driver’s employment, and shall include 
the immediate removal from safety-sensitive functions in compliance with 
federal law.  No driver tested pursuant to this policy and the school district’s 
drug testing program and procedures who is found to have an alcohol 
concentration of 0.02 or greater but less than 0.04 shall perform or continue 
to perform safety-sensitive functions until the start of the driver’s next 
regularly scheduled duty period, but not less than 24 hours following 
administration of the test. 
 
Return to Duty Process.  A driver who has violated this policy or the school 
district drug testing program and procedures cannot again perform any safety-
sensitive functions until and unless the employee completes the return-to-
duty process, including the substance-abuse professional’s (SAP) evaluation, 
referral, and recommended education or treatment.  The school district will 
provide employees the relevant contact information for available and 
acceptable SAPs as necessary, but the school district is not required under the 
law to provide a SAP evaluation or any subsequent recommended education 
or treatment for a driver.  Any driver completing the return-to-duty process 
must complete a return-to-duty test and test negatively.  
 
Disqualification.  Any applicant who tests positive for the presence of the 
following drugs is medically unqualified to drive and will not be considered for 
the position of driver: (1) marijuana, (2) cocaine, (3) opiates, (4) 
amphetamines, or (5) phencyclidine (PCP).  Any district driver who tests 
positive shall be medically unqualified and removed from service immediately. 
 
Pre-employment Testing.  All applicants for employment must submit to 
drug and alcohol tests as a condition of being considered for employment. 
 
Reasonable Cause Testing.  The district shall have reasonable cause to 
require a driver to submit to drug testing when a driver manifests physical or 
physiological symptoms or reactions commonly attributed to the use of 
controlled substances or alcohol.  
 
Post-Accident Testing.  A driver who has been involved in a reportable 
accident must submit to drug and alcohol testing as soon as possible.  A 
reportable accident includes any accident in which there is a fatality, a person 
is injured and must be treated away from the accident site, the driver receives 
a citation for a moving violation, or a vehicle is towed from the scene.  The 
driver must notify the district immediately regarding any reportable accident.  
 
Serious Injury to the Driver.  If a driver is so seriously injured that he or 
she cannot submit to testing at or immediately after the time of the accident, 
the driver must provide the necessary authorization for the district to obtain 



hospital reports or other documents that would indicate whether there were 
controlled substances or alcohol in the driver's system. 
 
Random Testing.  All drivers will be subject to unannounced random testing 
for drugs and alcohol.  The district or its agents will periodically select drivers 
at random for testing.  A district official will notify a driver when his or her 
name has been selected and will instruct the driver to report immediately for 
testing.  By its very nature, random selection may result in one driver being 
tested more than once in a 12-month period, while another driver may not be 
selected at all during the same 12 months. 
 
Frequency of Random Testing.  Under DOT regulations, the district must 
test at least 50 percent of its average number of driver positions for drugs and 
25 percent of its average number of driver positions for alcohol each year.  
The tests must be unannounced and spread evenly throughout the year.  DOT 
regulations also require that every driver selected at random must have his 
or her name placed back in the random pool for the next selection period. 
 
Testing Procedure.  All urine and blood specimens collected under the policy 
will be submitted to an approved laboratory for testing.  Specimens that 
initially test positive for drugs will be subjected to a subsequent confirmation 
test before being reported by the laboratory as positive.  All such specimens 
collected and submitted will be maintained securely to safeguard the validity 
of the test results and maintain the integrity of the testing process while 
ensuring the results are attributed to the correct driver.  
 
Medical Resource Review Officer.  All laboratory test results will be 
reported by the laboratory to a medical review officer (MRO) designated by 
the district.  Negative test results will be reported as such by the MRO to the 
district.  Before reporting a positive test result to the district, the MRO will 
attempt to contact the driver to discuss the test result.  If the MRO is unable 
to contact the driver directly, the MRO will contact a district official designated 
in advance by the district, who shall in turn contact the driver and direct the 
driver to contact the MRO.  Upon being so directed, the driver shall contact 
the MRO immediately or, if after the MRO's business hours and the MRO is 
unavailable, at the start of the MRO's next business day.  If required by DOT 
regulations, personal information collected and maintained pursuant to this 
policy shall be reported to the Clearinghouse by the MRO in the event of: (1) 
a verified positive, adulterated, or substituted drug test result; (2) an alcohol 
confirmation test with a concentration of 0.04 or higher; (3) a refusal to 
submit to any test required by this policy and the school district’s drug testing 
program and procedures; (4) an employer’s report of actual knowledge that a 
driver has used alcohol or controlled substances based on the employer's 
direct observation of the employee, information provided by the driver's 



previous employer(s), a traffic citation for driving a CMV while under the 
influence of alcohol or controlled substances or an employee's admission of 
alcohol or controlled substance use; (5) on duty alcohol use as prohibited 
above; (6) pre-duty alcohol use as prohibited above; (7) alcohol use following 
an accident as prohibited above; (8) controlled substance use as prohibited 
above; (9) a substance abuse professional report of the successful completion 
of the return-to-duty process; (10) a negative return-to-duty test; and (11) 
an employer’s report of completion of follow-up testing.  
 
Confidentiality.  Pursuant to DOT regulations, individual test results for 
applicants and drivers will be released to the district and will be kept 
confidential unless the tested individual consents to their release or release is 
required by law (such as the release of information to the Clearinghouse.)  
Any person who has submitted to drug testing in compliance with this policy 
is entitled to receive the results of such testing upon timely written request.   
 
Retesting.  An individual who tested positive for the presence of drugs may 
request that the original sample be retested.  The request for a retest must 
be submitted in writing on a form provided by the district within 3 working 
days of the district’s notification to the individual that he or she has a positive 
test result.  The individual making the request must pay all costs associated 
with the retest and transfer of the sample to another laboratory before the 
retest will be performed. 
 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 



4059 
Suicide PreventionBehavioral and Mental Health Training  

 
All public school employees who interact with students and any other 
appropriate personnel are required to complete at least one hour of behavioral 
and mental health training with a focus on suicide awareness and prevention 
training every year.  The superintendent will determine the appropriate 
personnel required to receive the training.:  The training materials for this 
training must be included in the Nebraska Department of Education’s list of 
approved training materials.   
school nurses 
teachers 
counselors 
school psychologists 
administrators 
school social workers 
community coaches  
paraeducators 
bus drivers 
kitchen staff 
custodians  
secretarial and clerical staff  

 
These employees must complete the online training designated by the school 
district or superintendent provided by the Nebraska Department of Education 
no later than October 31 of each school year or within 30 days of their initial 
employment, whichever is later.  Failure to complete this training shall 
constitute just cause for the termination or nonrenewal of anmay subject the 
employee to employment-related discipline employee’s contract.   
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



Page 1 of 3 

5003 
Admission of Part-Time Students  

 
A student may be permitted to enroll on a part-time basis pursuant to this 
policy and applicable curricular practices when enrollment is appropriate for 
reasons that include but are not limited to the following: the student attends 
another education institution on a part-time basis; is enrolled for a limited 
number of credit hours needed to graduate; has a modified schedule because 
of a disability or as part of an individualized education plan; or is a student 
who resides in the school district but attends a private, denominational, or 
parochial school or a school that elects not to meet accreditation or approval 
requirements (referred to herein as an exempt school student or an exempt 
school, respectively).  
 
Application for Enrollment.  The parent or guardian of an exempt school 
student who is of appropriate age to attend school, resides inis a resident of 
the school district, has not graduated from high school, and has not received 
a graduate equivalency diploma must meet all of the district’s admission 
requirements and file an application for enrollment on forms provided by the 
school district by _____________ of the year of enrollment.  For second 
semester high school courses, the application must be filed by 
_____________.  For students who move into the district mid-semester, the 
application must be filed within 20 days of moving into the district.  The 
administration shall review the application, determine whether to approve or 
deny it, notify the parent or guardian, and schedule enrollment at an 
educationally appropriate time in the building or attendance center of the 
administration’s choice.  Enrollment does not carry over from one school year 
to the next, and the parent or guardian of an exempt school student must 
apply for enrollment each school year. 
 
Limitations Based on Resources.  The enrollment of exempt school 
students is subject to limitations established by the district for grades, classes, 
courses, and programs based on the limited resources available to the school 
district.  Full-time students shall be given priority for enrollment in grades, 
classes, courses, and programs. 
 
Placement of Students.  Exempt school students shall be placed in courses 
for which they have adequate preparation and which are determined to be 
educationally appropriate based on criteria that include, but are not limited to 
the student’s age, achievement test scores, academic record, evaluation by 
school personnel and any other standards used by the district for the 
placement of students. 
 



Page 2 of 3 

Grades and Academic Honors.  Exempt school students shall receive 
grades, report cards, and transcripts, but shall not be eligible to graduate, 
receive a diploma or qualify for class ranking unless they meet all district 
requirements for such including earning a sufficient number of credit hours 
and semesters of attendance. 
 
Applicability of School Rules.  Exempt school students are subject to all 
rules and standards of the board of education and administration as set forth 
in policy, handbooks or other communications, as well as the rules and 
directives of the building administration and teaching personnel.  They must 
remain on the school campus during scheduled classes but must leave the 
school campus when not engaged in a course or course-related activity unless 
the course or course-activity requires their presence or the building principal 
approves their presence.  Students who violate school policies, rules, or 
directives shall be subject to disciplinary procedures up to and including 
suspension and expulsion. 
 
Extracurricular Sports and Activities.  Students who are enrolled in a 
private, denominational or parochial school may not participate in 
extracurricular sports and activities sponsored by the public school district if 
they participate in extracurricular sports and activities offered by the private, 
denominational or parochial school.  Exempt school students may participate 
in extracurricular sports and activities if they are enrolled in at least 20 credit 
hours per semester, with at least 10 5 credit hours per semesterof enrollment 
in the public school district.  Exempt school students who are not enrolled in 
at least 10-credit hours may not participate in extracurricular sports and 
activities.  All part-time students must also meet all other eligibility 
requirements set by the board, administration and coach/sponsor prior to 
participating and for continued participation in the sport or activity. This 
includes all eligibility and other requirements of the Nebraska School Activities 
Association and any other governing bodies for the activity. 
 
Exempt school students who transfer into the district will be considered a 
transfer student and shall be ineligible for varsity competition for ninety school 
days unless the home school is located in the same school district as the high 
school to which the student is transferring.   
 
The school district will determine whether credits awarded to exempt transfer 
students will be accepted for the purpose of eligibility for extracurricular sports 
and activities pursuant to the board’s policy on Grade Placement and Academic 
Credits of Transfer Students. 
 
Transportation. Part-time school students are not entitled to transportation 
or reimbursement for transportation to and from the school for class 



Page 3 of 3 

attendance purposes, unless required by law. by virtue of their status as part-
time students.Eligible part-time students are entitled to transportation to and 
from practices and extracurricular events to the same extent as the school 
district’s full-time students, but part-time students must arrange their own 
transportation and arrive timely to the designated pick-up point for such 
transportation. 
 
Option Enrollment.  Students may not enroll on a part-time basis pursuant 
to the school’s option enrollment program.  
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 
 



 

Page 1 of 6 

5004 
Option Enrollment 

  
The board of education supports the concept embodied in the Enrollment 

Option Program that parents and legal guardians have the primary 
responsibility for insuring that their children receive the best education 
possible.  Accordingly, the school district will participate in the option 
enrollment program and receive option students as provided herein.  
  
1. Definitions 
 

a. Option Student Defined.  Option student shall mean a 
nonresident student who has chosen to attend the school district 
under the provisions of the option enrollment program. 

 
b. Resident School District Defined.  Resident school district shall 

mean the school district in which a student resides or in which the 
student is admitted as a resident of the school district pursuant to 
state law.  

 
c. Option School District Defined.  Option school district shall 

mean the school district that a student chooses to attend other 
than his or her resident school district.   

 
2. Persons Entitled to Apply for Option Enrollment of Students.  Only 

parents and legal guardians may apply for option enrollment of 
students.  Applications filed by foster parents and adults acting in loco 
parentis are not authorized and will be automatically denied.  
 

3. Duties, Entitlements and Rights of Option Students.  Except as 
otherwise provided herein, once an option student’s option enrollment 
application has been accepted he/she shall be treated as a resident 
student of the school district.   

  
4. Standards for Acceptance or Rejection of Option Students.   
 

a. Special Education Capacity.  Capacity for special education 
services will be determined on a case-by-case basis.  If an 
application for option enrollment received by the school district 
indicates that the student has an individualized education program 
under the  federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 20 
U.S.C. 1400 et seq., or has been diagnosed with a disability as 
defined in section 79-1118.01, the application will be evaluated 
by the director of special education services or the director's 



 

Page 2 of 6 

designee who must determine if the school district and the 
appropriate class, grade level, or school building has the capacity 
to provide the applicant the appropriate services and 
accommodations.  The Federal Educational Rights and Privacy 
Rights Act (FERPA) (20 U.S.C. § 1232g) permits the release of 
education records when a student seeks or intends to enroll in a 
different school district.   
 

a.b. Numeric Capacity.  The board of education may set the numeric 
capacity of programs, classes, grade levels, or school buildings by 
operation of this policy or through freestanding action by the 
board.  Numeric Capacity will be determined based upon available 
staff, facilities, projected enrollment of resident students, and 
projected number of students with which the option school district 
will contract based on existing contractual arrangements, and 
availability of appropriate special education programs. Individuals 
seeking information about the numeric capacity set by the board 
may contact the superintendent for a copy of that resolution.   
 

b.c. Programmatic Capacity.   In addition to the numeric capacity 
standards referred to above, the board may, by resolution, prior 
to October 15 of each school year, declare a program, a class, or 
a school unavailable for the next school year to option students 
due to lack of capacity.  Individuals seeking information about the 
programs that have been declared to be unavailable due to lack 
of capacity may contact the superintendent for a copy of the 
board’s resolution.   

 
c.d. Other Standards for Acceptance or Rejection of Option 

Enrollment Applications.   In addition to the numeric and 
programmatic capacity standards outlined above, the school 
district shall not accept an option student when acceptance of the 
student:  
 
i. Would increase the operating costs of the school district, 

such as by requiring the hiring of new staff or contracting 
with outside entities to provide services to the student;  

ii. Would require the procurement of new equipment, 
technology, or furnishings;  

iii. Would cause or require the rearrangement of caseloads for 
staff and contracted professionals;  

iv. Is reasonably deemed by appropriate school staff to pose a 
potential risk to the health or safety of students or staff; 



 

Page 3 of 6 

v. May pose a risk of adversely affecting the quality of 
educational services being provided to resident students, as 
determined by appropriate school staff.   

 
d. The school district shall accept an option student with a disability 

only to the extent that the school district's then current staff and 
facilities are sufficient to accommodate the student’s needs 
without significantly increasing the operating costs of the school 
district, such as by requiring the hiring of new staff.  

 
e. Prohibited Standards.  The school district shall not base the 

decision to accept or reject an option student on the student's 
previous academic achievement, athletic or other extracurricular 
ability, disabling condition(s), proficiency in the English language, 
or previous disciplinary proceedings. 

 
f. Order of Acceptance.  If there are more option student 

applicants for any program, class, grade level or school building 
than can be accepted into such program, class, grade level or 
school building, applicants shall be accepted in the following 
order:   

 
i. students with brothers or sisters attending the school 

district, either as resident students or as option students, 
shall be granted first priority;  

 
ii. thereafter, option students shall be accepted into such 

program, class, grade level or school building in the order in 
which written applications were received by the school 
district. 

 
g.  Maximum Capacity Report.  The school district will annually 
establish, publish, and report the capacity for each school building 
under the district's control pursuant to procedures, criteria, and 
deadlines established by the Nebraska Department of Education. 

 
5. False or Misleading Option Applications.  If, prior to the student’s 

attendance as an option student, the school district discovers that a 
previously accepted option application contained false or substantively 
misleading information, the option application will be rejected. 

 
 
6. Academic Credits and Graduation.  The school district shall accept 

credits toward graduation that were awarded by another school district, 



 

Page 4 of 6 

and shall award a diploma to an option student if the student meets the 
graduation requirements of the school district.   

 
7. Information Regarding Schools, Programs, Policies and 

Procedures.  The school district, its officers and employees, shall make 
information about the school district and its schools, programs, policies 
and procedures available to all interested people. 

 
8. Procedure for Students Optioning Into or Out of the School 

District.  
 

a. The parent or legal guardian of any student desiring to option into 
or out of the school district shall submit a proper and timely 
application to the board of education and the other affected school 
district for enrollment during the following and subsequent school 
years.  Any application requiring the approval of the school district 
shall be deemed submitted when the application is actually 
received in the school district's business office. 

 
b. On or before April 1st, the school district shall notify the parent or 

legal guardian of any student who has submitted an application to 
option into the school district and the resident school district, in 
writing, whether the application is accepted or rejected.  If an 
application is rejected, the reason for such rejection shall be 
stated in the notification.  This written notice shall be sent via 
certified mail to the address listed on the option application.  

 
9. Late Applications and Requests for Release  
 

a. The board of education may refuse a request of a student seeking 
to option out of the school district when the option application is 
submitted after March 15th under the following conditions: 
 
i. When the district has already entered into contracts with 

teaching staff for the following school year; 
 

ii. When the district has already contracted for the 
performance of specific services for the student; 
 

iii. When the release of the student would have a negative 
financial impact or loss of revenue for the district. 

 
b. The board of education will approve late applications to option into 

the district under the following conditions: 



 

Page 5 of 6 

 
i. When the resident district has released the student; 

 
ii. When the student’s late enrollment into the district meets 

the standards for acceptance or rejection of option students 
contained elsewhere in this policy; 
 
OR 
 

b. The board of education will deny all applications to option into the 
district that are received by the district after March 15 of the 
school year prior to the student’s requested enrollment.   

 
 
c. The superintendent will notify parents or guardians who have 

submitted properly completed option applications after March 15th 
no later than 60 days following submission of the application of 
the board’s acceptance or rejection of the application.     

   
10. Students Who Do Not Need a Release from the Resident District  

 
a. A student does not need to be released from his/her resident 

district under the following circumstances: 
i. When the student has relocated to a different resident 

school district after February 1 
ii. When a student's option school district merges with another 

district effective after February 1 
 

b. The school district shall accept or reject an application from a 
student under this paragraph using the criteria set forth in this 
policy and will accept or reject the application within forty-five 
days. 
 

11. Cancellation of Option.   
 
Students who option either into or out of the school district shall:   
 

a. Attend the option school district until graduation or relocation/re-
option in a different resident school district unless the student 
chooses to return to the resident school district, in which case the 
student's parent or legal guardian shall timely submit a 
cancellation form to the school board or board of education of the 
option school district and the resident school district for approval 
for the following year.   



 

Page 6 of 6 

 
b. Attend an option school district for not less than one school year 

unless the student relocates to a different resident school district, 
completes requirements for graduation prior to the end the school 
year, transfers to a parochial or private school, or upon mutual 
agreement of the resident and option school districts cancels the 
enrollment option and returns to the resident school district. 

 
12. Authority of Superintendent.   
 
The board of education authorizes the superintendent of schools to make 
decisions on its behalf pursuant to and to apply the criteria articulated by this 
policy in determining whether to grant or deny option enrollment applications. 

 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



Page 1 of 11 

5035 
Student Discipline 

 
Administrative and teaching personnel may take actions regarding student 
behavior, other than those specifically provided in this policy and the Student 
Discipline Act, which are reasonably necessary to aid the student, further 
school purposes, or prevent interference with the educational process. Such 
actions may include, but need not be limited to, counseling of students, parent 
conferences, referral to restorative justice practices or services, 
rearrangement of schedules, requirements that a student remain in school 
after regular hours to do additional work, restriction of extracurricular activity, 
or requirements that a student receive counseling, psychological evaluation, 
or psychiatric evaluation upon the written consent of a parent or guardian to 
such counseling or evaluation.  Disciplinary consequences may also include in-
school suspension, Saturday School, and any other consequence authorized 
by law.  District administrators may develop building-specific protocols for the 
imposition of student discipline.   
 
In this policy, references to "Principal" shall include building principals, the 
principal's designee, or other appropriate school district administrators.   
 
Any statement, notice, recommendation, determination, or similar action 
specified in this policy shall be effectively given at the time written evidence 
thereof is delivered personally to or upon receipt of certified or registered mail 
or upon actual knowledge by a student or his or her parent or guardian. 
 
Any student who is suspended or expelled from school pursuant to this policy 
may not participate in any school activity during the duration of that exclusion 
including adjacent school holidays and weekends.  The student activity 
eligibility of a student who is mandatorily reassigned shall be determined on 
a case-by-case basis by the principal of the building to which the student is 
reassigned. 
 
Pre-Kindergarten through Second Grade Students 
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this policy, an elementary school shall 
not suspend a student in pre-kindergarten through second grade unless the 
student brings a deadly weapon as defined in section 28-109 on school 
grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or contracted by a school being used for 
a school purpose or in a vehicle being driven for a school purpose by a school 
employee or his or her designee, or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic 
event.  As an alternative to suspension, the school district may take any action 
authorized by law, including those provided in section 79-258.   
 



Page 2 of 11 

Makeup Work for Suspended Students 
 
Any student who is suspended must be given an opportunity to complete any 
classwork and homework missed during the period of suspension, including, 
but not limited to, examinations (“makeup work”).  Any makeup work must 
be completed and turned in within 2 school days after completion of the 
suspension.  This makeup guideline shall be provided to the student and a 
parent or guardian at the time of suspension.  Suspended students may not 
be required to attend the school’s alternative program for expelled students 
in order to complete classwork or homework. 
 
 
Short-Term Suspension 
 
The Principal may exclude students from school or any school function for a 
period of up to five school days (short-term suspension) on the following 
grounds: 
 
1. Conduct constituting grounds for expulsion as hereinafter set forth; or, 
2. Other violations of rules and standards of behavior adopted by the Board 

of Education or the administrative or teaching staff of the school, that 
occur on or off school grounds, if such conduct interferes with school 
purposes or there is a connection between such conduct and school. 

 
The following process applies to short-term suspension: 
 
1. The Principal shall make a reasonable investigation of the facts and 

circumstances.  Short-term suspension shall be imposed only after a 
determination that the suspension is necessary to help any student, to 
further school purposes, or to prevent an interference with school 
purposes. 

2. Prior to commencement of the short-term suspension, the student will 
be given oral or written notice of the charges against the student.  The 
student will be advised of what he or she is accused of having done, be 
given an explanation of the evidence the authorities have, and be given 
an opportunity to explain the student's version of the facts. 

3. Within 24 hours or such additional time as is reasonably necessary, not 
to exceed an additional 48 hours, following the suspension, the Principal 
will send a written statement to the student, and the student's parent 
or guardian, describing the student's conduct, misconduct or violation 
of the rule or standard and the reasons for the action taken.  An 
opportunity will be given to the student, and the student's parent or 
guardian, to have a conference with the Principal ordering the short-
term suspension before or at the time the student returns to school and 



Page 3 of 11 

shall document such effort in writing.  The Principal shall determine who, 
in addition to the parent or guardian, is to attend the conference. 

4. Students who are short-term suspended will/will notmust be given the 
opportunity to complete classwork and homework missed during the 
period of suspension, including but not limited to examinations, as 
provided herein.   

 
Emergency Exclusion 
 
Students may be emergency excluded from school pursuant to the board's 
separate policy on emergency exclusion or state law.   
 
 
 
Weapons and/or Firearms 
 
Students may be disciplined for the possession of weapons and/or firearms 
pursuant to the board's separate policy on weapons and firearms or state law.   
 
 
 
 
Long-Term Suspension   
 
Students may be excluded by the Principal from school or any school function 
for a period of more than five school days but less then than twenty school 
days (long-term suspension) for any conduct constituting grounds for 
expulsion as hereinafter set forth.  The process for long-term suspension is 
set forth below. 
 
Expulsion 
 
1. Meaning of Expulsion.  Expulsion means exclusion from attendance in 

all schools, grounds and activities of or within the system for a period 
not to exceed the remainder of the semester in which it took effect 
unless the misconduct occurred (a) within ten school days prior to the 
end of the first semester, in which case the expulsion shall remain in 
effect through the second semester, or (b) within ten school days prior 
to the end of the second semester, in which case the expulsion shall 
remain in effect for summer school and the first semester of the 
following school year, or (c) unless the expulsion is for conduct specified 
in these rules or in law as permitting or requiring a longer removal, in 
which case the expulsion shall remain in effect for the period specified 



Page 4 of 11 

therein.  Such action may be modified or terminated by the school 
district at any time during the expulsion period. 

2. Summer Review.  Any expulsion that will remain in effect during the 
first semester of the following school year will be automatically 
scheduled for review before the beginning of the school year.  The 
review will be conducted by the hearing officer who conducted the initial 
expulsion hearing, or a hearing officer appointed by the Superintendent 
in the event no hearing was previously held or the initial hearing officer 
is no longer available or willing to serve, after the hearing officer has 
given notice of the review to the student and the student's parent or 
guardian.  This review shall be limited to newly discovered evidence or 
evidence of changes in the student's circumstances occurring since the 
original hearing.  This review may lead to a recommendation by the 
hearing officer that the student be readmitted for the upcoming school 
year.  If the school board or board of education or a committee of such 
board took the final action to expel the student, the student may be 
readmitted only by action of the board.  Otherwise the student may be 
readmitted by action of the Superintendent. 

3. Suspension of Enforcement of an Expulsion:  Enforcement of an 
expulsion action may be suspended (i.e., "stayed") for a period of not 
more than one full semester in addition to the balance of the semester 
in which the expulsion takes effect, and as a condition of such suspended 
action, the student may be assigned to a school, class, or program/plan 
and to such other consequences which the school district deems 
appropriate.   

4. Alternative School or Pre-expulsion Procedures. The school shall 
either provide an alternative school, class or educational program for 
expelled students, or shall follow the pre-expulsion procedures outlined 
in NEB. REV. STAT. 79-266. 

4.5. Conclusion of Expulsion.  At the conclusion of an expulsion, the 
school district will reinstate the student and accept nonduplicative, 
grade-appropriate credits earned by the student during the term of 
expulsion from any Nebraska accredited institution or institution 
accredited by one of the six regional accrediting bodies in the United 
States.   

 
Grounds for Long-Term Suspension, Expulsion or Mandatory 
Reassignment:  
 
 The following conduct constitutes grounds for long-term suspension, 
expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, subject to the procedural provisions 
of the Student Discipline Act, NEB. REV. STAT. § 79-254 through 79-296, when 
such activity occurs on school grounds, in a vehicle owned, leased, or 
contracted by a school being used for a school purpose or in a vehicle being 



Page 5 of 11 

driven for a school purpose by a school employee or by his or her designee, 
or at a school-sponsored activity or athletic event: 
  
1. Use of violence, force, coercion, threat, intimidation, or similar conduct 

in a manner that constitutes a substantial interference with school 
purposes; 

2. Willfully causing or attempting to cause substantial damage to property, 
stealing or attempting to steal property of substantial value, or repeated 
damage or theft involving property; 

3. Causing or attempting to cause personal injury to a school employee, to 
a school volunteer, or to any student. Personal injury caused by 
accident, self-defense, or other action undertaken on the reasonable 
belief that it was necessary to protect some other person shall not 
constitute a violation of this subdivision; 

4. Threatening or intimidating any student for the purpose of or with the 
intent of obtaining money or anything of value from such student; 

5. Knowingly possessing, handling, or transmitting any object or material 
that is ordinarily or generally considered a weapon (see also board policy 
on weapons and firearms); 

6. Engaging in the unlawful possession, selling, dispensing, or use of a 
controlled substance or an imitation controlled substance, as defined in 
section 28-401, a substance represented to be a controlled substance, 
or alcoholic liquor as defined in section 53-103.02 or being under the 
influence of a controlled substance or alcoholic liquor (note:  the term 
“under the influence” for school purposes has a less strict meaning than 
it does under criminal law; for school purposes, the term means any 
level of impairment and includes even the odor of alcohol on the breath 
or person of a student; also, it includes being impaired by reason of the 
abuse of any material used as a stimulant); 

7. Public indecency as defined in section 28-806, except that this 
prohibition shall apply only to students at least twelve years of age but 
less than nineteen years of age; 

8. Engaging in bullying as defined in section 79-2,137 and in these policies; 
9. Sexually assaulting or attempting to sexually assault any person if a 

complaint has been filed by a prosecutor in a court of competent 
jurisdiction alleging that the student has sexually assaulted or 
attempted to sexually assault any person, including sexual assaults or 
attempted sexual assaults which occur off school grounds not at a school 
function, activity, or event. For purposes of this subdivision, sexual 
assault means sexual assault in the first degree as defined in section 
28-319, sexual assault in the second degree as defined in section 28-
320, sexual assault of a child in the second or third degree as defined in 
section 28-320.01, or sexual assault of a child in the first degree as 



Page 6 of 11 

defined in section 28-319.01, as such sections now provide or may 
hereafter from time to time be amended; 

10. Engaging in any other activity forbidden by the laws of the State of 
Nebraska which activity constitutes a danger to other students or 
interferes with school purposes; or  

11. A repeated violation of any of the following rules if such violations 
constitute a substantial interference with school purposes: 

a. The use of language, written or oral, or conduct, including 
gestures, which is profane or abusive to students or staff 
members.  Profane or abusive language or conduct includes, but 
is not limited to, that which is commonly understood and intended 
to be derogatory toward a group or individual based upon race, 
gender, national origin, or religion; 

b. Dressing or grooming in a manner which violates the school 
district’s dress code and/or is dangerous to the student's health 
and safety, a danger to the health and safety of others, or which 
is disruptive, distracting or indecent to the extent that it interferes 
with the learning and educational process; 

c. Violating school bus rules as set by the school district or district 
staff; 

d. Possessing, using, selling, or dispensing tobacco, drug 
paraphernalia, an electronic nicotine delivery system, or a tobacco 
imitation substance or packaging, regardless of form, including 
cigars, cigarettes, chewing tobacco, and any other form of 
tobacco, tobacco derivative product or imitation or electronic 
cigarettes, vapor pens, etc.; 

e. Possessing, using, selling, or dispensing any drug paraphernalia 
or imitation of a controlled substance regardless of whether the 
actual substance possessed is a controlled substance by Nebraska 
law;  

f. Possession of pornography;  
g. Sexting or the possession of sexting images (a combination of sex 

and texting - the act of sending sexually explicit messages or 
photos electronically); 

h. Engaging in hazing, defined as any activity expected of someone 
joining a group, team, or activity that humiliates, degrades or 
risks emotional and/or physical harm, regardless of the person's 
willingness to participate.  Hazing activities are generally 
considered to be:  physically abusive, hazardous, and/or sexually 
violating and include but are not limited to the following: personal 
servitude; sleep deprivation and restrictions on personal hygiene; 
yelling, swearing and insulting new members/rookies; being 
forced to wear embarrassing or humiliating attire in public; 
consumption of vile substances or smearing of such on one's skin; 



Page 7 of 11 

branding; physical beatings; binge drinking and drinking games; 
sexual simulation and sexual assault; 

i. Bullying which shall include cyberbullying, defined as the use of 
the internet, including but not limited to social networking sites 
such as Facebook, cell phones or other devices to send, post or 
text message images and material intended to hurt or embarrass 
another person.  This may include, but is not limited to; continuing 
to send e-mail to someone who has said they want no further 
contact with the sender; sending or posting threats, sexual 
remarks or pejorative labels (i.e., hate speech); ganging up on 
victims by making them the subject of ridicule in forums, and 
posting false statements as fact intended to humiliate the victim; 
disclosure of personal data, such as the victim's real name, 
address, or school at websites or forums; posing as the identity of 
the victim for the purpose of publishing material in their name that 
defames or ridicules them; sending threatening and harassing 
text, instant messages or emails to the victims; and posting or 
sending rumors or gossip to instigate others to dislike and gang 
up on the target; 

j. Violations of the district’s computer acceptable computer use 
policy are subject to discipline, up to and including expulsion;  

k. Knowingly possessing, handling, or transmitting any object or 
material that is ordinarily or generally considered a simulated or 
“look-a-like” weapon; 

l. Using any object to simulate possession of a weapon;  
m. Knowingly making a false statement or knowingly submitting false 

information during the Title IX grievance process or any other 
school investigation or making a materially false statement in bad 
faith in the course of a Title IX grievance proceeding or any other 
school investigation; 

m.n. Violation of the school’s audio and video recording policy; 
and 

n.o. Any other violation of any board policy, handbook provision, 
or a rule or regulation established by a school district staff 
member pursuant to authority delegated by the board. 

  
Due Process Afforded to Students Facing Long-term Suspension or 
Expulsion 
 
The following procedures shall be followed regarding any long-term 
suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment: 
 
1. The decision as to recommend discipline shall be made within two school 

days after learning of the alleged student misconduct.  On the date of 



Page 8 of 11 

the decision to discipline, the Principal shall file with the Superintendent 
a written charge and a summary of the evidence supporting such 
charge.   

2. The Principal shall serve the student and the student's parents or 
guardian with a written notice by registered or certified mail or personal 
service within two school days of the date of the decision to recommend 
long-term suspension or expulsion.  The notice shall include the 
following: 

 
a. The rule or standard of conduct allegedly violated and the acts of 

the student alleged to constitute a cause for long-term 
suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment, including a 
summary of the evidence to be presented against the student; 

b. The penalty, if any, which the principal has recommended in the 
charge and any other penalty to which the student may be 
subject; 

c. A statement that, before long-term suspension, expulsion, or 
mandatory reassignment for disciplinary purposes can be invoked, 
the student has a right to a hearing, upon request, and that if the 
student is suspended pending the outcome of the hearing, the 
student may complete classwork and homework, including, but 
not limited to, examinations, missed during the period of 
suspension pursuant to district guidelines which shall not require 
the student to attend the school district's alternative programs for 
expelled students in order to complete classwork oron the 
specified charges; 

d. A description of the hearing procedures provided by the act, along 
with procedures for appealing any decision rendered at the 
hearing; 

e. A statement that the principal, legal counsel for the school, the 
student, the student's parent, or the student's representative or 
guardian has the right (i) to examine the student's academic and 
disciplinary records and any affidavits to be used at the hearing 
concerning the alleged misconduct and (ii) to know the identity of 
the witnesses to appear at the hearing and the substance of their 
testimony; and 

f. A form on which the student, the student's parent, or the student's 
guardian may request a hearing, to be signed by such parties and 
delivered to the principal or superintendent in person or by 
registered or certified mail to the address provided on the form. 
 

3. When a notice of intent to discipline a student by long-term suspension, 
expulsion, or mandatory reassignment is filed with the superintendent, 
the student may be suspended by the principal until the date the long-



Page 9 of 11 

term suspension, expulsion, or mandatory reassignment takes effect if 
no hearing is requested or, if a hearing is requested, the date the 
hearing examiner makes the report of his or her findings and a 
recommendation of the action to be taken to the superintendent, if the 
principal determines that the student must be suspended immediately 
to prevent or substantially reduce the risk of (a) interference with an 
educational function or school purpose or (b) a personal injury to the 
student himself or herself, other students, school employees, or school 
volunteers. 

4. Nothing in this policy shall preclude the student, student's parents, 
guardian or representative from discussing and settling the matter with 
appropriate school personnel prior to the time the long-term suspension, 
expulsion, or mandatory reassignment takes effect hearing stage. 

5. If a hearing is requested within five days after receipt of the notice, the 
Superintendent shall appoint recommend appointment of a hearing 
officer examiner within two school days after receipt of the hearing 
requestwho shall follow the "hearing procedures" outlined below.  The 
student or the student’s parent or guardian may request designation of 
a hearing examiner oth’er than the hearing examiner recommended by 
the superintendent if notice of the request is given to the superintendent 
within two school days after receipt of the superintendent’s 
recommended appointment.  Upon receiving such request, the 
superintendent must provide one alternative hearing examiner who is 
not an employee of the school district or otherwise currently under 
contract with the school district and whose impartiality may not 
otherwise be reasonably questioned.  The superintendent may also 
provide an additional list of hearing examiners that may include hearing 
examiners employed by or under contract with the school district.  The 
student or the student’s parent or guardian must, within five school 
days, select a hearing examiner to conduct the hearing who was 
recommended, or provided as an alternative hearing examiner, or 
included on an additional list, if any, pursuant to this subdivision and 
shall notify the superintendent in writing of the selection.  The 
superintendent must appoint the selected hearing examiner upon 
receipt of such notice. 

6. The hearing examiner must, within two school days after being 
appointed, give written notice to the principal, the student, and the 
student’s parent or guardian of the time and place for the hearing. 

7. The hearing shall be held within a period of five school days after 
appointment of the hearing examiner, but such time may be changed 
by the hearing examiner for good cause with consent of the parties. No 
hearing shall be held upon less than two school days' actual notice to 
the principal, the student, and the student's parent or guardian, except 
with the consent of all the parties.  



Page 10 of 11 

5.8. The principal or legal counsel for the school, the student, and the 
student's parent, guardian, or representative have the right to receive 
a copy of all records and written statements referred to in the Student 
Discipline Act as well as the statement of any witness in the possession 
of the school board or board of education no later than forty-eight hours 
prior to the hearing. 

6.9. If a hearing is requested more than five school days following the receipt 
of the written notice, but not more than thirty calendar days after 
receipt, the Superintendent shall appoint a hearing officer examinerwho 
shall follow the "hearing procedures" outlined below, except that the 
time constraints set forth may differ as provided by law and this policy.  
The hearing will be held according to the requirements of section 79-
269.  The student shall be entitled to a hearing but the consequence 
imposed may continue in effect pending final determination.   

7.10. If a request for hearing is not received within thirty calendar days 
following the mailing or delivery of the written notice, the student shall 
not be entitled to a hearing. 

 
In the event a hearing is requested, the hearing, hearing procedures, 

the student's rights and any appeals or judicial review permitted by law shall 
be governed by the applicable provisions of the Nebraska Student Discipline 
Act (NEB. REV. STAT. § 79-254 to 79-294).  The school district will provide 
parents with copies of the relevant statutes upon request.   
 
Makeup Work for Suspended Students 
 
Any student who is suspended must be given an opportunity to complete any 
classwork and homework missed during the period of suspension, including, 
but not limited to, examinations (“makeup work”).  Any makeup work must 
be completed and turned in within 2 school days after completion of the 
suspension.  This makeup guideline shall be provided to the student and a 
parent or guardian at the time of suspension.  Suspended students may not 
be required to attend the school’s alternative program for expelled students 
in order to complete classwork or homework. 
 
Reporting Requirement to Law Enforcement 
 
Violations of this section will result in a report to law enforcement if:  
 

1. The violation includes possession of a firearm; 
2. The violation results in child abuse; 
3. It is a violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code that the administration 

believes cannot be adequately addressed solely by discipline from the 
school district; 



Page 11 of 11 

4. It is a violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code that endangers the health 
and welfare of staff or students;  

5. It is a violation of the Nebraska Criminal Code that interferes with school 
purposes; 

6. The report is required or requested by law enforcement or the county 
attorney. 

 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 



Page 1 of 7  

5045 
Student Fees 

 
The school district shall provide free instruction in accordance with the 

Nebraska State Constitution and the Nebraska statutes.  The district also 
provides activities, programs, and services that extend beyond the minimum 
level of constitutionally required free instruction.  Under the Public Elementary 
and Secondary Student Fee Authorization Act, the district is permitted to 
charge students fees for these activities or to require students to provide 
specialized equipment and attire for certain purposes.  This policy is subject 
to further interpretation or guidance by administrative or board regulations.  
Students are encouraged to contact their building administration, their 
teachers or their coaches, and sponsors for further specifics.  

A. Definitions. 
 

1. “Students” means students, their parents, guardians or 
other legal representatives. 

2. “Extracurricular activities” means student activities or 
organizations that (1) are supervised or administered by the 
district; (2) do not count toward graduation or advancement 
between grades; and (3) are not otherwise required by the 
district. 

3. “Post-secondary education costs” means tuition and other 
fees associated with obtaining credit from a post-secondary 
educational institution.   

 
B. Listing of Fees Charged by this District. 
 

1. Guidelines for Clothing Required for Specified Courses and 
Activities. 

 
 Students are responsible for complying with the district’s grooming and 
attire guidelines and for furnishing all clothing required for any special 
programs, courses or activities in which they participate.  The teacher, coach, 
or sponsor of the activity will provide students with written guidelines that 
detail any special clothing requirements and explain why the special clothing 
is required for the specific program, course or activity. 
  



Page 2 of 7  

 2. Safety Equipment and Attire. 
 
 The district will provide students with all safety equipment and attire 
that is required by law.  Building administrators will assure that (a) such 
equipment is available in the appropriate classes and areas of the school 
buildings, (b) teachers are directed to instruct students in the use of such 
devices, and (c) students use the devices as required.  Students are 
responsible for using the devices safely and as instructed.   
 

3. Personal or Consumable Items. 
 
 The district does/does not provide students with personal or consumable 
items for participation in courses and activities including, but not limited to, 
pencils, paper, pens, erasers and notebooks.  Students who wish to supply 
their own personal or consumable items may do so, as long as those items 
comply with the requirements of the district.  The district will provide students 
with facilities, equipment, materials and supplies, including books.  Students 
are responsible for the careful and appropriate use of such property.  Students 
will be charged for damage to school property caused by the student and will 
be held responsible for the reasonable replacement cost of any school property 
that they lose. 
  
 4. Materials Required for Course Projects. 
 
 The district will provide students with the materials necessary to 
complete all basic curricular projects.  In courses where students choose to 
produce a project that requires materials beyond the basic materials provided 
by the district, the students will furnish the materials, purchase the materials 
from the school, or purchase the materials from an outside vendor with an 
order form provided by the school.   
 
 5. Technological Devices 
 
 The district will provide students with the technological devices 
necessary to complete all basic curricular projects.  To the extent that a 
student is not required by the district’s curriculum to utilize a device off district 
property, the district may charge students a convenience fee to take the 
device off district property.  The maximum dollar amount of this convenience 
fee charged by the district will be $___.    
 
 As with all school property, students may be charged for damage to such 
devices.  To protect against such potential losses, students and parents may, 
but are not required, to purchase insurance coverage for the devices.  The 



Page 3 of 7  

maximum dollar amount of this insurance coverage facilitated by the district 
will be $___.  The district may also charge a damage deposit which will be 
returned or may be rolled to cover the damage deposit for the next year if it 
is not needed to cover the costs of any damage to the device.  The maximum 
dollar amount of this damage deposit will be $_____. 
 
 Additionally, the district may allow students to purchase technological 
devices by arranging for the students to purchase these devices through a 
single, or series of, payments. 
 
 6.  Extracurricular Activities. 
  
 The district may charge students a fee to participate in extracurricular 
activities to cover the district’s reasonable costs in offering such activities.  
The district may require students to furnish specialized equipment and 
clothing that is required for participation in extracurricular activities, or may 
charge a reasonable fee for the use of district-owned equipment or attire.  
Attached to this policy is a list of the fees charged for particular activities.  The 
coach or sponsor will provide students with additional written guidelines 
detailing the fees charged, the equipment and/or clothing required, or the 
usage fee charged.  The guidelines will explain the reasons that fees, 
equipment and/or clothing are required for the activity. 
  

The following list details the maximum dollar amount of all 
extracurricular activities fees and the specifications for any equipment or attire 
required for participation in extracurricular activities: 

 
 Student Activity Card: $____ 

o Covers admission to all extracurricular events 
 Student Participation Fee: $___ 

o Required of all students who participate in athletics and/or other 
extracurricular activities 

 Future Business Leaders of America: $___ 
 DECA: $___ 
 National Honor Society: $___ 
 Cheerleading, Drill Team, Flag Corps: $___ 

o Students must purchase uniforms and shoes selected by the 
sponsor and/or student group.  The maximum dollar amount 
charged by the school district for these items will be: $___ 

 Football: $ ___ 
o Students must provide their own football shoes, undergarments, 

and mouthguards 
 Golf: $___ 



Page 4 of 7  

o Students must provide their own golf shoes, undergarments, and 
clubs 

 Softball and Baseball: $___ 
o Students must provide their own shoes, gloves, and 

undergarments 
 Track, Volleyball, and Wrestling: $___ 

o Students must provide their own shoes and undergarments 
 Future Farmers of America: $___ 

o Students must purchase their own jackets and pay dues 
 Rifle and Trap Teams: $___ 

o Students must provide their own weapons and ammunition 
 Science Club: $___ 
 FCCLA: $___ 
 Spanish Club: $___ 

 
 7. Post-Secondary Education Costs. 
  
 Some students enroll in postsecondary courses while still enrolled in the 
district’s high school.  As a general rule, students must pay all costs associated 
with such post-secondary courses.  However, for a course in which students 
receive high school credit or a course being taken as part of an approved 
accelerated or differentiated curriculum program, the district shall offer the 
course without charge for tuition, transportation, books, or other fees.  
Students who choose to apply for post-secondary education credit for these 
courses must pay tuition and all other fees associated with obtaining credits 
from a post-secondary educational institution.  The costs of these items will 
naturally vary, but the maximum dollar amount of the fee is anticipated to be 
$_______ per course. 
       
 8. Transportation Costs. 
  
 The district will charge students reasonable fees for transportation 
services provided by the district to the extent permitted by federal and state 
statutes and regulations. 
  
 The maximum dollar amount of the transportation fee charged by this 
district shall be $_____. 
   
 9. Copies of Student Files or Records. 
  
 The district will charge a fee for making copies of a student’s files or 
records for the parents or guardians of such student.  The Superintendent or 
the Superintendent’s designee shall establish a schedule of student record 

Formatted: Highlight



Page 5 of 7  

fees.  Parents of students have the right to inspect and review the students’ 
files or records without the payment of a fee, and the district shall not charge 
a fee to search for or retrieve any student’s files or records. 
  
 The district will charge a fee of $___ per page for reproduction of student 
records. 
      
 10. Participation in Before-and-After-School or Pre-

Kindergarten Services. 
  
 The district will charge reasonable fees for participation in before-and-
after school or pre-kindergarten services offered by the district pursuant to 
statute. 
  
 The maximum dollar amount charged by the district for these services 
shall be $____. 
  
 11. Participation in Summer School or Night School. 
  
     The district will charge reasonable fees for participation in summer 
school or night school and may charge reasonable fees for correspondence 
courses.  
  
 The maximum dollar amount charged by the district for summer and 
night school shall be $____. 
      
 12. Charges for Food Consumed by Students. 
  
 The district will charge for items that students purchase from the 
district’s breakfast and lunch programs.  The fees charged for these items will 
be set according to applicable federal and state statutes and regulations.  The 
district will charge students for the cost of food, beverages, and the like that 
students purchase from a school store, vending machine, booster club or from 
similar sources.  Students may be required to bring money or food for field 
trip lunches and similar activities. 
  
 The maximum dollar amount charged by the district for the breakfast and lunch 
programs is as follows:  

 Breakfast Program – Grades K-8 
o Regular Price $______ 
o Reduced Price $______ 

 Breakfast Program – Grades 9-12 
o Regular Price $______ 



Page 6 of 7  

o Reduced Price $______ 
 Lunch Program – Grades K-8 

o Regular Price $______ 
o Reduced Price $______ 

 Lunch Program – Grades 9-12 
o Regular Price $______ 
o Reduced Price $______ 

  
 13. Charges for Musical Extracurricular Activities. 
  

Students who qualify for fee waivers under this policy will be provided, 
at no charge, the use of a musical instrument in optional music courses that 
are not extracurricular activities.  The following list details the maximum dollar 
amount of all musical extracurricular activies fees and the equipment or attire 
required for participation in musical extracurricular activities:  

 Band: $___ 
o Students must provide their own instruments and marching band 

shoes, which must be white, rubber-soled sneakers 
 Swing Choir: $___ 

o Students must purchase outfits and shoes selected by the sponsor 
and/or student group.  The maximum dollar amount charged by 
the district for these materials will be $___ 

 
14. Contributions for Junior and Senior Class Extracurricular 

Activities.   
  

Students are eligible to participate in a number of unique extracurricular 
activities during their last two years in high school, including prom, various 
senior recognitions, and graduation.  In order to fund these extracurricular 
activities, the school district will ask each student to make a contribution to 
their class’s fund. This contribution is completely voluntary.  Students who 
chose not to contribute to the class fund are still eligible to participate in the 
extra activities.  The suggested donation to the class fund will be $____.  
 
C. Waiver Policy. 
 
 Students who qualify for free or reduced-price lunches under United 
States Department of Agriculture child nutrition programs shall be provided a 
fee waiver or be provided the necessary materials or equipment without 
charge for (1) participation in extracurricular activities, (2) materials for 
course projects, and (3) the use of a musical instrument in optional music 
courses that are not extracurricular activities.  Actual participation in the free 
or reduced-price lunch program is not required to qualify for the waivers 



Page 7 of 7  

provided in this section.  The district is not obligated to provide any particular 
type or quality of equipment or other material to eligible students.  Students 
who wish to be considered for waiver of a particular fee must submit a 
completed fee waiver application to their building principal. 
 
D. Distribution of Policy. 
 
 This policy will be published in the Student Handbook or its equivalent 
that will be provided to students at no cost. 
   
E. Voluntary Contributions to Defray Costs.  

  
 The district will, when appropriate, request donations of money, 
materials, equipment or attire from parents, guardians and other members of 
the community to defray the costs of providing certain services and activities 
to students.  These requests are not requirements and staff members of the 
district are directed to clearly communicate that fact to students, parents and 
patrons. 
   
F. Fund-Raising Activities 
 
 Students may be permitted or required to engage in fund-raising 
activities to support various curricular and extracurricular activities in which 
they participate.  Students who decline to participate in fund-raising activities 
are not eligible under this policy for waiver of the costs or fees which the fund-
raising activity was meant to defray.   
 
 
G. Student Fee Fund. 
 
 The school board hereby establishes a Student Fee Fund.  The Student 
Fee Fund shall be a separate school district fund that will not be funded by tax 
revenue, and that will serve a depository for all monies collected from students 
for (1) participation in extracurricular activities, (2) post-secondary education 
costs, and (3) summer school or night school courses.  Monies in the Student 
Fee Fund shall be expended only for the purposes for which they were 
collected from students. 
 

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
           



Page 1 of 6  

NOTE TO BE DELETED:  This policy satisfies the minimum 
requirements of the Healthy, Hunger-Free Kids Act of 2010 and its 

final rule.  Schools that wish to adopt a more “aggressive” policy with 
higher standards may do so and should contact KSB for policy 

language that is in-line with their goals. 
 

5052 
School Wellness Policy  

 
The school district is committed to providing a school environment that 
enhances learning and the development of lifelong wellness.  The goals 
outlined in this policy were determined and selected after reviewing and 
considering evidence-based strategies.* 
 
1. Goals for Nutrition Promotion and Education 
 

a. The district will promote healthy food and beverage choices 
for all students, as well as encourage participation in school 
meal programs by such methods as implementing evidence-
based healthy food promotion techniques through the 
school meal programs and promoting foods and beverages 
that meet or exceed the USDA Smart Snacks in School 
nutrition standards. 
   

b. The health curriculum will include information on good 
nutrition and healthy living habits.  

 
c. Teachers will incorporate information on nutrition and 

wellness into the classroom curriculum as appropriate. 
 

d. The district will collaborate with public and private entities 
to promote student wellness. 
  

e. Water will be made available to students throughout the 
school day. 

  
2. Goals for Physical Activity 

 
a. The school district’s curriculums shall include instruction on 

physical activity and habits for healthy living. 
 
b. Students will be encouraged to engage in physical activities 

throughout the school day and will be provided with 
opportunities to do so. 



Page 2 of 6  

 
c. The district encourages parents and guardians to support 

their children's participation in physical activity, to be 
physically active role models, and to include physical activity 
in family events. 

 
3. Goals for Other School-Based Activities Designed to 

Promote Student Wellness   
 
a. The district will participate in state and federal child nutrition 

programs as appropriate. 
 

b. The district will provide professional development, support, 
and resources for staff about student wellness. 

 
c. Students will be provided sufficient time in which to eat 

school-provided meals. 
 
d. The district’s lunchrooms will be attractive and well-lighted. 

 
e. The district will allow other health-related entities to use 

school facilities for activities such as health clinics and 
screenings so long as the activities meet the district’s 
requirements and criteria for the use of facilities.   
  

f. The district may partner with other individuals or entities in 
the community to support the implementation of this policy. 
 

g. The district will strive to provide physical activity breaks for 
all students, recess for elementary students, and before and 
after school activities, as well as encourage students to use 
active transport (walking, biking, etc.) 
 

h. The district will use evidence-based strategies to develop, 
structure, and support student wellness.   

 
 
4. Standards and Nutrition Guidelines for All Foods and 

Beverages Sold to Students on the School Campus and 
During the School Day 
 
a. The district will ensure that student access to foods and 

beverages meet federal, state and local laws and guidelines 
including, but not limited to:  



Page 3 of 6  

 
i. USDA National School Lunch and School Breakfast 

nutrition standards 
 

ii. USDA Smart Snacks in School nutrition standards. 
 
b. The district will offer students a variety of age-appropriate, 

healthy food and beverage selections with plenty of fruits, 
vegetables, and whole grains aimed at meeting the nutrition 
needs of students within their calorie requirements in order 
to promote student health and reduce childhood obesity. 

 
5. Standards for All Foods and Beverages Provided, But Not 

Sold to Students During the School Day 
 

The district may provide a list of healthy party ideas or food and 
beverage alternatives to parents, teachers, and students for classroom 
parties, rewards and incentives, or classroom snacks.  The district 
discourages the use of food and beverages as a reward or incentive for 
performance or behavior. 
 
6. Food and Beverage Marketing 

 
Marketing and advertising is only allowed on school grounds or at school 
activities for foods and beverages that meet or exceed the USDA Smart 
Snacks in School nutrition standards, except as follows: 
 

a. This requirement does not apply to marketing that occurs at 
events outside of school hours such as after school sporting 
or any other events, including school fundraising events. 

  
b. The district will not immediately replace menu boards, 

coolers, tray liners, beverage cups, and other food service 
equipment with depictions of noncompliant products or 
logos to comply with the new USDA Smart Snacks in Schools 
nutrition requirements.  All previously purchased products 
will be used, and all existing contracts honored.  

 
c. All equipment that currently displays noncompliant 

marketing materials will not be removed or replaced (e.g., 
a score board with a Coca-Cola logo).  However, as the 
district reviews and considers new contracts, and as 
scoreboards or other such durable equipment are replaced 
or updated over time, any products that are marketed and 



Page 4 of 6  

advertised will meet or exceed the USDA Smart Snacks in 
School nutrition standards 

 
7. Public Participation  

 
Parents, students, representatives of the school food authority, 
teachers, school health professionals, board members, school 
administrators, and members of the general public shall be allowed to 
provide their input to the school district during the wellness policy 
adoption and review process. 
 
8. Competitive Foods (Includes Food and Beverages Sold in 

Vending Machines, School Stores, Fundraisers or in 
Competition with the National School Lunch and Breakfast 
Programs) 
 

a. Except as otherwise allowed by the Nebraska Department of 
Education (NDE), all foods and beverages sold during the 
school day as part of a fundraiser or for any other purpose 
in competition with the National School Lunch and Breakfast 
Programs must meet the nutrition standards of those 
programs.   
 

b. Fundraiser food or beverages are NOT exempt from the 
USDA Smart Snacks in School nutrition standards. 
Therefore, if food is sold as a fundraiser:  

 
(1) It shall not be sold in competition with school 
meals in the food service area during the meal service. 
 
(2) It shall not be sold or otherwise made available to 
students anywhere on school premises during the 
period beginning one half hour prior to the serving 
period for breakfast and/or lunch and lasting until one 
half hour after the serving of breakfast and/or lunch. 
 
(3) The sale of food items during the school day shall 
meet the USDA Smart Snacks in School nutrition 
requirements 
 
(4) This restriction does not apply to food sold during 
non-school hours, weekends, and off-campus 
fundraising events such as concessions during after-
school sporting events, school plays or concerts; or to 



Page 5 of 6  

bulk food items that are sold for consumption at 
home. (Ex: frozen pizzas, cookie dough tubs, etc.) 

 
9. Triennial Assessment 

 
The school board shall assess and review this policy at least every three 
years to determine: 
 

a. Compliance with this policy; 
 

b. How this policy compares to NDE model wellness policies; 
 

c. Progress made in attaining the goals of this policy. 
 
The school board will update or modify this policy as appropriate. 
 
10. Public Notice 

 
In addition to identifying the topic on its meeting agenda as required by 
the Open Meetings Act, the school district will provide notice of this 
policy at least annually to the public and other stakeholders identified in 
this policy by one or more of the following methods:  on its webpage, in 
its newsletter, in the student and employee handbooks, newspaper 
advertisements, direct mailings, electronic mail, and public postings.   
 
In addition to identifying the topic on its meeting agenda as required by 
the Open Meetings Act, the school district will provide notice of the 
Triennial Assessment and progress reports towards meeting the goals 
in this policy using one or more of those same methods. 
 
11. Recordkeeping 

 
The District will retain records to document compliance with the 
requirements of the wellness policy at its central office. 
 
12. Operational Responsibility   

 
The superintendent is responsible for coordinating the implementation 
of this policy and for monitoring the district’s progress in meeting the 
goals established by this policy.  The superintendent will periodically 
report to the board on the district’s progress in implementing this policy. 
 

 



Page 6 of 6  

* These strategies include, but are not necessarily limited to, 
those cited in the Alliance for a Healthier Generation’s Model 
Wellness Policy (Updated 9/2016June 2020 to Reflect the USDA 
Final Rule) found at  
https://www.healthiergeneration.org/_asset/wtqdwu/14-
6372_ModelWellnessPolicy.doc found at 
https://api.healthiergeneration.org/resource/2.   

 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 



5062 
Lice and Nits 

 
 

Option A 
 
 Students found to have head lice, louse eggs, or nits will not be 
permitted at school and will be sent home.  Upon discovering the presence of 
any indication of lice, louse eggs, or nits, the student’s parent(s) or 
guardian(s) will be notified, and if appropriate will be asked to pick up the 
student from school immediately. 
 
 Students will not be permitted to return to school until the district finds 
that no live lice, eggs, or nits can be detected.  The parent(s) or guardian(s) 
will be required to treat the student and accompany the student to school to 
be examined. 
 
 The student cannot ride the school bus until the district has cleared the 
student to return to school. 
 
Option B 
 
 Students found to have live head lice or louse eggs will not be permitted 
at school and will be sent home.  Upon discovering the presence of any 
indication oflive lice or louse eggs, the school will notify the student’s parent(s) 
or guardian(s) will be notified, and if appropriate will be asked to pick up the 
student from school immediately.  The student will be isolated from contact 
with other students and their belongings, and a parent or guardian must pick 
the child up from school immediately. 
 
 Students By Nebraska DHHS regulation, students will are not be 
permitted to return to school until the student is treated such that the district 
finds that no live lice or louse eggs can be detected.  The parent(s) or 
guardian(s) will be required to treat the student and accompany the student 
to school to be examined.   
 
 The student cannot ride the school bus until the district has cleared the 
student to return to school. 
 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  



 



5064 
Title I, Title II, or Title IV Supplement, Not Supplant 

 
The district will use Title I, Title II, and Title IV, and any other funds 
subject to to Supplement, Not Supplant requirements as required by 
law.  The district will use said funds to Supplement, Not Supplant, state 
and local funds that would, in the absence of Title I, Title II, and Title IV 
such funds, be spent on Title I programs.  The district will ensure that 
Title I funds will not be used to provide services which otherwise take 
the place of public education services that are to be provided to all 
students. 
 
The district maintains records of the professional development provided 
at the district level that is funded with Title I  funds. The Superintendent 
will ensure that professional development is aligned with the needs of 
the district's Title I programs. Title I professional development will not 
duplicate that which the district provides for non-Title I purposes which, 
in the absence of Title I funds, would be provided to all staff. 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________  
 
 



6003 
Instructional Program 

 
1. The minimum number of instructional hours in the school year will be 

1,080 for grades 9 through 12, 1,032 for grades 1 through 8, and 400 
for kindergarten, _____ for middle school and high school students, 
_____ for elementary students, and ______ for kindergarten students, 
exclusive of lunchtime.  == 
 
1. [NOTE TO BE DELETED: The hours shown above are the minimum 
number of instructional hours for each corresponding grade as required 
by Nebraska law and NDE regulation.  They may be, but are not required 
to be, adjusted upward at the board’s discretion.] 

 
2. The district may establish special programs for individual students that 

may deviate from these requirements.  All special programs must either 
be adopted pursuant to applicable law or approved by the 
superintendent in advance.  Prior to the district’s commencement of a 
specialized program, the district will provide the student’s parents or 
guardians with notice of the program.     

 
3. The board, acting with the advice of the administration and certificated 

staff, will adopt a curriculum and procure textbooks and materials to 
support that curriculum.  The administration and certificated staff will 
design instructional strategies and assessments to implement the 
curriculum.   

 
4. To the extent possible, practice for, travel to, and participation in 

activities sponsored by the Nebraska School Activities Association and 
the Nebraska Department of Education will be scheduled outside of 
instructional time.  Individual student absences because of illness or 
family-centered activities will be governed by district attendance 
policies.  

 
5. The board intends to strike a sensible balance between the time spent 

on academics and time spent on extra-curricular activities, 
acknowledging that both work and play are important in each student’s 
total development and education. 

 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Highlight



6004 
Curriculum Development 

 
 
The board of education jealously guards its right, prerogative, and discretion 
to exercise local control of the curriculum development of the district to the 
greatest extent permitted by state and federal law, and has no intention of 
ceding such right, prerogative, or discretion. 
 
The superintendent or his/her designee shall be responsible for providing and 
directing system-wide planning for curriculum, instruction, assessment and 
staff development.   
 
The curriculum shall be standards-driven and accountability-based. The 
district’s academic content standards shall be those required by the Nebraska 
State Board of Education in the subject areas of reading and writing (language 
arts), mathematics, and science only. The curriculum shall be articulated to 
include all programs and grade levels offered within the district, K-12 and, if 
applicable, shall include a preschool program.  The curriculum shall reflect the 
comprehensive plan of the school district. All professional staff members are 
responsible for implementing the curriculum.   
 
The superintendent or his/her designee will present this curriculum to the 
board for approval or modification.    
 
The superintendent shall be responsible for establishing curriculum guides to 
articulate and coordinate the written curriculum, and to provide consistency 
of the written curriculum from one level of the district to the next.  Curriculum 
guides shall provide for the development of the school district’s curriculum 
and shall set academic standards, identify essential educational outcome 
criteria, and provide for the implementation, monitoring and evaluation of 
student learning.  
 
Teachers are responsible for following the curriculum guides and teaching the 
written curriculum. Principals are responsible for monitoring the curriculum 
and evaluating teachers to ensure that they are teaching in compliance with 
the curriculum guides and written curriculum. The superintendent and his/her 
designee shall ensure that principals monitor the curriculum and evaluate 
teachers. 
 
Curriculum and Textbook Adoption Schedule 
 
The District will review curriculum and adopt associated textbooks on the 
following schedule. 



 
 
Subject Area K-12 REVIEW TEXTBOOK ADOPTION 
Foreign Language  
Fine Arts/Music 

  

K-12 Language Arts   
Math   
Technology   
Science   
Physical Ed/Health   
Vocational   
Social Studies   
Financial Literacy   
Computer Science and 
Technology 

  

 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



6025 
Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices  

(USE AT SCHOOL OPTION) 
 

Students may use cellular phones or other electronic devices while at school, 
so long as they do so safely, responsibly and respectfully and comply with all 
other school rules while using these devices.   
 
By bringing their cell phones and other electronic communication devices to 
school, students consent to the search of said devices by school staff when 
permitted by law. 
 
Students may not have cell phones or electronic devices on while they are in 
locker rooms, restrooms, or any other area in which others may have a 
reasonable expectation of privacy.   
 
The taking, disseminating, transferring, or sharing of obscene, pornographic, 
lewd, or otherwise illegal images or photographs, whether by electronic data 
transfer or otherwise (including things like texting, sexting, e-mailing, etc.) 
may constitute a crime under state and/or federal law.  Any person engaged 
in these activities while on school grounds, in a school vehicle or at a school 
activity will be subject to the disciplinary procedures of the student code of 
conduct.   
While on school property, at a school activity, or in a school vehicle, students 
may not use their cell phones or electronic devices to bully, harass, or 
intimidate any other person as governed by the student code of conduct.   
 
Students shall be personally and solely responsible for the security of their 
electronic devices.  The district is not responsible for theft, loss or damage of 
any electronic device, including or any calls or downloads.   
 
Students who violate this policy may have their cell phones or electronic 
devices confiscated immediately.  The administration will return confiscated 
devices to the parent or guardian of the offending student, after meeting with 
the parent or guardian to discuss the rule violation.  Students who violate this 
policy may, at the discretion of the school’s administration, be subject to 
additional discipline, up to and including suspension or expulsion.  
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: _______________________ 



6038 
Artificial Intelligence 

 
As used in this policy, artificial intelligence tools (“AI Tools”) mean machine-
based resources that use computer science, algorithms, large language 
models, and/or machine learning to perform tasks, answer questions, collect 
information, and respond to human-directed tasks, queries, and objectives.  
AI Tools include, but are not necessarily limited to, commercially-available 
resources like ChaptGPT, Google Bard, and other chatbots. 
 
The board recognizes that among other resources, when properly used, AI 
Tools may provide valuable source information to students and teachers in 
relation to the district’s academic curriculum and assignments.  Student use 
of AI Tools should focus on using such tools as a resource and for background 
material, rather than using the AI Tools to complete the assignment.  
Therefore, AI Tools may only be used by students in accordance with the 
following requirements: 
 

1. Unless an individual teacher affirmatively communicates to students 
that AI Tools may be used for a specific assignment, then AI Tools may 
not be used.  Individual teachers will decide for each individual 
assignment the extent to which students may use AI Tools for such 
assignment.  Teachers are encouraged to make such a decision in 
advance of students being given the individual assignment in question. 
 

2. Teachers will communicate to all students responsible for completing an 
assignment the extent to which such students may use AI Tools in 
connection with such assignment.  Teachers will endeavor to include in 
such communications examples of permissible and impermissible uses 
of AI Tools. 
 

3. If a student uses any AI Tools in connection with a school assignment, 
the student must comply with the following: 
 

a. The student must explicitly disclose to the teacher in writing that 
the student used an AI Tool and the specific AI Tool used. 
 

b. In any student work (whether hard copy, electronic, digital, or 
otherwise), the student shall give proper attribution to the AI 
Tool(s) used to the same extent that students are expected to 
give proper attribution to other sources of information such as 
books, texts, encyclopedias, secondary sources, and other 
traditional media.  Such attribution may include, but is not 



necessarily limited to, accurate quotations, citations, footnotes, 
endnotes, and/or bibliography entries. 

 
c. In no instance may the output from one or more AI Tools be copied 

and placed within a student’s work as if the student wrote such 
section himself or herself.  For example and not limitation, 
students may not outsource the organization or the writing of any 
written work to any AI Tool. 

 
4. A student’s failure to meet the requirements stated in this policy will 

constitute a violation of the district’s prohibitions against cheating 
plagiarism and/or academic dishonesty, including but not necessarily 
limited to such prohibitions stated in the Student Handbook, which 
violation will subject the student to discipline up to and including 
expulsion. 
 

5. The student requirements stated above are the minimum requirements 
for any student assignment.  An individual teacher may impose more 
stringent requirements for any specific academic assignment or 
coursework. 

 
 
 
Adopted on: _________________________ 
Revised on: _________________________ 
Reviewed on: ________________________ 
 



4045 
Milk Expression 

 
 Except as otherwise provided by law, tThe district will provide 
reasonable break time for an employee who wishes to breastfeed or express 
breast milk for her nursing child each time such employee has the need to do 
so.  The District will provide in a place, other than a bathroom, which is 
shielded from view and free from intrusion from co-workers and the public for 
one year after the child’s birth.  These accommodations will be provided for 
one year after the child’s birth, unless otherwise required by law. 
 
Adopted on: _______________ 
Revised on: _______________ 
Reviewed on: ______________ 
 
 





Official
2022-2023 % Change 0.803% 3.248% 3.912% 3.296% 4.546% 3.696% 4.064% 2.626% 2.584% 4.304%

Total September October November December January February March April May June
Payroll -$                      299,480.91$        304,223.98$        303,581.92$       296,403.56$       294,668.45$        298,951.42$        302,117.08$        307,861.59$        291,557.06$          315,915.02$        
Bill Roster -$                      18,881.39$          77,626.99$          55,307.36$         49,234.85$         58,892.75$          46,509.81$          44,589.44$          40,870.76$          71,253.29$            112,260.52$        
Adjustments -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     
Total Expenditures -$                      318,362.30$        381,850.97$        358,889.28$       345,638.41$       353,561.20$        345,461.23$        346,706.52$        348,732.35$        362,810.35$          428,175.54$        
YTD Total -$                      318,362.30$        700,213.27$        1,059,102.55$    1,404,740.96$    1,758,302.16$     2,103,763.39$     2,450,469.91$     2,799,202.26$     3,162,012.61$       3,590,188.15$     
Total Receipts -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     

Comparison
Payroll 9,859.75$            10,036.73$          9,473.08$           6,459.27$           13,787.98$          8,842.92$            15,597.84$          9,851.29$            695.74$                 14,789.95$          
Bill Roster (7,322.97)$          9,453.79$            8,373.04$           (1,510.01)$          17,838.81$          (10,312.62)$        5,122.04$            (33,916.55)$        7,321.83$              53,701.37$          
Monthly Difference 2,536.78$            19,490.52$          17,846.12$         4,949.26$           31,626.79$          (1,469.70)$          20,719.88$          (24,065.26)$        8,017.57$              68,491.32$          
Difference YTD 2,536.78$            22,027.30$          39,873.42$         44,822.68$         76,449.47$          74,979.77$          95,699.65$          71,634.39$          79,651.96$            148,143.28$        
Total Receipts

 
2021-2022 % Change 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000%

Total September October November December January February March April May June
Payroll -$                      289,621.16$        294,187.25$        294,108.84$       289,944.29$       280,880.47$        290,108.50$        286,519.24$        298,010.30$        290,861.32$          301,125.07$        
Bill Roster -$                      26,204.36$          68,173.20$          46,934.32$         50,744.86$         41,053.94$          56,822.43$          39,467.40$          74,787.31$          63,931.46$            58,559.15$          
Adjustments -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     
Total Expenditures -$                      315,825.52$        362,360.45$        341,043.16$       340,689.15$       321,934.41$        346,930.93$        325,986.64$        372,797.61$        354,792.78$          359,684.22$        
YTD Total -$                      315,825.52$        678,185.97$        1,019,229.13$    1,359,918.28$    1,681,852.69$     2,028,783.62$     2,354,770.26$     2,727,567.87$     3,082,360.65$       3,442,044.87$     
Total Receipts -$                      -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                     



Overton Public School
Financial Information
Fund Securities

Accounts Funds Available FDIC Coverage Securities Coverage Date
Non-Interest Bearing 847,483.36$                250,000.00$         597,483.36$        847,483.36$            2-Jun-23
Interest Bearing 4,987,144.42$             250,000.00$         4,737,144.42$     4,987,144.42$         
Total Funds 5,834,627.78$             500,000.00$         5,334,627.78$     5,834,627.78$         

Total Funds Available 5,834,627.78$             
Securities/Insurance 5,834,627.78$             

Collateralization -$                             

Interest Bearing Non-Interest Bearing

Account Name Account Number Funds Account Name Account Number Funds
Depreciation Fund 600443255 56,541.97$           Bond Fund 600443204 -$                                 
Clearing Account 600012733 10,614.85$           Booster Checking 600024880 12,287.62$                      

Reserve Fund 600443700 3,947,212.05$      Activity Fund 600025836 304,769.47$                    

Building Fund 600731064 125,037.29$         Lunch Fund 600026360 53,196.94$                      

Booster Club 600006539 2,546.94$             General Fund 600029580 476,719.33$                    

Depreciation Fund #5 126887 155,603.77$         Site & Building 600029602 510.00$                           

Depreciation Fund #3 126888 278,252.73$         
Depreciation Fund #4 126889 -$                      4,731,895.62$         General Fund

Building Fund 126886 108,924.84$         490,398.47$            Depreciation Fund

Booster Club 600006498 5,060.59$             234,472.13$            Special Building Fund

OHS C.D. 600006873 297,349.39$         304,769.47$            Activity Fund
53,196.94$              Food Nutritional Fund



Overton Public School
Board Financial Report

Month June Official
Year 2023

Account 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 $  Change % Change

MMA - Reserve 3,839,010.86$      3,997,818.17$       4,244,561.44$           246,743.27$        6.17%
.

Depreciation Fund 604,763.87$         484,087.06$          490,398.47$              6,311.41$            1.30%

Bond Fund -$                      -$                      -$                          -$                     0.00%

Special Building Fund 230,471.00$         232,716.89$          233,962.13$              1,245.24$            0.54%

Food Nutritional Fund 67,952.27$           85,577.72$           52,378.00$                (33,199.72)$         -38.79%

Activities Fund 329,170.98$         254,336.36$          297,404.59$              43,068.23$          16.93%

40.00$                  
Totals 5,071,368.98$      5,054,576.20$       5,318,704.63$           264,128.43$        5.23%

Total Reserve 4,443,774.73$      4,481,905.23$       4,734,959.91$           253,054.68$        5.65%



Overton Public School
Board Financial Report
Two Year Comparison

Updated: 6/1/2023

2021-2022 2022-2023
Date 1-Jun-22 Difference Date 6/1/2023
Depreciation 484,087.06$           6,311.41$             Depreciation 490,398.47$      
MMA/CD 3,997,818.17$        246,743.27$         MMA/CD 4,244,561.44$   
Checking 476,718.68$           -$                     Checking 476,718.68$      

Total 4,958,623.91$        ` 253,054.68$         Total 5,211,678.59$   

Current Date 6/1/2023
MMA 3,947,212.05$   
OHS C.D. 297,349.39$      

Total 4,244,561.44$   

Special Building Current Date 6/1/2023
600731064 125,037.29$         Depreciation 56,541.97$        
126886 108,924.84$         Depreciation 155,603.77$      

Total 233,962.13$         Depreciation 278,252.73$      
Depreciation -$                  

Total 490,398.47$      



Overton Public School
6/1/2023 Certificate of Deposits

Security First Bank & FirsTier Bank
Fund Summary Amount

Depreciation Fund 433,856.50$                  

District MMA 297,349.39$                  

Site & Building 108,924.84$                  

Total 840,130.73$                  

Certificate Number Fund Account Name Time Interest Rate Last Maturity Maturity Date Current Amount
126886 Site & Building Building Fund 1 12 Months 3.0700% 10/19/2021 10/19/2023 108,924.84$                
126887 Depreciation Deprecation #5 12 Months 3.0700% 10/19/2021 10/19/2023 155,603.77$                
126888 Depreciation Deprecation #3 12 Months 3.0700% 10/19/2021 10/19/2023 278,252.73$                
126889 Depreciation Deprecation #4 12 Months 1.0000% 10/19/2020 10/19/2023 -$                             

600006873 District MMA OHS CD 12 MONTHS 4.6200% 2/14/2023 2/14/2024 297,349.39$                

Total 840,130.73$                





ACTIVITY ACCOUNT 2022-2023
Date Disbursements Receipts Profit/Loss Ending Balance

Aug. 2022 34,782.90$      109,242.48$     74,459.58$             328,167.64$        
Sept. 23,737.59$      35,317.13$       11,579.54$             339,747.18$        
Oct. 22,155.41$      30,859.10$       8,703.69$               348,450.87$        
Nov. 40,701.07$      28,138.95$       (12,562.12)$            335,888.75$        
Dec. 29,188.45$      27,285.93$       (1,902.52)$              333,986.23$        
Jan. 21,983.08$      26,234.11$       4,251.03$               338,237.26$        
Feb. 18,553.64$      16,819.17$       (1,734.47)$              336,502.79$        
March 34,832.76$      10,991.94$       (23,840.82)$            312,661.97$        
April 44,934.40$      12,265.00$       (32,669.40)$            279,992.57$        
May 33,717.99$      51,130.01$       17,412.02$             297,404.59$        
June -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                    
July -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                    
Aug-23 -$                 -$                  -$                        -$                    
Fiscal Year 269,804.39$    239,041.34$     (30,763.05)$            
School Year 304,587.29$    348,283.82$     43,696.53$             







9/1/2009

739

740

741

742

743

744

745

746

747

748

749

750

751

752

753

754

755

756

757

758

759

A B C D E F G H I

Food Program 2022-2023
Date Lunch Meals Breakfast Meals Summer Food Disbursements Receipts Profit/Loss Days Served Balance

Aug-22 2957 965 0 11,680.93$          10,218.80$       (1,462.13)$        16 77,260.75$         

Sept. 3865 1608 0 25,224.43$          18,408.00$       (6,816.43)$        19 70,444.32$         

Oct. 3896 1442 0 22,968.66$          20,841.47$       (2,127.19)$        19 68,317.13$         

Nov. 3113 1312 0 23,039.21$          20,632.27$       (2,406.94)$        16 65,910.19$         

Dec. 3170 1107 0 22,167.66$          18,246.19$       (3,921.47)$        15 61,988.72$         

Jan. 3532 1165 0 18,783.48$          17,382.51$       (1,400.97)$        16 60,587.75$         

Feb. 3695 1468 0 22,339.05$          20,543.60$       (1,795.45)$        19 58,792.30$         

March 4257 1674 0 22,403.42$          23,281.42$       878.00$            21 59,669.71$         

April 3101 1208 0 22,640.29$          20,247.62$       (2,392.67)$        15 57,277.04$         

May 2455 858 0 20,710.82$          15,811.78$       (4,899.04)$        14 52,378.00$         

June 0 0 0 -$                     -$                 -$                  0 -$                   

July 0 0 0 -$                     -$                 -$                  0 -$                   

Aug-20 0 0 -$                     -$                 -$                  0 -$                   

Fiscal Year 0 0 211,957.95$        185,613.66$     (26,344.29)$      -$                   

School Year 200,277.02$        185,613.66$     (26,344.29)$      

Totals 34041 12807 0 170.00

All Meals 46848





Receipt Summary by Program May 2023 
Account Description Total Budget Current Month Receipts Balance (Pub) Percentage (%) 

(Pub) Receipts 

01-1-01100-000-00 Local DistrictT ax 0.00 893,087.60 2,880,320.78 -2,880,320.78 0.00 

0.00 893,087.60 2,880,320.78 -2,880,320.78 0.00 

01-1-01125-000-00 Motor Vechicle 0.00 11,088.06 98,308.89 -98,308.89 0.00 

0.00 11,088.06 98,308.89 -98,308.89 0.00 

,.. 

01-1-01370-000-00 Preschool Tuition 0.00 700.00 13,705.00 -13,705.00 0.00 

0.00 700.00 13,705.00 -13,705.00 0.00 

01-1-01510-000-02 Interest on Clearing 0.00 3.30 15.98 -15.98 0.00 

01-1-01510-000-03 Interest on MMA 0.00 12,548.00 77,132.05 -77,132.05 0.00 

0.00 12,551.30 77,148.03 -77,148.03 0.00 

01-1-02110-000-00 County fines & Licenses 0.00 662.87 10,008.82 -10,008.82 0.00 

0.00 662.87 10,008.82 -10,008.82 0.00 

01-1-03110-000-00 State Aid 0.00 70,672.00 638,437.00 -638,437.00 0.00 

0.00 70,672.00 638,437.00 -638,437.00 0.00 

01-1-03120-000-00 SPED Reimbursement 0 00 26,939.00 143,448.00 -143,448.00 0.00 

0.00 26,939.00 143,448.00 -143,448.00 0.00 

01-1-03130-000-00 Homestead 0.00 414.41 12,413.82 -12,413.82 0.00 

0.00 414.41 12,413.82 -12,413.82 0.00 

01-1-03131-000-00 Property Tax Credit 0 00 14,726.37 254,048.14 -254,048.14 0,00 

0.00 14,726,37 254,048.14 -254,048.14 0.00 

01-1-03132-000-00 Property Tax Credit 0 00 0.00 20,691.19 -20,691.19 0.00 

0.00 0.00 20,691.19 -20,691.19 0,00 

01-1-03134-000-00 Public Service Entity - 0.00 9,114.86 11,222.97 -11,222.97 0 00 

0.00 9,114.86 11,222.97 -11,222.97 0.00 

01-1-03180-000-00 Pro-rata Motor Vehicle 0.00 426.49 7,216.21 -7,216.21 0 00 

0.00 426.49 7,216.21 -7,216.21 0.00 

01-1-03400-000-00 State Apportionment 0.00 0.00 34,396.67 -34,396.67 0.00 

0.00 0.00 34,396.67 -34,396.67 0.00 

01-1-04421-000-00 IDEA Part B (611) ARP 0.00 0.00 11,971.00 -11,971.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 11,971.00 -11,971.00 0.00 

01-1-04422-000-00 IDEA Preschool (619) 0 00 0.00 985.00 -985.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 985.00 -985.00 0.00 

01-1-04505-000-00 Title I Part A 0.00 0.00 51,278.00 -51,278.00 0 00 

0 00 0.00 51,278.00 -51,278.00 0.00 

,,· 

01-1-04509-000-00 Title II Part A 0.00 0.00 625.00 -625.00 0.00 

0 00 0.00 625.00 -625.00 0.00 

01-1-04510-000-00 Title IV 0.00 125.00 1,750.00 -1,750.00 0 00 

0.00 125.00 1,750.00 -1,750.00 0.00 

01-1-04516-000-00 IDEA Base Allocation 0.00 0.00 1,583.00 -1,583.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 1,583.00 -1,583.00 0.00 

01-1-04518-000-00 IDEA Part B 611 0.00 0.00 58,165.00 -58, 165.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 58,165.00 -58, 165.00 0.00 

Overton Public Schools 06/01/2023 07:44:31 AM Page 1 



Receipt Summary by Program May 2023 
Account Description Total Budget Current Month Receipts Balance (Pub) Percentage (%) 

(Pub) Receipts 

01-1-04525-000-00 Perkins Grant 0.00 0.00 1,546.60 -1,546.60 0.00 

0.00 0.00 1,546.60 -1,546.60 0.00 

01-1-04527-000-00 Tille Ill Part A 0.00 0.00 250.00 -250.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 250.00 -250.00 0.00 

01-1-04708-000-00 Medicaid in Public 0.00 0.00 165.18 -165.18 0.00 

0.00 0.00 165.18 -165.18 0.00 

01-1-04709-000-00 Medicaid Admin. Claim 0.00 1,170.15 2,367.70 -2,367.70 0.00 

0.00 1,170.15 2,367.70 -2,367.70 0.00 

01-1-05690-000-00 Other Non-Revenue 0.00 297.00 2,854.64 -2,854.64 0.00 

0.00 297.00 2,854.64 -2,854.64 0.00 

01-1-06990-000-00 Other Federal 0.00 0.00 3,130.20 -3,130.20 0.00 

0.00 0.00 3,130.20 -3,130.20 0.00 

01-1-09000-000-02 Clearing Other Non-Rev 0.00 6,792.94 48,178.48 -48, 178.48 0.00 

0.00 6,792.94 48.178.48 -48, 178.48 0.00 

02-1-01510-000-01 Local Receipts/ Interest 0.00 0.00 557.08 -557.08 0.00 

02-1-01510-000-02 Local Receipts CD/ 0.00 0.00 4,157.19 -4,157.19 0.00 

0.00 0.00 4,714.27 -4,714.27 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-00 Local Revenue-Athletics 0.00 0.00 980.38 -980.38 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-01 Local Revenue-Ath-FB 0.00 0.00 5,056.00 -5,056.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-02 Local Revenue-Ath-VB 0.00 0.00 11,271.11 -11,271.11 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-03 Local Revenue-Ath-BBB 0.00 0.00 6,954.50 -6,954.50 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-04 Local Revenue-Ath-GBB 0.00 0.00 7,006.55 -7,006.55 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-08 Local Revenue-Ath-WR 0.00 0.00 349.20 -349.20 0.00 

.()5-1-01741-000-11 Local Revenue-Ath-JH 0.00 0.00 490.00 -490.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-12 Local Revenue-Ath-JH 0.00 0.00 490.00 -490.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-13 Local Revenue-Ath-J H 0.00 0.00 621.50 -621.50 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-41 Local Revenue-7th Gr 0.00 0.00 7,068.71 -7,068.71 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-47 Local 0.00 0.00 5,336.84 -5,336.84 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-48 Local Revenue-BBB 0.00 0.00 1,312.55 -1,312.55 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-49 Local Revenue-Cheer 0.00 0.00 5,295.83 -5,295.83 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-50 Local Revenue-Dance 0.00 0.00 2,102.55 -2,102.55 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-51 Local 0 00 0.00 2,495.28 - 2,495.28 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-52 Local Revenue-FB Club 0.00 0.00 278.00 -278.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-54 Local Revenue-Pee 0.00 0.00 945.00 -945.00 0.00 

.05-1-01741-000-55 LocalRevenue-FFA 0.00 0.00 7,690.67 -7,690.67 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-57 Local Revenue-FCCLA 0.00 0.00 10,648.00 -10,648.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-58 Local Revenue-GBB 0.00 0.00 242.55 -242.55 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-60 Local Revenue-Music 0.00 0.00 390.00 -390.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-62 Local Revenue-Shop 0 00 0.00 42.95 -42.95 0.00 

05-1-017 41-000-63 Local Revenue-Staff 0.00 0.00 286.70 -286.70 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-64 Local Revenue-Student 0.00 0.00 921.25 -921.25 0.00 

05-1-017 41-000-65 Local Revenue-VB Club 0.00 0.00 1,264.28 -1,264.28 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-66 Local Revenue-WR 0.00 0.00 1,838.55 -1,838.55 0.00 

05-1-017 41-000-67 Local Revenue-TR Club 0.00 0.00 138.00 -138.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-68 Local Revenue-Cross 0.00 0.00 82.00 -82.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-69 Local 0.00 0.00 12,018.37 -12,018.37 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-86 Local 0.00 0.00 50,733.35 -50,733.35 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-91 Local Revenue-iPads 0.00 0.00 3,155.00 -3, 155.00 0.00 

05-1-01741-000-93 Local Revenue-FCA 0.00 0.00 575.00 -575.00 0.00 

0.00 0.00 148,080.67 -148,080.67 0.00 

06-1-01611-000 Meal Sales 0.00 0.00 38,218.90 -38,218.90 0.00 

Overton Public Schools 06/01/2023 07:44:31 AM Page 2 



Receipt Summary by Program May 2023
Account Description Total Budget Current Month Receipts Balance (Pub) Percentage (%) 

{Pub) Receipts 

0.00 0.00 38,218.90 -38,218.90 0.00 

06-1-01990-000 Other Local Misc 0.00 0.00 8,617.37 -8,617.37 0.00 

0.00 0.00 8,617.37 -8,617.37 0.00 

06-1-04210-000 Federal Payments 0.00 0.00 69,217.77 -69,217.77 0.00 

0.00 0.00 69,217.77 -69,217.77 0.00 

08-1-01510-000-02 Special Bldg Saving 0.00 0.00 64.13 -64.13 0.00 
08-1-01510-000-03 Special Bldg CD 0.00 0.00 1,043.71 -1,043.71 0.00 

0.00 0.00 1,107.84 -1,107.84 0.00 

0.00 1,048,768.05 4,656,172.14 -4,656, 172.14 0.00 

Overton Public Schools 06/01/2023 07:44:31 AM Page 3 



Overton Public School
Date: 5/25/2023 2023-2024

Model

Order of districts according to Formula Students II. Order of districts according to AGOE
District Formula Students AGOE Rank District Formula Students AGOE Cost Per Student

Diller-Odell Public Schools 222.94 4,358,745.00$    1 Windside Public Schools 228.95 3,556,472.00$      15,533.84$           
Deshler Public Schools 226.33 4,022,989.00$    2 Red Cloud Community Schools 233.58 3,579,993.00$      15,326.62$           
Windside Public Schools 228.95 3,556,472.00$    3 Leigh Public Schools 230.40 3,590,698.00$      15,584.63$           
Friend Public Schools 229.00 4,093,885.00$    4 Loomis Public School 260.91 3,705,951.00$      14,203.94$           
Leigh Public Schools 230.40 3,590,698.00$    5 Emerson-Hubbard Public Schools 247.95 3,779,898.00$      15,244.60$           
Bertrand Public Schools 233.10 3,975,109.00$    6 Maxwell Public Schools 252.46 3,874,817.00$      15,348.24$           
Red Cloud Community Schools 233.58 3,579,993.00$    7 Overton Public Schools 249.34 3,895,294.00$      15,622.42$           
McCool Juntion Public Schools 234.59 3,960,020.00$    8 Bloomfield Community Schools 249.94 3,906,994.00$      15,631.73$           
Shelton Public Schools 243.63 3,965,186.00$    9 Randolph Public Schools 255.98 3,945,853.00$      15,414.69$           
Emerson-Hubbard Public Schools 247.95 3,779,898.00$    10 McCool Juntion Public Schools 234.59 3,960,020.00$      16,880.60$           
Overton Public Schools 249.34 3,895,294.00$   11 Shelton Public Schools 243.63 3,965,186.00$      16,275.44$           
Bloomfield Community Schools 249.94 3,906,994.00$    12 Bertrand Public Schools 233.10 3,975,109.00$      17,053.23$           
Maxwell Public Schools 252.46 3,874,817.00$    13 Cambridge Public Schools 253.10 3,996,645.00$      15,790.77$           
Cambridge Public Schools 253.10 3,996,645.00$    14 Deshler Public Schools 226.33 4,022,989.00$      17,774.88$           
Pawnee City 254.55 4,161,444.00$    15 Friend Public Schools 229.00 4,093,885.00$      17,877.23$           
Randolph Public Schools 255.98 3,945,853.00$    16 Pawnee City 254.55 4,161,444.00$      16,348.24$           
Lyons-Decatur Northeast Schs 256.73 4,469,418.00$    17 Walthill Public Schools 261.18 4,255,638.00$      16,293.89$           
Franklin Public Schools 257.97 4,587,495.00$    18 Diller-Odell Public Schools 222.94 4,358,745.00$      19,551.20$           
Loomis Public School 260.91 3,705,951.00$    19 Lyons-Decatur Northeast Schs 256.73 4,469,418.00$      17,409.02$           
Walthill Public Schools 261.18 4,255,638.00$    20 Franklin Public Schools 257.97 4,587,495.00$      17,783.06$           
Humboldt Table Rock Steinauer 261.20 6,152,160.00$    21 Humboldt Table Rock Steinauer 261.20 6,152,160.00$      23,553.45$           
Average 244.94 4,087,366.86$    Average 244.94 4,087,366.86$      16,690.56$           

Order of districts Formula Students with the high and low AGOE removed IV. Order of districts Cost Per Student
District Formula Students AGOE Cost Per Student Rank District Formula Students AGOE Cost Per Student

Red Cloud Community Schools 233.58 3,579,993.00$    15,326.62$            1 Loomis Public School 260.91 3,705,951.00$      14,203.94$           
Leigh Public Schools 230.40 3,590,698.00$    15,584.63$            2 Emerson-Hubbard Public Schools 247.95 3,779,898.00$      15,244.60$           
Loomis Public School 260.91 3,705,951.00$    14,203.94$            3 Red Cloud Community Schools 233.58 3,579,993.00$      15,326.62$           
Emerson-Hubbard Public Schools 247.95 3,779,898.00$    15,244.60$            4 Maxwell Public Schools 252.46 3,874,817.00$      15,348.24$           
Maxwell Public Schools 252.46 3,874,817.00$    15,348.24$            5 Randolph Public Schools 255.98 3,945,853.00$      15,414.69$           
Overton Public Schools 249.34 3,895,294.00$   15,622.42$            6 Windside Public Schools 228.95 3,556,472.00$      15,533.84$           
Bloomfield Community Schools 249.94 3,906,994.00$    15,631.73$            7 Leigh Public Schools 230.40 3,590,698.00$      15,584.63$           
Randolph Public Schools 255.98 3,945,853.00$    15,414.69$            8 Overton Public Schools 249.34 3,895,294.00$      15,622.42$           
McCool Juntion Public Schools 234.59 3,960,020.00$    16,880.60$            9 Bloomfield Community Schools 249.94 3,906,994.00$      15,631.73$           
Shelton Public Schools 243.63 3,965,186.00$    16,275.44$            10 Cambridge Public Schools 253.10 3,996,645.00$      15,790.77$           
Bertrand Public Schools 233.10 3,975,109.00$    17,053.23$            11 Shelton Public Schools 243.63 3,965,186.00$      16,275.44$           
Cambridge Public Schools 253.10 3,996,645.00$    15,790.77$            12 Walthill Public Schools 261.18 4,255,638.00$      16,293.89$           
Deshler Public Schools 226.33 4,022,989.00$    17,774.88$            13 Pawnee City 254.55 4,161,444.00$      16,348.24$           
Friend Public Schools 229.00 4,093,885.00$    17,877.23$            14 McCool Juntion Public Schools 234.59 3,960,020.00$      16,880.60$           
Pawnee City 254.55 4,161,444.00$    16,348.24$            15 Bertrand Public Schools 233.10 3,975,109.00$      17,053.23$           
Walthill Public Schools 261.18 4,255,638.00$    16,293.89$            16 Lyons-Decatur Northeast Schs 256.73 4,469,418.00$      17,409.02$           
Diller-Odell Public Schools 222.94 4,358,745.00$    19,551.20$            17 Deshler Public Schools 226.33 4,022,989.00$      17,774.88$           
Lyons-Decatur Northeast Schs 256.73 4,469,418.00$    17,409.02$            18 Franklin Public Schools 257.97 4,587,495.00$      17,783.06$           
Franklin Public Schools 257.97 4,587,495.00$    17,783.06$            19 Friend Public Schools 229.00 4,093,885.00$      17,877.23$           
Average 244.93 4,006,635.37$    16,390.23$            20 Diller-Odell Public Schools 222.94 4,358,745.00$      19,551.20$           

21 Humboldt Table Rock Steinauer 261.20 6,152,160.00$      23,553.45$           
Average 244.94 4,087,366.86$      16,690.56$           
Overton From Average 4.40 (192,072.86)$        (1,068.14)$            



5/25/2023 Overton Public School Comments

2023-2024 State Aid Model Calculated by System *Net Option Funding 405,132.00$                       State Aid Difference 94,545.00$          

Model *Allocated Income Tax Refund 22,119.00$                         Net Option Funding 33,253.00$          

*Prior Year Correction -$                                    Alloc. Income Tax (3,186.00)$           

Total State Aid = 801,260.00$                       

Name 2023-2024 Needs Yield from Local Effort Net Option Funding Income Tax Rebate Other Receipts Foundation Aid Total Resources Equalization Aid Non-Min. Levy Total State Aid
Overton Public School 4,586,602.00$                            3,495,723.00$                         405,132.00$                    22,119.00$                       404,681.00$            374,009.00$                            4,701,664.00$                    -$                       -$                           801,260.00$        
Comparison -$                                            92,431.00$                              33,253.00$                      (3,186.00)$                       (71,914.00)$             374,009.00$                            424,593.00$                       (309,531.00)$         -$                           94,545.00$          



NEBRASKA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

A2 SCHOOL FINANCE & ORGANIZATION SERVICES 

2023/24 State Aid Formula Needs, Allowances, and Adjustments on May 25, 2023 

s,...., 
Count)I - Elemeo"'Y - '""' Corrmuclt, Noll Sy,tem Studefll Ne·.v Poverty LEP Sludtnt 
°"""' Oizlrd '"""' - - T,.,_.,..,, "-'Y LEP OETA Sile School School - Quailed - ·� Gm,,.ih School c...- ear-. 

Numbtr �ame Nee<l, S!.JbilfZSllon """""""' -""" Alowonco IJbw,noe Albwance ........ - - - LEP FU'dng -·-" �nl .......... """"""" Ad ....... Cotreaion 

1�536-000 WAUNETA-PALISADE PUBLIC SCH$ 4,326,073 37,446 94,5&4 397,216 5,024 3,893,136 (101,313) 
i&-0006-000 VALENTINE COMMUNITY SCHXX.S S,-i15,S40 588,092 94,020 49,297 18-4,055 7,500.0,6 

18-0030,000 COOY-1(11.GOAE PUBUC SCHS l676,008 119.S1t 107,132 132.817 8,768 3.299,0<1 10,734 

17-0001� SIDNEY PUBLIC SCHOOLS 14,120,826 2%,382 UJ,830 377,154 42,948 20,71!3 13,260,733 

i 7.ooo3-000 LEYTON PUBUC SCHOOtS 3,317,53,I 58,932 111,498 12V93 S0,111 32,494 2,942,708 

17-0009-000 POTTEII-OIX PUBLIC SCHOOLS 3,624,060 129,794 146,0CIO 56,250 16.274 3,311,661 (34,919) 
IWXl2-000 SUTTON PUBLIC �OOlS 6,766,768 302,335 117,0&5 49,810 73,622 9,648 ti.214,288 0 
18-0011.(1(1() HARVARD PUBUC SCHOOtS 4,360,7.«) 3'9 ,293 468,149 7�7"' 7,905 68213 l.435,139 (47,6W) 
1�39-000 LEIGH CO._iMUNITY SCHOOLS 4,167,592 61,589 183,988 16,884 3,905,031 

ill<llM-000 CtAAKSON PUBLIC SCHOOt.S 4,141,t56 27081 135,888 7,488 3,723,499 

19-0070-000 HOWELLS-OOOGE CONSOLIDATED S< 5,033,1182 223,093 24�618 •.871 366 4�10,975 (3,941) 
19-0123-000 SCHUYLER COMMUNITY SC/iOOLS 21,676,222 963,94S 63,730 941,849 638,176 52,480 19,366 18,996,676 

!0-0001-000 WEST P0&NT PUBl.lC SCHOQ.S 10,511,700 244,886 548,241 131,881 41�148 219,
8
44 1,541 8,957,138 0 ' 

!0,0020-000 BANCROFT-ROSALIE COMM SCHOOJ 5,IM◄,051 258,901 119,273 39,075 10,844 4,905 .t,613,057 

!0-0030-000 WISNER-PILGER PU8UC SCliOOlS �666,208 319,889 146,823 11,068 8,188,428 

ll.0015-000 ANSEUJO>IERNA PUBLIC SCHOOLS 4,507.224 201.905 14U92 201,250 76,502 14,316 3.358,259 

l1-0025-000 BROKEN BOW PUBllC SCH COLS 10,709,384 491,799 172.668 161,500 61,352 1!il) 9,821,895 

21,0044-000 ANSLEY PUBLIC SCHOOLS �115�14 134,o21 127,500 121.275 3,33Z512 

Z,-0084-000 SARGENTPtJeLICSCHOOLS �51!3.205 86.� 173
1
413 z125 2,975 9,279 3,309,381 

!1-0lla9-000 ARNOLD PUBLIC SCHOOLS M1�790 112,16& 192,298 40.SOO 19,550 0' 3,251,ile 

!1-0180-000 CALLAWAY PUBLIC SCttOOIS t717,6S4 228,888 167,623 47,600 19,550 3.337,709 (1,816) 
!2-0011-000 SO SIOUX CITY COMMUNITY SCHS 47,697,092 3,332,581 317,488 4,094,393 2,813,999 50,705 3613,110 389,216 35,&47,"1-0 503,180 0-
22-0031-000 HO�tER COIJ.MUNITY SCl<OOLS �919,347 0 319,157 123,775 171,788 16,575 4,237 0 3Zi0l 6,250,022 

!3-0002-000 CHADRON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 12,187,192 547.&SO 144,496 311�78 17,000 18,508 (17,000) 11,136,493 (31.aJJI 
l3-007H)OO CRAWFORD PUBllC SCHOO.S 3,642,7-48 45,078 34,434 97,!31 0 36,719 3,328,988 1) 

!4-0001-000 LEXINGTON PUBI.IC SCIIOO.S 381!37,885 1,887,623 238,505 2,84$,229 �354.091 0 541,108 29,868,611 JIM,107 
l4-ooo4-000 OVERTON PUBLIC SCHOOLS 4,586,602 221,559 11!3,968 96,000 78,382 2.001 1,583 4.004,109 

lA-0011-000 COZAD COMMLWY SCHOOLS 1Z638.287 627�59 95,960 391,000 115,000 22,186 3,680 11,308,716 6,236 
!4-002o«lll GOTHENBURG PUBLIC SCtOOLS 11,303.231 512,404 105,390 2°',441 0 11,909 10,469,087 

l4-0101-000 SUMNER•EDDYVllLE-MILLER SCH$ 4,213,151 191,619 152,693 10,200 30,262 24,,471 3.803,918 

!S-0025-000 CREEK VALLEY SCHOOtS �691,365 286.209 65,70< 31,412 3)21,980 

!�5-000 SOUTH PLATTE PUBLIC SCHOOLS 4,1,0,116() 172 123! 95,906 9,53' 3,852,185 

!6-0001.00I) PONCA PUBLIC SCHOOLS 6,915,697 315�13 148.213 27,665 32.303 6,873 6,385,630 

16-0070-000 ALLEN CONSOllDATEO SCHOOLS 3,A59,055 195,324 1�,BOI 42,658 2,088 3,064,384 

�61-000 EM ERSON-HUBBARD PUB LC SCHOO 4,519,917 'Z/6,027 153,710 92,574 36,811 9,7M 161 3,951.790 

!1-0001-000 FRHlOIIT PUBlJC SCltOOlS 58,754,373 3.075,742 274,073 J.81U62 1,915.628 36,548 30,447 48,ffl,879 1,115.299 
!7-0062-000 SCRl81£R.SNYOER COMMJNITY SCk 3,598,497 136,224 61,111 35,700 a1e 0 l362,548 

l7-0594-000 LOGAN VIEW PUBLIC SCHOOLS 8,570,760 (3,689) 503.26') 175,748 45,375 22,063 6,989 7,&21,014 

!7-0595-000 NORTH BEND CENTRAL PUl.fC � 8,07'.614 121.123 359,937 176.406 1,()43 7,416,105 

Note: Due lo missing Federal Poverty data for the 2022/23 school year, model was calculated using 2021/22 numbers. 

S:\Slale Aid Certification 2023-24\0riglnal Statue\Oocs\LB5831A2 Cc Page2of7 05/25/2023 



Overton Public School
2023-2024 Budget Information
Valuation and Levy Estimates

General Fund 2022-2023 Tax Request 2023 Valation 2022-2023 Levy Tax Request Increase 8.00%
3,423,232.00$                       349,304,096.00$                         0.980015 25,000.00$                    7.00%

6.00%
2023 Valuation

General Fund 349,304,096.00$                         

General Fund 2023-2024 Tax Request 2024 Estimated Valuation 2023-2024 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase
Option 1 3,389,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9073305 8.00% 1.00% 33,890.00$           (342.00)$                              
Option 2 3,414,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9140237 8.00% 1.00% 34,140.00$           24,908.00$                           
Option 3 3,439,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9207169 8.00% 1.00% 34,390.00$           50,158.00$                           
Option 4 3,464,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9274101 8.00% 1.00% 34,640.00$           75,408.00$                           
Option 5 3,489,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9341033 8.00% 1.00% 34,890.00$           100,658.00$                         
Option 6 3,514,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9407965 8.00% 1.00% 35,140.00$           125,908.00$                         
Option 7 3,539,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9474897 8.00% 1.00% 35,390.00$           151,158.00$                         
Option 8 3,564,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9541829 8.00% 1.00% 35,640.00$           176,408.00$                         
Option 9 3,589,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9608761 8.00% 1.00% 35,890.00$           201,658.00$                         
Option 10 3,614,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9675693 8.00% 1.00% 36,140.00$           226,908.00$                         
Option 11 3,639,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9742625 8.00% 1.00% 36,390.00$           252,158.00$                         
Option 12 3,664,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9809557 8.00% 1.00% 36,640.00$           277,408.00$                         
Option 13 3,689,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9876489 8.00% 1.00% 36,890.00$           302,658.00$                         
Option 14 3,714,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         0.9943421 8.00% 1.00% 37,140.00$           327,908.00$                         
Option 15 3,739,000.00$                       377,248,423.68$                         1.0010353 8.00% 1.00% 37,390.00$           353,158.00$                         

7.00%
6.00%

2023 Valuation
General Fund 349,304,096.00$                         

General Fund 2023-2024 Tax Request 2024 Estimated Valuation 2023-2024 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase
Option 1 3,389,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.915810 7.00% 1.00% 33,890.00$           (342.00)$                              
Option 2 3,414,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.922566 7.00% 1.00% 34,140.00$           24,908.00$                           
Option 3 3,439,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.929322 7.00% 1.00% 34,390.00$           50,158.00$                           
Option 4 3,464,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.936077 7.00% 1.00% 34,640.00$           75,408.00$                           
Option 5 3,489,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.942833 7.00% 1.00% 34,890.00$           100,658.00$                         
Option 6 3,514,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.949589 7.00% 1.00% 35,140.00$           125,908.00$                         
Option 7 3,539,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.956345 7.00% 1.00% 35,390.00$           151,158.00$                         
Option 8 3,564,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.963101 7.00% 1.00% 35,640.00$           176,408.00$                         
Option 9 3,589,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.969856 7.00% 1.00% 35,890.00$           201,658.00$                         
Option 10 3,614,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.976612 7.00% 1.00% 36,140.00$           226,908.00$                         
Option 11 3,639,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.983368 7.00% 1.00% 36,390.00$           252,158.00$                         
Option 12 3,664,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.990124 7.00% 1.00% 36,640.00$           277,408.00$                         
Option 13 3,689,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         0.996879 7.00% 1.00% 36,890.00$           302,658.00$                         
Option 14 3,714,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         1.003635 7.00% 1.00% 37,140.00$           327,908.00$                         
Option 15 3,739,000.00$                       373,755,382.72$                         1.010391 7.00% 1.00% 37,390.00$           353,158.00$                         

6.00%

2023 Valuation
General Fund 349,304,096.00$                         

General Fund 2023-2024 Tax Request 2024 Estimated Valuation 2023-2024 Levy Valuation % Change Commission 1.0% Commission Dollar Request Increase
Option 1 3,389,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.924450 6.00% 1.00% 33,890.00$           (342.00)$                              
Option 2 3,414,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.931269 6.00% 1.00% 34,140.00$           24,908.00$                           
Option 3 3,439,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.938089 6.00% 1.00% 34,390.00$           50,158.00$                           
Option 4 3,464,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.944908 6.00% 1.00% 34,640.00$           75,408.00$                           
Option 5 3,489,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.951728 6.00% 1.00% 34,890.00$           100,658.00$                         
Option 6 3,514,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.958547 6.00% 1.00% 35,140.00$           125,908.00$                         
Option 7 3,539,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.965367 6.00% 1.00% 35,390.00$           151,158.00$                         
Option 8 3,564,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.972186 6.00% 1.00% 35,640.00$           176,408.00$                         
Option 9 3,589,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.979006 6.00% 1.00% 35,890.00$           201,658.00$                         
Option 10 3,614,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.985825 6.00% 1.00% 36,140.00$           226,908.00$                         
Option 11 3,639,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.992645 6.00% 1.00% 36,390.00$           252,158.00$                         
Option 12 3,664,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         0.999464 6.00% 1.00% 36,640.00$           277,408.00$                         
Option 13 3,689,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         1.006284 6.00% 1.00% 36,890.00$           302,658.00$                         
Option 14 3,714,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         1.013103 6.00% 1.00% 37,140.00$           327,908.00$                         
Option 15 3,739,000.00$                       370,262,341.76$                         1.019923 6.00% 1.00% 37,390.00$           353,158.00$                         






	Monthly Agenda
	Monthly Agenda Comments
	Board Meeting Notice
	Minutes Form Pages 1-3
	May 2023 Minutes
	Bill Roster
	Minutes Form Matters Pending
	Combined Files
	3001 Budget and Propety Tax Requests
	3003.1 Bidding for Constructon, Remodeling, Repair, or Related Projects Financed with Federal Funds
	3004.1 Fiscal Management for Purchasing and Precurement Using Federal Funds
	3033 Lending Textbooks to Children Enrolled in Private Schools
	3036 Purchasing (Credit) Card Program
	3059 Audio and Video Recording
	4003 Drug Policy Regarding Drivers
	4059 Behavioral and Mental Health Training
	5003 Admission of Part-Time Students
	5004 Option Enrollment
	5035 Student Discipline
	5045 Student Fees
	5052 School Wellness Policy
	5062 Lice and Nits
	5064 Supplement, Not Supplant
	6003 Instructional Programs
	6004 Curriculum Development
	6025 Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices
	6038 Artificial Intelligence
	Milk Expression

	Extra-Duty Sponsors
	Bill Roster and Payroll Comparison Report
	Current Month Fund Security Summary
	Board Financial 3 Year Comparison
	Board Financial Report - 2 Year Comparison
	Certificates of Deposit
	Clearing Account Checks
	Activity Account Summary
	Activity Financial Report
	Food Program Checks
	Food Program Summary
	Food Program Report
	Receipt Summary by Program
	2023-2024 AGFOE School Comparison
	2023-2024 State Aid Model
	2023-2024 State Aid Formula Needs
	NASB Calendar of Events
	Combined Policies 6018 6037.pdf
	6018 Grades
	6020 Multicultural Education
	6025 Student Cell Phone and Other Electronic Devices
	6026 Emergency Dismissal
	6027 Field Trips
	6028 The Extracurricular Activities Program
	6029 Activity Trips
	6030 Public Appearances of School Groups
	6031 Emergency Exclusion
	6032 Constitution Day Education
	6033 Restraint and Seclusion
	6034 Concussion Awareness
	6035 Athletic Contest Participation by Sixth Graders
	6036 Reading Instruction and Intervention Servcies
	6037 Selection and Review of Library Materials


